

Year: 2024 Volume: 5 Issue: 2 e-ISSN 2757-6620 agriprojournal.com

2024 • VOLUME 5 • ISSUE 2

Editor-in-Chief Adem Yavuz SÖNMEZ

Associate Editors Gökhan ARSLAN Ali Eslem KADAK Fırat SEFAOĞLU

Statistics Editor Aycan Mutlu YAĞANOĞLU

Technical Editors Yiğit TAŞTAN Büşra TAŞTAN

Language Editor Albaris TAHILUDDIN

Editorial Board

Anca Nicoleta SUTAN Atilla DURSUN Aygül KÜÇÜKGÜLMEZ YANDIM Barış BAYRAKLI Daria BULYSHEVA Dilfuza EGAMBERDIEVA Elif YAĞANOĞLU Fatih DADASOĞLU Gouranga BISWAS Hasan Hüseyin ATAR Hirofumi SANEOKA Lütfi PIRLAK Marian BRESTIC Marina SAZYKINA Mirza DAUTBAŠIĆ Muhammad Naeem KHAN Mustafa SÜRMEN Mykhailo BROSHKOV Nesimi AKTAŞ Pavla LAKDAWALA Rafet ASLANTAŞ Renato S. PACALDO Seyit AYDIN Sezai ERCİŞLİ Taşkın ÖZTAŞ Telat YANIK Vedat DAĞDEMİR

Kastamonu University, TÜRKİYE

Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Kastamonu University, TÜRKİYE Kastamonu University, TÜRKİYE

Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE

Kastamonu University, TÜRKİYE Prensip Publishing, TÜRKİYE

Mindanao State University, PHILIPPINES

University of Pitesti, ROMANIA Kyrgyz-Turkish Manas University, KYRGYZSTAN Çukurova University, TÜRKİYE Sinop University, TÜRKİYE Odesa State Agrarian University, UKRAINE Leibinz Centre for Agricultural Landscape Research, GERMANY Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Kakdwip Research Centre of Central Institute, INDIA Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Hiroshima University, JAPAN Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Slovak University, SLOVAKIA Southern Federal University, RUSSIA Saray Bosna University, BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA Punjab University, PAKISTAN Aydın Adnan Menderes University, TÜRKİYE Odesa State Agrarian University, UKRAINE Nevşehir University, TÜRKİYE University of Veterinary Sciences Brno, CZECH REPUBLIC Eskişehir Osmangazi University, TÜRKİYE Mindanao State University, PHILIPPINES Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, TÜRKİYE Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE

agriprojournal.com prensip.gen.tr agriprojournal@gmail.com info@prensip.gen.tr

Journal of Agricultural Production is a peer-reviewed scientific journal published by Gökhan ARSLAN twice a year. Use of any material hereunder requires a citation to Journal of Agricultural Production. (Publisher support: Prensip Publishing)



2024 • VOLUME 5 • ISSUE 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

RESEARCH ARTICLES	Pages
Effects of COVID-19 Pandemic Period on Sheep Breeding	
Hilal Tozlu Çelik, Hacer Tüfekci	73-80
Determination and Pathogenicity of Verticillium dahliae Isolates Obtained from	
Tomato Plants (Solanum lycopersicum L.) in the Iğdır Province	
Tuba Genç Kesimci	81-90
Effect of Parity and Pasture Period on Milk Lipid Composition in Awassi Sheep	
Ülkü Dağdelen, Doğan Türkyılmaz, Nurinisa Esenbuğa	91-96
Larval Development of Penguin Tetra (Thayeria boehlkei): Morphological	
Observations	
İhsan Çelik, Pınar Çelik	97-105
Researches on Seafood Consumption Behaviors in Kütahya Province	
Nurcan Şimşek, Gökhan Arslan	106-120
Investigation of Quality Parameters of Trout Fishballs Cooked with Sous-Vide	
Method	
Nesim Maskan, Pınar Oğuzhan Yıldız	121-130
Growth, Yield Components and Tuber Yield Responses of Potato (Solanum	
tuberosum L.) Varieties in High Altitude Regions of Türkiye	
Ünlühan Tufan, Erdoğan Öztürk	131-137





ISSN: 2757-6620

FIPRENSIP

https://prensip.gen.tr

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Effects of COVID-19 Pandemic Period on Sheep Breeding

Hilal Tozlu Çelik¹[™] **□** • Hacer Tüfekci² **□**

¹Ordu University, Ulubey Vocational School, Department of Food Processing, Ordu/Türkiye ²Yozgat Bozok University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Husbandry, Yozgat/Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article History Received: 10.02.2024 Accepted: 15.04.2024 First Published: 22.06.2024

Keywords Pandemic SARS-CoV-2 Sheep Sustainable breeding



ABSTRACT

The COVID-19 outbreak experienced worldwide has affected all production areas as well as livestock breeding. This study was aimed at determining the situation of sheep breeders in Ordu province during the COVID-19 outbreak and offering solution suggestions. In the study, data were collected through face-to-face interviews with 72 enterprises registered with the breeding sheep and goat breeders' association in Ordu province in 2023. In the study, it was determined that the breeders were negatively affected by the increase in feed prices (33.3%) during this period. Breeders' reasons for production (88.9%), land use (97.2%), and flock size (88.9%) were unaffected by the epidemic. It was noted that the weaning age of lambs did not change (97.2%) during the epidemic period. The pasture emergence period was not negatively affected during the epidemic period (94.4%). Breeders generally stated that they were not affected by the epidemic period in the use of roughage (84.7%), concentrate feed (83.3%), or vaccination practices (93.1%). Most of the breeders (94.4%) reported that their expectations from animal husbandry did not change after the pandemic period. After the pandemic, it was found that shepherds, fodder support, pasture improvement and health insurance support were more expected (94.4%). Breeders had problems finding a shepherd. In addition, health problems and quarantine practices affected the use of the labor force. Consequently, in order to ensure sustainable sheep production, the expectations and problems of local breeders should be taken into consideration and deficiencies should be eliminated.

Please cite this paper as follows:

Tozlu Çelik, H., & Tüfekci, H. (2024). Effects of COVID-19 pandemic period on sheep breeding. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 5(2), 73-80. https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1434940

1. Introduction

Economic, social, and biological factors experienced worldwide affect the lives of living things. Climate change and epidemics are seen as a significant threat to the sustainability of many species, ecosystems, and livestock production systems around the world (Tüfekci & Tozlu Çelik, 2021). The COVID-19 outbreak of the novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2), which has caused a global pandemic in the world, has negatively affected human health since December 2019. It showed its effects as a socio-economic crisis on 11 March 2020. The quarantine and health problems implemented during this period caused all sectors to be negatively affected. Restriction of animal movements, shortage of shepherds, disruption of breeding activities, and veterinary practices led to a decrease in animal production. Animal welfare was also negatively affected during this period (Guan et al., 2020; Hashem et al., 2020; Vidaurreta et al., 2020). As in many other sectors worldwide, global livestock supply chains experienced a significant disruption due to the emergence of COVID-19 in early 2020 (Hashem et al., 2020; Vidaurreta et al., 2020; Almadani et al., 2022). The COVID-19 pandemic has affected many sectors such as the agricultural, feed, and food industries. Among the main impacts experienced by the agricultural sector, disruptions and delays in breeding activities in both animal and plant production due to the quarantine and restrictions imposed have caused producers to remain below their optimum production levels and thus reduced the income obtained. In

E-mail address: hilalcelik@odu.edu.tr

addition, difficulties in the marketing of agricultural products, the decline in people's purchasing power, and the reduced ability of households to access affordable food have also affected the economic resilience of farmers and breeders (Faturokhman et al., 2022). Within livestock breeding, especially cattle, sheep, and goat breeding, marketing problems were undergone during the COVID-19 outbreak, which led to decrease in farmers' incomes. Although there was a decrease in purchasing power, data showed that the demand for processed livestock products during the pandemic period increased 3-4 times compared to the pre-pandemic period. This is due to a shift in consumer preferences for products with health and food safety quality standards, which points to a great opportunity for increased sales of products for beef cattle, sheep, and goats (Faturokhman et al., 2022). Food supply is a linear system in which one stage is fed by the other. It also includes many interconnected organizations, individuals, and businesses that make up this system and shape its functioning. The vulnerability of food supply and the need for transformative change are influenced by numerous shocks and stressors affecting food supply chains, such as climate change and the recent COVID-19 pandemic (Thornton et al., 2014; Garnett et al., 2020; Payne-Gifford et al., 2022; Bozma et al., 2023). Limited access to veterinary services and treatments has restricted the monitoring of animal health, resulting in a negative impact on animal welfare. This has posed risks for the spread of infectious animal diseases, human health, and food safety (Hashem et al., 2020; Mtimet et al., 2021). Problems with the supply chain have led to an increase in meat prices (Almadani et al., 2022). A study conducted in Australia reported that animal welfare is a shared responsibility during the COVID-19 pandemic and that a multi-sectoral approach to animal welfare during the crisis is therefore required (Baptista et al., 2021). It has become imperative to develop effective methods and technologies to protect animal health, human health, and food safety (Haque et al., 2021). To protect animal welfare during crises, nations should consider: national risk assessment, open communication channels, emergency plans for animal welfare, crisis response groups, and support systems for animal care providers. It is important to inform other countries to ensure that animal welfare is not jeopardized during unforeseen events (Baptista et al., 2021). The effects of global warming and the COVID-19 pandemic are dual challenges affecting high-quality livestock development (Hao et al., 2023). Challenges such as labor shortages have also emerged (Meuwissen et al., 2021).

Sheep and goat breeding is an effective animal husbandry activity that provides income in areas where active agricultural production cannot be carried out and prevents migration to cities. Pasture areas, natural vegetation, geographical characteristics, and the cultural and socio-economic structure of Türkiye are very suitable for sheep breeding. Both in the world and in Türkiye, small ruminant livestock is the most important form of utilization of land where crop production cannot be carried out (Akçapınar, 2000). The Black Sea Region has a suitable structure for sheep breeding due to its mountainous, hilly land structure, climate, and socio-economic structure. The lack of sufficient land in the region, especially the presence of stony, sloping, and hilly lands, allows sheep and goat breeding as alternative animal husbandry. Sheep breeding is a part of the Black Sea ecology. It is an important animal husbandry activity for the region and Ordu province in terms of providing income during every period of the year (Tozlu Celik, 2016). The rugged and inadequate land in the region severely limits the opportunities for the people living here to engage in different agricultural activities. For this reason, sheep breeding constitutes an important source of income for the people of this region in terms of having the potential to provide income continuously throughout the year and utilizing inefficient lands (Tozlu Çelik, 2016; Alkan & Türkmen, 2021). In this study, it was aimed at determining the effect of the COVID-19 outbreak on sheep breeders in Ordu province and making recommendations.

2. Materials and Methods

The Ordu province is the third-largest city in the Eastern Black Sea Region of the Black Sea Region. The provincial territory lies between 40°18' and 41°08' north latitudes and 36°52' and 38°12' east longitudes. The surface area of the province is 5.952 km². It has a topographically rugged and mountainous region, is dominated by the Black Sea climate. Hazelnut orchards dominate the province from the coastline up to an altitude of 1000 meters, and there are also various field lands and forests. There are pastures and plateaus in areas above 1000 meters. It is reported that the pasture potential of Aybastı, Gölköy, Kabadüz, Korgan, Kumru, and Mesudiye districts is suitable for the development of cattle and sheep breeding (T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı, 2014).

Permission to conduct the study was obtained with the decision of the Ordu University Social Sciences and Humanities Research Ethics Committee dated March 2, 2023, and numbered 2023-36. For this study, data were collected by a face-to-face survey method in 2023 with 72 enterprises out of 1729 enterprises that are members of the Ordu Province Breeding Sheep and Goat Breeding Association (T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı, 2023). In similar survey studies, it was reported that at least 3% (Yamane, 2010) or 10% (Sümbüloğlu & Sümbüloğlu, 2000) of the population would be sufficient to determine the sample size. In this study, data were collected from sheep breeders by face-to-face survey study survey using simple random sampling method. The evaluation of the obtained data was analyzed with the SPSS (26.0 Version) statistical program for analyze, descriptive statistics, and frequencies (SPSS, 2016). The results of the data collected within the research framework are presented as percentages and frequencies.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Socio-Economic Status of Breeders

The livestock sector in Türkiye is one of the sectors most affected by global climate change due to the predominance of rural economic structures and developing livestock-based industries. Health and welfare in animal production are integral parts of environmental sustainability (Tüfekci & Tozlu Çelik, 2021). Since sheep production in Türkiye is predominantly small-scale and pasture-based, the animal products obtained constitute the main food source for agricultural enterprises, and accordingly, the income from sheep production is generally at low levels (Şen et al., 2023).

The data on the socio-economic status of sheep breeders in the study are given in Table 1. According to the findings obtained, it was determined that 48.6% of the sheep breeders lived in the village, 44.4% in the district, and 7% in the province, and the majority of the sheep breeders were males (94.4%), and most of the respondents were in the middle age group of 41-60 years old (54.2%). The number of breeders with 1-4 households was 63.9%, and nuclear family structures constituted the majority. The level of education of the breeders with at least a primary school education was found to be 97.2%. Those who make a living only by farming are 80.5%, and the majority (90.3%) are property owners and nomadic sheep breeding is practiced in Ordu province.

In another study conducted in Ordu province, 59.21% of the 76 farmers surveyed were primary school graduates, 14.47% were secondary school graduates, 22.36% were high school graduates, and 3.95% were undergraduate graduates (Ateş & Çam, 2022). It was reported that the level of education did not make a difference in production, management, or additional

7T I I 1	D (•	•		C	1	1 1
Table L	. Data	on socio-ec	conomic	status	OT.	sheen	breeders
10010 10		011 00010 0			~ -	one-p	01000010

business ventures (p = 0.139). In the same study, the level of education, experience, age, and moonlighting status of the breeders did not affect flock size, the number of lambs obtained per ewe, lamb survival, and enterprise management in sheep enterprises. It was reported that sheep breeders in Ordu province mostly carry out hazelnut production and animal production together, and some breeders participate in production with a small number of animals as a hobby because they cannot break away from their traditions (Ateş & Çam, 2022). It has been reported that there are very few female flock owners among the breeders; the average age of the flock owners is around 49, and the young generations are not very keen on sheep breeding (Ates & Cam, 2022). In the study conducted to determine the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on agricultural food production and farmers in Konya, the average age of agricultural workers was 53.95, and 91.3% of them were male. Of the respondents, 55.3% were primary school graduates; 68.7% had an income above their expenses; 72.0% had a nuclear family; 55.3% were engaged in dry farming; 90% were breeders; and 72.7% worked mainly in the summer months. As a result of the study, it was reported that 88% of those working in the agricultural sector were concerned about harvesting and sales and that these concerns were mostly (35.6%) due to price instability (Uğur & Buruklar, 2022). In our country, factors such as the low level of education and income of ovine breeders in general and breeding by very small family enterprises with production techniques that continue from father to son cause problems in the input supply of enterprises and the marketing of products (Sarıca et al., 2004; Ceyhan et al., 2015a, 2015b; Kandemir et al., 2015). The education, age, and gender findings obtained in the study were found to be similar to those reported in the literature (Ateş & Çam, 2022; Uğur & Buruklar, 2022).

Residence	n	%	Age	n	%
Province	5	7.0	19-40 years	24	33.3
District	32	44.4	41-60 years	39	54.2
Village	35	48.6	Age 61 and over	9	12.5
Gender			Occupation		
Female	4	5.6	Farmer	58	80.5
Male	68	94.4	Public-private sector	14	19.5
Education			Household		
Illiterate	2	2.8	1-4 persons	46	63.9
Primary education and above	70	97.2	5-7 people and above	26	36.1
Cultivation Type			Ownership Status		
Nomad	72	100.0	Owner	65	90.3
			Tenant-partner	7	9.7

3.2. Breed of Sheep and Flock Size

The most common sheep breed in Ordu province is the Karayaka breed. It is important for animal breeders to carry out studies on the pure breeding of the Karayaka breed and increasing its productivity in the province. The Karayaka breed has varieties with different live weights depending on care and feeding. In Ordu province, it has been observed that there are Karayaka sheep reaching 40-45 kg live weight towards the coast and 30 kg live weight in high areas. It is estimated that this situation might be due to care and feeding. Karayaka sheep breed ranks second after Kıvırcık breed in terms of meat quality in Türkiye (Tozlu Çelik, 2016).

Data on sheep breeding practices are given in Table 2. The majority (84.7%) of the breeders stated that they do this work as the only source of livelihood, and 83.3% of them stated that they want to continue animal husbandry in the future. While more than half (51.4%) of the breeders stated that the purpose of production was to produce breeding, 31.9% for butchering, and 16.7% for sacrificial animals, 70.8% stated that they provided additional feeding to animals in certain periods. While 51.4% of the breeders reported that the breeding period of ewes was 6 years or more, 84.7% stated that the breeding period of rams was 1-4 years. In addition, 66.7% of the breeders stated that they used shepherds and had difficulty finding a shepherd.

		A /			0 /
Reason for Keeping Livestock	n	%	How Many Years Have You Been Keeping Livestock?	n	%
Sole source of income	61	84.7	1-20 years	37	51.4
Additional source of income	11	15.3	More than 20 years	35	48.6
Purpose of Production			Future Livestock Production Status		
Butchery	23	31.9	Yes	60	83.3
Sacrifice	12	16.7	No	12	16.7
Breeding	37	51.4			
			Duration of Use of Females in Breeding		
Shepherd Status			1-5 years	35	48.6
Yes	48	66.7	More than 6 years	37	51.4
No	24	33.3			
			Duration of Use of Rams in Breeding		
Supplementary Feeding			1-4 years	61	84.7
Yes	51	70.8	More than 5 years	11	15.3
No	21	29.2			

Table 2. Data on some breeding practices in enterprises-1.

3.3. Breeding Practices

When Table 3 is analyzed, it is seen that 87.5% of the breeders have a herd size of 50–200 heads, and 12.5% have a herd size of 200 heads or more. The weaning age of lambs is mostly 3-6 months (79.2%). It was determined that health controls were generally carried out by public veterinarians (70.8%). It was observed that vaccinations were performed by veterinarians. In 48.6% of the enterprises, it was determined that the breeder could also vaccinate himself and animal losses were higher (63.9%) in the winter months when cold temperatures were experienced. Improvement of pen conditions and care and feeding in winter conditions can prevent, especially the loss of offspring.

Ateş and Çam (2022) reported in their study in Ordu province that 59.27% of the enterprises had less than 100 heads of sheep, and the average number of animals per enterprise was 102 heads. As a result of the study, it was recommended that those with less than 100 sheep per enterprise should be encouraged to increase the number of animals, and the problem of finding a shepherd should be solved in order to reach a more

profitable, innovative, and sustainable situation for sheep farming enterprises in Ordu province.

Sheep breeding in Ordu province is generally carried out in rural areas with small flocks in the family enterprise style. In the breeding studies to be carried out in order to increase sheep yields, it is necessary to determine the current potential of the animals and to decide which breeding programs will be applied. For this reason, the records kept in the enterprises of the breeders are of great importance (Tozlu Çelik, 2016). In addition to the existing subsidies, it is important to promote sheep products and to provide subsidies to producers for the processing and marketing of the products obtained at a good price. In addition to the old animal shelters, the lack of knowledge of shepherds on issues such as herd management and animal diseases causes animal losses. The most important problem in sheep breeding enterprises is labor and feed expenses. In addition to these problems, the fact that the owners do not have sufficient knowledge about lamb growth and fattening and that they generally provide breeding from within the enterprise is among the general breeding problems (Ceyhan et al., 2015a, 2015b).

Tozlu Çelik and Tüf	fekci (2024). <i>Journal</i>	of Agricultural	Production,	5(2), 73-80
,		., .,		

Herd Size	n	%	Vaccination Status	n	%
50-200	63	87.5	Yes	63	87.5
250 and above	9	12.5	No	9	12.5
Lamb Weaning Age			Vaccination Person Vaccinated		
2 months	11	15.3	Veterinarian	37	51.4
3-6 months	57	79.2	Breeder	35	48.6
More than 6 months	4	5.5	Mother's Milk Intake in The First Week		
			Yes	72	100.0
Health Control			Season with High Animal Losses		
Public veterinarian	51	70.8	Spring	26	36.1
Private veterinarian	21	29.2	Winter	46	63.9

Table 3. Data on some breeding practices in enterprises-2

3.4. Effects of COVID-19 Pandemic Period on Sheep Farming Enterprises

In the study, the data obtained from the questionnaire conducted to determine the impact of sheep breeders during the COVID-19 pandemic period are given in Table 4. In the study, it was stated that the breeders were negatively affected by the increase in feed prices (33.3%) during the epidemic period. The finding of increased feed costs in this study is similar to that reported by Mtimet et al. (2021). Breeders' reasons for production (88.9%), land use (97.2%), and flock size (88.9%) were not affected by the pandemic. The weaning age of lambs did not change (97.2%) during the pandemic and the period of pasture emergence was not negatively affected (94.4%). Breeders generally highlighted that they were not influenced by the epidemic period in the use of roughage (84.7%), concentrate feed (83.3%), or vaccination practices (93.1%). Most of the breeders (94.4%) reported that their expectations from animal husbandry did not change after the pandemic period. After the pandemic, it was determined that the expectations of shepherds, feed support, improvement of pastures, and health insurance support were higher (94.4%). Breeders had problems finding shepherds. Health problems and quarantine practices affected the use of the labor force. In general, 52.8% of sheep breeders in Ordu province stated that they were not affected by the COVID-19 outbreak. This finding was similar to that reported by Uğur and Buruklar (2022).

During the epidemic period, national and international restrictions on health control practices and budgetary constraints caused problems in the detection and control of animal diseases. During the COVID-19 pandemic, many logistics systems, such as livestock production systems and their supply chains, faced supply disruptions. In particular, there was a problem of access to agricultural inputs (such as animal equipment, vaccines, etc.) (Hashem et al., 2020). Studies have reported that the sales of farmers' crops and

livestock products were adversely affected primarily due to quarantine practices during the COVID-19 outbreak (Jaacks et al., 2021). COVID-19 caused a decrease in the labor force during the pandemic period. Especially the problem of finding shepherds became more prominent during this period (Hashem et al., 2020; Uğur & Buruklar, 2022). The problem of difficulty in finding a shepherd in this study is similar to the ones reported in the literature (Biswal et al., 2020; Hashem et al., 2020; Uğur & Buruklar, 2022).

Due to the land and crop production structure of Ordu province, the fact that ovine breeding enterprises are small, widespread, and dispersed in the form of enterprises prevents the breeders from reaching the desired income in the marketing of the products. In addition to this, the fact that ovine breeders do not act together in the marketing stage of the products they obtain and the operating expenses of the ovine breeders cause many intermediaries between sellers and buyers, and this situation leads to economic problems. The fact that almost all of the available land is hazelnut, untimely, excessive, and irregular grazing of meadow and pasture areas, problems related to the supply of roughage, the problem of finding a shepherd, the lack of milk collection, and cold chain facilities in enterprises can be counted as general breeding problems (Tozlu Çelik, 2016).

During the pandemic period, restrictive measures did not have any impact on the parameters of sheep farming systems. In some studies, it was reported that the outbreak period negatively affected only the daily working routine of the breeders in enterprises with high sheep numbers (Yiakoulaki et al., 2022), while there are studies reporting problems in the raw material supply chain, finding laborers, and marketing of products (Biswal et al., 2020). In this study, the finding of not being affected by the COVID-19 outbreak as a general condition is similar to that reported by Yiakoulaki et al. (2022).

e	-				
Affected by COVID-19	n	%	Herd Size Affected?	n	%
Not affected	38	52.8	Not affected	64	88.9
Encouraged to keep livestock	3	4.2	Affected	8	11.1
Existing conditions became more difficult	7	9.7	Was Pasture Access Affected?		
Feed cost increased	24	33.3	Not affected	68	94.4
			Affected	4	5.6
Reason for Production Has It Been Affected?			Has The Use of Roughage Been Affected?		
Not affected	64	88.9	Not affected	61	84.7
Affected	8	11.1	Affected	11	15.3
Was Land Use Affected?			Has The Use of Concentrated Feed Been Affected?		
Not affected	70	97.2	Not affected	60	83.3
Affected	2	2.8	Affected	12	16.7
Did It Affect Weaning Age?			Vaccination Affected?		
Not affected	70	97.2	Not affected	67	93.1
Affected	2	2.8	Affected	5	6.9
Expectation After The Pandemic			Has The Expectation Changed After The Pandemic?		
Shepherd support	2	2.8	Yes	4	5.6
Feed support	2	2.8	No	68	94.4
Shepherd, feed, pasture improvement and health insurance support	68	94.4			

 Table 4. Data reflecting the affected status of sheep breeders from COVID-19 pandemic period

In a study conducted in Niğde province, it was aimed to examine the structural characteristics and biosecurity practices of sheep farms. As a result of the study, it was recommended to train breeders and implement strategic programs against diseases and other factors affecting production on sheep farms. In the same study, it was reported that the preparation of strategic programs for hygiene practices in sheep breeding against possible diseases may be an important support for future epidemic disease periods (Şen et al., 2023).

In a study conducted in Türkiye, it was reported that some of the negative effects on meat prices were compensated as a result of live animal imports to reduce the effects of uncertainty due to the COVID-19 outbreak. In order to secure access to lamb meat during the pandemic period, it has been suggested to improve price stability, support it through tax exemptions, carry out live animal sales through the live animal exchange, and establish digital sales channels (Mikail & Kaplan, 2021; Bozma et al., 2023).

4. Conclusion

The results of the study showed that flock size, pasture access, roughage, and concentrate feed use were not affected during the COVID-19 period in sheep breeding enterprises in Ordu province. During this epidemic period, it was reported by the breeders that the cost of feed increased and it was difficult to find a shepherd. It was determined that sheep breeders demanded especially feed, shepherd, pasture improvement, and health insurance support after the epidemic.

As a result, it is important to complete the deficiencies by taking into account the problems experienced during the COVID-19 epidemic period in order not to disrupt production and to ensure food safety. Taking precautions not only for the pandemic but also for changing climatic conditions is necessary for sustainable sheep breeding. Strategic plans should be made and more studies should be carried out so that sheep breeding is not adversely affected by epidemics and climatic changes. There is a need for self-sufficient animal food production planning at the national level.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

Ethics committee permission for this study was received by the decision of Ordu University Social and Human Sciences Board dated March 2, 2023 and numbered 2023-36.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Akçapınar, H. (2000). Koyun yetiştiriciliği. İsmet Matbaacılık. (In Turkish)
- Alkan, S., & Türkmen, Z. (2021). Ordu ili koyunculuk işletmelerinde görülen önemli hastalıkların ve sorunların belirlenmesi. *Akademik Ziraat Dergisi*, 10(2), 427-432. (In Turkish)
- Almadani, M. I., Weeks, P., & Deblitz, C. (2022). COVID-19 influence on developments in the global beef and sheep sectors. *Ruminants*, 2(1), 27-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ruminants2010002</u>
- Ateş, A., & Çam, M. A. (2022). Structural features of sheep farms in Ordu province. *Black Sea Journal of Agriculture*, 5(3), 323-328. <u>https://doi.org/10.47115/bsagriculture.1112678</u>
- Baptista, J., Blache, D., Cox-Witton, K., Craddock, N., Dalziel, T., de Graaff, N., Fernandes, J., Green, R., Jenkins, H., Kahn, S., Kelly, D., Lauber, M., Maloney, S. K., Peachey, B., Rodger, I., Skuse, J., Tilbrook, A. J., Walker, F. R., Wall, K., & Zito, S. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the welfare of animals in Australia. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7, 621843. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.621843
- Biswal, J., Vijayalakshmy, K., & Rahman, H. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 and associated lockdown on livestock and poultry sectors in India. *Veterinary World*, *13*(9), 1928-1933. <u>https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2020.1928-1933</u>
- Bozma, G., Urak, F., Bilgic, A., & Florkowski, W. J. (2023). The volatility of beef and lamb prices in Türkiye: The role of COVID-19, livestock imports, and energy prices. *PLoS ONE*, *18*(3), e0282611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0282611</u>
- Ceyhan, A., Şekeroğlu, A., Ünalan, A., Çınar, M., Serbester, U., Akyol, E., & Yılmaz, E. (2015a). Niğde ili koyunculuk işletmelerinin yapısal özellikleri ve sorunları üzerine bir araştırma. *KSÜ Doğa Bilimleri Dergisi*, *18*(2), 60-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.18016/ksujns.10904</u> (In Turkish)
- Ceyhan, A., Ünalan, A., Çınar, M., Serbester, U., Şekeroğlu, A., Akyol, E., Yılmaz, E., & Demirkoparan, A. (2015b). Niğde ili keçi yetiştiriciliğinin yapısal özellikleri ve sorunları üzerine bir araştırma. *Türk Tarım-Gıda Bilim ve Teknoloji Dergisi*, 3(2), 74-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v3i2.74-79.179</u> (In Turkish)
- Faturokhman, M., Rahmasari, L. F., & Am Kurniawan, F. (2022). Marketing development of beef cattle, sheep, goat and derivative products through the application of digital marketing in facing the impact of Covid-19 pandemic. 2nd International Conference on Applied Sciences 2021 (ICAS 2021). Bogor.
- Garnett, P., Doherty, B., & Heron, T. (2020). Vulnerability of the United Kingdom's food supply chains exposed by

COVID-19. *Nature Food*, *1*(6), 315-318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-020-0097-7</u>

- Guan, W. J., Ni, Z. Y., Hu, Y., Liang, W. H., Ou, C. Q., He, J. X., Liu, L., Shan, H., Lei, C. L., Hui, D. S., & et al. (2020). Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(18), 1708-1720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2002032</u>
- Hao, G., Zhu, H., & Cui, Y. (2023). Measurement and influencing factors of carbon emissions of China's livestock husbandry in the post-COVID-19 era-based on the supply-side perspective. *Sustainability*, 15(2), 913. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su15020913</u>
- Haque, M. H., Islam, M. A., Karim, M. R., Kayesh, M. E. H., Sarker, S., Nazir, K. H. M. N. H., & Anwer, M. S. (2021). Coronavirus disease 2019 and future pandemics: Impacts on livestock health and production and possible mitigation measures. *Veterinary World*, 14(9), 2434-2443. <u>https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2021.2434-2443</u>
- Hashem, N. M., González-Bulnes, A., & Rodriguez-Morales, A. J. (2020). Animal welfare and livestock supply chain sustainability under the COVID-19 outbreak: An overview. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7, 582528. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.582528</u>
- Jaacks, L. M., Veluguri, D., Serupally, R., Roy, A., Prabhakaran, P., & Ramanjaneyulu, G. V. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on agricultural production, livelihoods, and food security in India: Baseline results of a phone survey. *Food Security*, *13*(5), 1323-1339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-021-01164-</u> <u>W</u>
- Kandemir, Ç., Alkan, İ., Yılmaz, H. İ., Ünal, H. B., Taşkın, T., Koşum, N., & Alçiçek, A. (2015). İzmir yöresinde küçükbaş hayvancılık işletmelerinin coğrafik konumlarına göre genel durumu ve geliştirilme olanakları. *Hayvansal Üretim*, 56(1), 1-17. (In Turkish)
- Meuwissen, M. P. M., Feindt, P. H., Slijper, T., Spiegel, A., Finger, R., & et al. (2021). Impact of Covid-19 on farming systems in Europe through the lens of resilience thinking. *Agricultural Systems*, 191, 103152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2021.103152</u>
- Mikail, N., & Kaplan, M. Z. (2021). Effect of COVID-19 pandemic on animal-source food consumption in Turkey. *ISPEC Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 5(3), 616-626. <u>https://doi.org/10.46291/ISPECJASvol5iss3pp616-626</u>
- Mtimet, N., Wanyoike, F., Rich. K. L., & Baltenweck, I. (2021). Zoonotic diseases and the COVID-19 pandemic: Economic impacts on Somaliland's livestock exports to Saudi Arabia. *Global Food Security*, 28, 100512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2021.100512</u>
- Payne-Gifford, S., Whatford, L., Tak, M., Van Winden, S., & Barling, D. (2022). Conceptualising disruptions in British beef and sheep supply chains during the COVID-19 crisis. *Sustainability*, 14(3), 1201. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14031201

- Sarıca, Ş., Ulutaş, Z., & Şahin, A. (2004). Türkiye hayvancılığının mevcut durumu. Gazi Osmanpaşa Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi, 21(1), 91-98. (In Turkish)
- Şen, Ö. T., Durmuş, M., & Koluman, N. (2023). Examination of structural characteristics and biosecurity of sheep farms in Niğde province. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture-Food Science and Technology*, *11*(10), 1847-1854. <u>https://doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v11i10.1847-1854.6127</u>
- SPSS. (2016). *IBM SPSS statistics for windows, version 24.0.* IBM Corp.
- Sümbüloğlu, K., & Sümbüloğlu, V. (2000). *Biyoistatistik*. Hatipoğlu Yayınları. (In Turkish)
- T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı. (2014). Ordu ili tarım master planı. T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı Merkez Kütüphanesi. <u>https://kutuphane.tarimorman.gov.tr/vufind/Record/189</u> 70 (In Turkish)
- T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı. (2023). Hayvancılık bilgi sistemi. T.C. Tarım ve Orman Bakanlığı. <u>https://hbs.tarbil.gov.tr/</u> (In Turkish)
- Thornton, P. K., Ericksen, P. J., Herrero, M., & Challinor, A. J. (2014). Climate variability and vulnerability to climate change: A review. *Global Change Biology*, 20(11), 3313-3328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12581</u>

- Tozlu Çelik, H. (2016). Ordu ili küçükbaş hayvancılığının mevcut durumu, sorunları ve çözüm önerileri. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture-Food Science and Technology*, 4(5), 345-351. <u>https://doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v4i5.345-351.586</u> (In Turkish)
- Tüfekci, H., & Tozlu Çelik, H. (2021). Effects of climate change on sheep and goat breeding. *Black Sea Journal* of Agriculture, 4(4), 137-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.47115/bsagriculture.954299</u>
- Uğur, A., & Buruklar, T. (2022). Effects of Covid-19 pandemic on agri-food production and farmers. *Food Science and Technology, Campinas, v42,* e19821. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/fst.19821</u>
- Vidaurreta, I., de la Fe, C., Orengo, J., Gómez-Martín, Á., & Benito, B. (2020). Short-term economic impact of COVID-19 on Spanish small ruminant flocks. *Animals*, 10(8), 1357. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10081357</u>
- Yamane, T. (2010). *Temel örnekleme yöntemleri*. Literatür Yayıncılık. (In Turkish)
- Yiakoulaki, M. D., Tsiobani, E. T., Galliou, C. I. G., & Papaspyropoulos, K. G. (2022). The effects of restrictive measures due to the COVID-19 pandemic on the extensive farming system of small ruminants. *Archives Animal Breeding*, 65(2), 157-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/aab-65-157-2022</u>



ISSN: 2757-6620

https://prensip.gen.tr

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Determination and Pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* Isolates Obtained from Tomato Plants (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) in the Iğdır Province

Tuba Genç Kesimci[™] 🕩

Iğdır University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, Iğdır/Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Article History	This study was carried out to identification of Vegetative Compatibility Groups (VCGs)
Received: 08.02.2024	and pathogenicity of Verticillium dahliae isolates obtained from tomato plants in Iğdır
Accepted: 29.04.2024	province. As a result of survey studies conducted in 18 different regions, 14 isolates were
First Published: 22.06.2024	obtained from 629 diseased tomato plants. In the complementation test, the seven isolates
Keywords	were found as VCG2A and VCG2B by using international reference isolates. VCGs of
Pathogenicity	other isolates were not identified. Assessment of the aggressiveness of the KRS-2, YC-13,
Solanum lycopersicum L. VCGs Verticillium wilt	 YY-14, and MLK3-4 isolates was evaluated on tomato (cv. Super). The disease severity was between 15-45% and MLK3-4 isolate had the highest disease severity (45%). Additionally, the effect of temperature on the growth of <i>V. dahliae</i> isolates (TSD-1, MLK3-4 and YY-14) was determined. The isolates showed optimal growth temperatures ranging
	from 20 to 25 °C (except for TSD-1). In control of fungal diseases, it is very important to describe the disease and pathogen. Therefore, the results of the study are important for tomato growers and researchers.

Please cite this paper as follows:

Genç Kesimci, T. (2024). Determination and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates obtained from tomato plants (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) in the Iğdır province. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 5(2), 81-90. https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1433931

1. Introduction

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) is one of the most popular vegetables all over the world (Schreinemachers et al., 2018; Famuyini et al., 2020). The tomato plants are attacked by many biotic and abiotic disease during the production stage which it is known to be threatened by more than 200 diseases (Panno et al., 2021). Fungi constitute the most significant group of plant pathogens that causes economic damage in tomato. Specially, soil-borne fungal pathogens cause important yield loss in tomato (Yucel et al., 2008). Verticillium wilt caused by *Verticillium dahliae* Kleb. is a soil-borne pathogen serious threat to tomato cultivation areas all around the world. The pathogen causes disease in 14 families from 4 different continents (Inderbitzin et al., 2011), and it causes billions of dollars of damage to various agricultural products (Pegg & Braddy, 2002; Klosterman et al., 2008; Inderbitzin et al., 2011). Although *Verticillium isaacii* Inderb. et al., *Verticillium nonalfalfae* Inderb. et al., *Verticillium tricorpus* Isaac and *Verticillium zaregamsianum* Inderb. et al. are known to cause vascular wilt diseases (Inderbitzin & Subbarao, 2014), *V. dahliae* is the most important and common species of the *Verticillium* genus on tomato (Li et al., 2022).

Initial symptoms of Verticillium wilt diseases on tomato include yellowing of the lower leaves, wilting and stunted

E-mail address: tuba.genc@igdir.edu.tr

growth (Kumar et al., 2018). The yellowing between the veins of the leaves with increasing wilt gradually becomes dry and brown (Senthamilselvi & Victoria, 2019). Generally, one side of the leaves remains green while other parts show typical wilt symptoms (Fradin & Thomma, 2006; Gazozcuzade, 2010), and causes V-shaped lesions on lower leaves. In the later stages of the disease, yellowing and stunting start from the lower leaves and gradually progresses to the upper leaves. Brown discoloration observed in the vascular tissues in the part close to the soil surface (Fradin & Thomma, 2006; Kumar et al., 2018).

Vegetative compatibility is used to determine the similarities and differences in the population of a species (Leslie, 1993; Burgess et al., 2009). The determination of Vegetative Compatibility Groups (VCGs) is approaching effectively for examine the genetic structure of soil-borne pathogens (Bao et al., 1998) and this method is commonly used in the genetic characterization of V. dahliae (García-Carneros et al., 2014). V. dahliae obtained from different hosts were determined five VCGs as VCG1, VCG2, VCG3, VCG4 (Joaquim & Rowe, 1990) and VCG6 (Bhat et al., 2003). VCG1 (VCG1A, VCG1B), VCG2 (VCG2A, VCG2B) and VCG4 (VCG4A, VCG4B) groups were categorized as two subgroups (Klosterman et al., 2009). VCGs of V. dahliae isolates obtained from various hosts have been studied by many researchers in Türkiye. This is known as VCGs; VCG1, VCG2A, VCG2B and VCG4B from cotton and cotton seeds (Göre, 2007; Göre et al., 2014), VCG1A, VCG2A, VCG2B and VCG4B from eggplant (Dervis et al., 2009), VCG1, VCG2A, VCG2B and VCG4B from chrysanthemum (Göre, 2009), VCG2B and VCG4B from weeds (Demirci & Genc, 2009), VCG1A, VCG2A and VCG4B from olive (Dervis et al., 2010), VCG2B and VCG4B from potato (Dane & Demirci, 2012), VCG2A, VCG2B and VCG4B from strawberry (Genc Kesimci & Demirci, 2020).

The tomato production is one of the most significant agricultural activities for growers in Iğdır province. It has been determined that there are important fungal diseases both in the survey studies carried out and in the diseased samples brought by the farmers. Therefore, studies were planned to identify fungal diseases that cause disease in tomato plants. We conducted this study: (i) to determination of *V. dahliae* isolates obtained from the tomato plants in Iğdır province (ii) to assess VCGs diversity of isolates *V. dahliae* (iii) to determine the virulence of isolates with pathogenicity test and (iv) to determine the effect of temperature on the growth of *V. dahliae* isolates.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Survey Studies

Survey studies were conducted in the tomato field of the Iğdır province and districts between August and November 2014-2016. Diseased tomato plants were randomly collected from in the field (5-6 steps). The plants were taken in plastic bags and transported to the laboratory.

2.2. Isolations from Tomato Plants

Tomato plants were brought to the laboratory were washed with tap water and cleaned from the soil. For isolations, the root and stem tissues were cut in 1.5 cm size, surface sterilized in 2% NaOCl solution for 2-3 minutes, and then rinsed in sterile water 3 times. The plant parts were dried on the sterile paper for 15-20 minutes and were transferred 4 pieces (2 stems and 2 root collars) on each Petri plates (9 cm diameter) onto Water Agar (WA; 15 g agar per liter) amended with 50 mg L⁻¹ streptomycin sulfate. The plates were incubated at 25 °C for 3-7 days. The colonies were examined under the microscope and conidia were transferred for pure growth with a sterile needle on WA or Potato Dextrose Agar (PDA). The isolates were stored +5 °C for use in the study.

Serial dilution method used for single spores. Firstly, isolates were grown at 25 °C for 7-10 days. Sterile water (1000 μ L) was transferred in the first eppendorf tube (2 mL), and 900 µL sterile water was transferred in the 2nd, 3rd and 4th eppendorf tubes. A mycelial disc (5 mm diameter) of fungus grown on PDA was transferred in the first eppendorf tube. This eppendorf tube was vortexed for 1 min and then 100 µL conidial suspension was transferred from tube 1 to tube 2. After the eppendorf tube 2 was vortexed for 1 minute, 100 µL of taken was transferred from tube 2 to tube 3. The eppendorf tube 3 was vortexed for 1 min and the tube 3 containing spore concentration prepared as 1x10³. The spore suspension (1000 μ L) was poured into an empty the Petri plate (9 cm) and on top of this was added PDA slightly colder than the normal pouring temperature. The Petri were developed at 25 °C for 2-3 days and this pure colony was transferred to PDA. The isolates were kept in the slant test tubes +5 °C (Genc, 2012).

2.3. Morphological and Molecular Characterization

Verticillium dahliae (TSD-1, MLK3-4 and YY-14) isolates were grown on WA and PDA for morphological observations. The isolates were observed under the microscope and determined according to conidia and microsclerotia (Goud et al., 2003; Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al., 2010; Inderbitzin et al., 2011).

In the molecular test, two isolates (YY-14 and TSD-1) were selected. The isolates were grown to be used in DNA isolation in the Petri plates containing PDA 7-10 days at 25 °C and were identified using ribosomal DNA (rDNA)-ITS (Internal Transcribed Spacer) regions (ITS1, 5.8, ITS2) using ITS1 and ITS4 primers were performed by REFGEN (Ankara University Teknokent, Ankara, Türkiye). Genomic DNA isolation, PCR amplification using ITS1 and ITS4 primers (White et al., 1990), sequence analysis performed as described by Genc Kesimci et al. (2022).

2.4. Generation and Characterization of *nit* Mutants

Previous method of Korolev and Katan (1997) was modified for the determination VCGs of V. dahliae isolates. In this method, 30-50 g L⁻¹ potassium chlorate (KCIO₃) and 0.2 g L⁻¹ glucose were added to 17 g L⁻¹ Corn Meal Agar (CMA) or 15 g L-1 WA. Verticillium dahliae isolates were grown on PDA and 5 mm mycelial discs taken from the isolates were transferred to each Petri plate (9 cm) as 6-8 pieces on Corn Meal Chlorate Agar (CMCA) or Water Agar Chlorate medium (WAC). The Petri plates were kept at 25 °C for 1-2 weeks. Each isolate was made in two replications. After the incubation period, fast and thin-growing sectors resistant to KCIO3 were transferred to Czapex Dox Agar (CDA) and were determined as nit mutants. Then, sodium nitrate (0.5 g L⁻¹) (NaNO₃), sodium nitrite (0.5 g L^{-1}) (NaNO₂) and hypoxanthine (0.2 g L^{-1} ¹) were added separately to CDA (45.4 g L^{-1}) and the phenotype of nit mutants were classified according to aerial mycelium growth in the presence of different nitrogen sources (Correll et al., 1987; Korolev & Katan, 1997).

2.5. Complementation Tests with Tester Isolates

Complementation tests were maintained on CDA using a method modified from Korolev and Katan (1997) and Korolev et al. (2000). All of the *nit* mutants obtained in this study with *nit* mutants of the international *V. dahliae* tester isolates were compared (*nit*1x*nit*M or *nit*Mx*nit*M) 1 to 1.5 cm apart on plates at least twice, and plates were incubated for 14-28 days at 25 °C in the dark. The complementations were characterized by growth at the contact zone between the two complementary *nit* mutants (Korolev et al., 2000).

2.6. Effect of Temperature on the Mycelial Growth

The optimal temperature of isolates *V. dahliae* was determined using a method modified from Bhat et al. (2003). TSD-1, MLK3-4 and YY-14 isolates were grown on PDA (9 cm) and were taken from 7-day-old colonies of each isolate mycelial plugs (5 mm in diameter) that transferred to PDA (9 cm). The petri were incubated at temperatures ranging from 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30 and 35 °C. Three replicates of each isolate and the sizes of the colony growth of each petri were measured as mm 7th, 14th and 21st days.

2.7. Pathogenicity Test

KRS-2, YC-13, YY-14 and MLK-3-4 isolates were selected for pathogenicity test. All isolates were cultured on PDA for 15 days. Surface disinfection of tomato seeds (cv. Super) were made in 70% alcohol for 3 min, rinsed with water three times and air-dried on filter paper. For each isolates were sown with

3 seeds in each pot (15-cm-diameter) filled with autoclaved torf/perlit soil mixture (2:1, v v^{-1}). The seeds were reduced to one seedling in each pot. The concentration of conidia in the suspension was adjusted to 106 conidia ml-1 using a hemocytometer. The tomato plants (2-3 leaf) were inoculated by flooding the soil around the roots with 10 ml spore suspensions for each isolate (Gong et al., 2017). The control plants were inoculated with sterile distilled water (10 ml). Hoagland solution added three times each 15 days (10, 20 and 30 mL). Plants were grown at 25±1 °C with a photoperiod of 24 h for 75 days. Five pots of tomato were used for each isolates and control. The scale was used according to the modified 0-4 scale of Hunter et al. (1968). The disease severity were calculated according to Townsend Heuberger's formula. As a result of pathogenicity test, were measured fresh weight and height of all tomato plants. Dry weight of the plants was calculated after drying at 80 °C for 48 h (Isaac et al., 2018). Reisolations were made to complete Koch's postulate with the procedure of isolation. The data obtained as a result of study were subjected using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 17.0 (p<0.05).

3. Results

3.1. Survey, Isolation and Identification

In this study, surveys were conducted from districts and villages in Iğdır province (Akyumak, Bayraktutan, Centre, Gölbaşı, Hakmemet, Küllük, Melekli, Obaköy, Yaycı, Yukarıçarıkçı, Kasımcan, Kuzugüden, Özdemir, Sarıçoban, Yüzbaşılar, Karakoyun, Taşburnu and Aralık). Isolations were performed from sypmtomatic 629 tomato plants. A total of 14 isolates of *V. dahliae* were obtained from the plants (Table 1). *Verticillium dahliae* could not be isolated from other regions except Aralık, Melekli, Taşburnu, Yukarıçarıkçı and Yaycı. The majority of the isolates were collected from stems (8 isolates), and remaining the isolates were isolated from root collar. *Verticillium dahliae* were also occured in the complex with other pathogens as *Rhizoctonia* spp. and *Fusarium* spp. which were significantly higher observed.

In morphological characterization, length and width of conidia and microsclerotia of *V. dahliae* isolates were measured (Table 2). Conidia arise singly at the apices of the phialides, irregularly sub-cylindirical, ellipsoidal. All of the isolates produced verticillate conidiophore. Microsclerotia is very variable in shape (irregular and elongated shaped or more spherical and scattered). Chlamydospores were not observed. Colonies has white then varied from white to black with the produced of microsclerotia during the 6-7 day incubations.

Species	Icolata anda	Location	Plant colonization		
Species	Isolate coue	Location	Root collar	Stem	
	KRS-2	Aralık		+	
	MLK1-D1	Melekli		+	
	MLK1-D2	Melekli		+	
	MLK1-D5	Melekli		+	
	MLK3-D3	Melekli	+		
	MLK3-D4	Melekli	+		
Varticillium dabliga	MLK3-D8	Melekli	+		
veriiciiiium aaniiae	TSD-1	Taşburnu	+		
	TS-ZE-8	Taşburnu	+		
	YC-1	Yukarıçarıkçı		+	
	YC-13	Yukarıçarıkçı		+	
	YC-14	Yukarıçarıkçı		+	
	YC-16	Yukarıçarıkçı		+	
	YY-14	Yaycı	+		
Total			6	8	

Table 1. Isolate code and location of Verticillium dahliae isolates obtained from root collar and stem of tomato plants in Iğdır province.

Table 2. Isolate code, conidia-microsclerotia length and width of Verticillium dahliae isolates.

Species	Isolate code	Conidia length/ width*(µm)	Microsclerotia length/ width*(µm)
	TSD-1	3-10 (5.7)/1.5-4.0 (3.0)	15-80 (37.4)/16-44 (28.8)
Verticillium dahliae	MLK3-D4	3-7 (5.1)/1.5-3.5 (2.4)	17-70 (37.3)/16-40 (27.1)
	YY-14	3.5-10 (6.3)/1.5-4 (2.5)	15-59 (30.5)/13-45 (30.1)
	1117	5.5 10 (0.5)/1.5 4 (2.5)	15 57 (50.5)/15 45 (50.1)

*: Minimum-Maximum (Average).

In the molecular characterization, *V. dahliae* isolates (YY-14 and TSD-1) were performed by sequence analysis of the ITS regions of the ribosomal DNA (rDNA). BLAST analysis of the sequences obtained in the study was performed in NCBI, and the base sequences of the isolates were registered in the GenBank. The Accession number of TSD-1 and YY-14 was obtained as OR734907 and OR734908 (Sequence similarity of 100%), respectively.

3.2. Generation and Characterization of *nit* Mutants

Colonies that showed thin and expansive growth on CDA were determined as *nit* mutants. A total of 24 *nit* mutants from the nine isolates were obtained and phenotypes were identified (Table 3). Most mutants classified as *nit1* (18). *nit3* mutants could not be obtained. The other five isolates were not obtained *nit* mutant despite being repeated numerous times.

Table 3. Number of <i>nit</i> mutants and type	bes of Verticillium dahliae isolates.
--	---------------------------------------

	51		
Isolate No	nit1	nitM	Total
MLK1-D1	1	-	1
MLK3-D3	-	2	2
MLK3-D4	2	-	2
MLK3-D8	2	1	3
TSD-1	3	1	4
TS-ZE-8	2	1	3
YC-1	5	-	5
YC-16	2	-	2
YY-14	1	1	2
Total	18	6	24

3.3. Vegetative Compatibility Groups

In the VCGs test, some of the isolates giving '+' reaction (Figure 1a) with reference test isolates and were included in a group. MLK1-D1, MLK3-D4, MLK3-D8, TS-ZE-8, YC-1 and YY-14 isolates were compatible with reference tester isolates (VCG2B Q115 and 39/5) and determined as VCG2B. Also, some of the isolates made '+/-' reaction (Figure 1b) with other

groups. The weakly cross-reactions were observed between VCG2B (MLK3-D4, MLK3-D8, YC-1 and YY-14) and tester isolate of VCG2A PH. Similarity, VCG2A isolate (TSD-1) and all of the VCG2B isolates were made'+/-' with VCG4A BB, except VCG2B MLK3-D4 isolate. Two isolates (MLK3-D3 and YC-16) were incompatible and '-' reaction (Figure 1c) with tester isolates and VCGs could not be determined (Table 4).



Figure 1. The degree of complementation; (a) '+' reaction; (b) '+/-' reaction; (c) '-' reaction.

		Tester isolates							
Isolate code	Mutant type	VCG2A	VCG2B		VCG4A		VCG4B		VCGs
		РН	Q115	39/5	P103	BB	S39	MT	
MLK1-D1	1	-	+	+	-	+/-	-	-	2B
MLK3-D3	M, M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MLK3-D4	1, 1	+/-	+	+	-	-	-	-	2B
MLK3-D8	M, M	+/-	+	+	-	+/-	-	-	2B
TSD-1	M , 1	+	-	-	-	+/-	-	-	2A
TS-ZE-8	M , 1	-	+	+	-	+/-	-	-	2B
YC-1	1,1	+/-	+	+	-	+/-	-	-	2B
YC-16	1,1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
YY-14	M, 1	+/-	+	+	-	+/-	-	-	2B

Table 4. The reaction with test isolates of isolates Verticillium dahliae.

3.4. Effect of Temperature on the Colony Growth of Isolates *Verticillium dahliae*

TSD-1, MLK3-4 and YY-14 isolates were investigated for growth rate at seven temperatures (5 to 35 °C) *in vitro*

conditions. The growth characteristics of the three isolates varied during the 1, 2 and 3-week incubation. The isolates showed optimum growth temperatures, ranging from 20 to 25 °C (except for TSD-1). None of the isolates *V. dahliae* grew at 5 °C and 35 °C for 7, 14 or 21 consecutive days (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Colony growth of Verticillium dahliae isolates at different growth temperatures.

3.5. Pathogenicity Test

Pathogenicity test was established with 4 isolates selected from *V. dahliae* isolates. As a result of the pathogenicity test of isolates *V. dahliae* was determined on differential virulence to the tomato plants. MLK3-4 isolate had the highest disease severity (45%); however, the KRS-2 isolate had the lowest disease severity (15%). The effects of all isolates on tomato plants (height, root length and fresh weight) were found to be statistically insignificant (Table 6). The control plants were observed any disease symptoms.

Species	Isolate codes	Height* (cm)	Root length (cm)	Fresh weight (g)	Dry weight (g)	Disease severity (%)**	
Verticillium dahliae	KRS-2	37.4±6.36	18.8±3.36	8.1±1.14	1.1±0.19b	15±6.12b	
	YC-13	37.8±3.74	±3.74 17.4±0.92 8.4±1,04		1.3±0.15ab	35±6.12a	
	YY-14	45.6±0.81	15.6±1.28	7.4±1.20	1.7±0.13a	40±10.0a	
	MLK-3-4	39.8±1.39	19.4±2.52	8.8±1.49	1.7±0.10a	45±5.00a	
	Control	35.6±3.64	16.0±1.51	7.1±0.66	1.1±0.10b	0±0.0b	

Table 6. Results of pathogenicity test of Verticillium dahliae isolates.

*: Mean+/-standard error: Different letters indicate the difference between the averages (Duncan test, p<0.05).

**: Disease severity was calculated as a percentage on a 0-4 scale using the Tawsend-Hauberger formula.

4. Discussion

The determination of disease-causing pathogens is necessary for an effective control strategy and reduction of pathogen damage (Martinelli et al., 2015). In the current study, the presence of V. dahliae in tomato plants was investigated in Iğdır province and the pathogen was determined as associated with Verticillium wilt of tomato. The morphological identification is the first step in the classification of fungal pathogens (Sunpapao et al., 2022). Verticillium spp. have a resting structure characteristic as dark resting mycelium, chlamydospores and microsclerotia. The structures play an significant role both in the biology and taxonomy of the genus and was characteristic in distinguishing the species (Inderbitzin, 2011). All isolates obtained from this study showed the general characteristic features of V. dahliae by producing verticillate conidiophore and microsclerotia in morphological determination. The morphological identification was also confirmed by molecular identification of the selected isolates in the study.

Genetic variation is a significant concept in the life history of asexually reproducing plant pathogens. VCGs are the most effective method in the determination of the genetic relationships in V. dahliae population (McDonald & Linde, 2002). Also, knowledge of the variation within the pathogen groups is essential for improve the control strategy (Collado-Romero et al., 2008). VCGs test were applied to V. dahliae isolates obtained in this study and the VCGs of the isolates were determined as VCG2A and 2B which VCG2B isolates were isolated more frequently from tomato plants. The VCG2B is considered likely to be present in any Verticillium soil (Zeise & Von Tiedemann, 2002). Similarly, VCG2B is reported to be the most common group isolated from a variety of hosts (Bhat & Subbarao, 1999; Korolev et al., 2000). VCGs associated with tomato have been determined as VCG2A, VCG2B, and VCG4B at the International level. Different from our study, some studies were reported that VCG4B is the dominant group in tomato in South Africa, Greece and Israel. On the other hand, they showed that VCG2B had a limited distribution (Korolev et al., 2000; Papaioannou et al., 2013; Retief et al., 2023). Also, Akar et al. (2024) reported that VCG1A isolates are dominant group from grafted tomatoes in Antalya, Türkiye.

In this study, pathogenicity of one isolate was found to be different in levels of virulence of the other isolates used in the pathogenicity test. Other studies have shown that V. dahliae isolates have different virulence in various hosts (Tjamos, 1981; Joaquim & Rowe, 1991; Tsror et al., 2001; Sanei et al., 2008). A study conducted that by Genc Kesimci and Demirci (2020) were determined the disease severity between 27.5% and 75% on strawberry. Tjamos (1981) found that were differences found in the pathogenicity of tomato. Retief et al. (2023) reported that the aggressiveness of V. dahliae isolates varied between 2.08% and 51.94% on tomato. There are two races of V. dahliae infections on tomato, race 1 carries the avirulence gene VdAve1 and race 2 is not carrying (Panno et al., 2021). Fradin et al. (2009) observed that Ve gene provides resistance against race 1 of V. dahliae isolates. Therefore, it is considered that virulence differences may occur, especially in tomato. Also, the ability toxin production of isolates are very important (lead to necrosis and wilting) which the toxic metabolites and/or phytotoxins may induce plant defense mechanisms (Zhen & Li, 2004). Genetic exchange between isolates belonging to the same VCGs may lead to the emergence of more virulent isolates as it will provide diversity (Bhat et al., 2003; Jiménez-Díaz et al., 2006). At the same time, large number of host species may be effect the degree of virulence (Pegg & Brady, 2002).

The growth and distribution of fungi are affected by different environmental factors (Alsohaili & Bani-Hasan, 2018). Temperature is one of the most important environmental factors affecting the development of fungal diseases. In this study, temperature effect on radial growth of isolates V. dahliae was investigated in vitro. The colonies of V. dahliae well grown on PDA at 20-25 °C, and the optimal temperature was 25 °C. Verticillium dahliae not grown at 5 °C and 35 °C. These results were similar to with previous studies. Pegg and Brady (2002) has been reported that the optimal growth temperature of isolates as 22 and 25 °C. Jing et al. (2018) also found that the colony growth of isolates V. dahliae increased at 25 °C. Rampersad (2010) demonstrated that V. dahliae was grown at 25 and 30 °C, but not at 15 and 35 °C. In addition, Jabnoun-Khiareddine et al. (2006) found that V. dahliae was more greater disease higher temperatures (21 to 30 °C) than the lower

temperatures (17 to 21 $^{\circ}$ C) and adapted to higher temperatures in tomato plants.

5. Conclusion

Verticillium dahliae is one of the most common pathogens that causes yield and quality losses in tomato worldwide. In this study, we investigated to VCGs and pathogenicity of *V. dahliae* isolates obtained from tomato plants in Iğdır province. As a result of the study, VCGs were determined as VCG2A and VCG 2B. Also, variation in the pathogenicity of the isolates was observed. With the data obtained, a source was created for further studies to be carried out in tomato plants. The management of Verticillium wilt recommends control methods such as soil solarization, soil fumigation, and crop rotation, but the methods are inadequate to manage of the disease. Developing pathogen-specific control strategies such as selection of resistant varieties can contribute to more successful results.

Acknowledgment

This article was supported by Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit of Iğdır University (Project number 2018-FBE-A08).

Conflict of Interest

The author has no conflict of interest to declare.

References

- Akar, H., Cat, A., & Catal, M. (2024). Molecular characterizations of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from grafted tomatoes grown in Antalya province of Türkiye. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 172(1), e13262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jph.13262</u>
- Alsohaili, S. A., & Bani-Hasan, B. M. (2018). Morphological and molecular identification of fungi isolated from different environmental sources in the Northern Eastern desert of Jordan. *Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences*, *11*(3), 329-337.
- Bao, J. R., Katan, J., Shabi, E., & Katan, T. (1998). Vegetativecompatibility groups in *Verticillium dahliae* from Israel. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 104, 263-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008696312859</u>
- Bhat, R. G., & Subbarao, K. V. (1999). Host range specificity in Verticillium dahliae. Phytopathology, 89(12), 1218-1225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto.1999.89.12.1218</u>
- Bhat, R. G., Smith, R. F., Koike, S. T., Wu, B. M., & Subbarao, K. V. (2003). Characterization of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates and wilt epidemics of pepper. *Plant Disease*, 87(7), 789-797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/pdis.2003.87.7.789</u>
- Burgess, T., Bihon, W., Wingfield, M. J., & Wingfield, B. D. (2009). A simple and rapid method to determine

vegetative compatibility groups in fungi. *Inoculum: Newsletter of the Mycological Society of America*, 60(6), 1-2.

- Collado-Romero, M., Mercado-Blanco, J., Olivares-García, C., & Jiménez-Díaz, R. M. (2008). Phylogenetic analysis of *Verticillium dahliae* vegetative compatibility groups. *Phytopathology*, 98(9), 1019-1028. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-98-9-1019</u>
- Correll, J. C., Klittich, C. J. R., & Leslie, J. F. (1987). Nitrate nonutilizing mutants of *Fusarium oxysporum* and their use in vegetative compatibility tests. *Phytopathology*, 77(12), 1640-1646.
- Dane, E., & Demirci, E. (2012). Vegetative compatibility groups and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from potato plants in Erzurum province. *Journal* of Agricultural Sciences, 18(2), 110-114. https://doi.org/10.1501/Tarimbil_0000001198
- Demirci, E., & Genc, T. (2009). Vegetative compatibility groups of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from weeds in potato fields. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, *91*(3), 671-676.
- Dervis, S., Yetisir, H., Yıldırım, H., Tok, F. M., Kurt, S., & Karaca, F. (2009). Genetic and pathogenic characterization of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from eggplant in Turkey. *Phytoparasitica*, *37*, 467-476. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12600-009-0061-4
- Dervis, S., Mercado-Blanco, J., Erten, L., Valverde-Corredor, A., & Pérez-Artés, E. (2010). Verticillium wilt of olive in Turkey: A survey on disease importance, pathogen diversity and susceptibility of relevant olive cultivars. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 127, 287-301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-010-9595-z</u>
- Famuyini, J., Patrick, O. A., & Sedara, A. (2020). Effect of maturity stage on quality and shelf life of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill) using refrigerator storage system. *Eurasian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 4(1), 23-44.
- Fradin, E. F., & Thomma, B. P. H. J. (2006). Physiology and molecular aspects of *Verticillium* wilt diseases caused by *V. dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum. Molecular Plant Pathology*, 7(2), 71-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1364-3703.2006.00323.x</u>
- Fradin, E. F., Zhang, Z., Juarez Ayala, J. C., Castroverde, C. D., Nazar, R. N., Robb, J., Chun-Ming, L., & Thomma, B. P. H. J. (2009). Genetic dissection of *Verticillium* wilt resistance mediated by tomato Ve1. *Plant Physiology*, *150*(1), 320-332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.136762</u>
- García-Carneros, A. B., García-Ruiz, R., & Molinero-Ruiz, L. (2014). Genetic and molecular approach to *Verticillium dahliae* infecting sunflower. *Helia*, *37*(61), 205-214. https://doi.org/10.1515/helia-2014-0014
- Gazozcuzade, N. (2010). Disease management in tomato production of Silifke's plateau villages (Master thesis, Çukurova University).

- Genc, T. (2012). Vegetative compatibility groups, pathogenicity and biological control of Verticillium dahliae Kleb. isolated from strawberry plants in Erzurum and Erzincan provinces (Doctoral dissertation, Atatürk University).
- Genc Kesimci, T., & Demirci, E. (2020). Vegetative compatibility groups and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from strawberry plants in Erzurum and Erzincan provinces, Turkey. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin*, 29(1), 454-462.
- Genc Kesimci, T., Demirer Durak, E., & Demirci, E. (2022). *Rhizoctonia* species from strawberry plants in Erzincan, Turkey: Anastomosis groups and pathogenicity. *Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*, 32(3), 721-728. http://doi.org/10.36899/japs.2022.3.0473
- Gong, Q., Yang, Z., Wang, X., Butt, H. I., Chen, E., He, S., Zhang, C., Zhang, X., & Li, F. (2017). Salicylic acidrelated cotton (*Gossypium arboreum*) ribosomal protein GaRPL18 contributes to resistance to *Verticillium dahliae*. *BMC Plant Biology*, *17*(1), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-017-1007-5</u>
- Goud, J. K., Termoshuizen, A. J., & Gams, W. (2003). Morphology of Verticillium dahliae and V. tricorpus on semi-selective media used for the detection of V. dahliae in soil. Mycological Research, 107(7), 822-830. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0953756203008050
- Göre, M. E. (2007). Vegetative compatibility and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from the Aegean Region of Turkey. *Phytoparasitica*, 35(3), 222-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02981154</u>
- Göre, M. E. (2009). Vegetative compatibility and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from *Chrysanthemum* in Turkey. *Phytoparasitica*, 37(1), 87-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12600-008-0001-8</u>
- Göre, M. E., Erdoğan, O., Caner, Ö. K., Aydın, M. H., & Berk, S. (2014). VCG diversity and virulence of *Verticillium dahliae* from commercially available cotton seed lots in Turkey. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 140(4), 689-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-014-0500-z</u>
- Hunter, D. E., Darling, H. M., Stevenson, F. J., & Cunningham, C. E. (1968). Inheritance of resistance to Verticillium wilt in Wisconsin. *American Potato Journal*, 45, 72-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02862864</u>
- Inderbitzin, P., Bostock, R. M., Davis, R. M., Usami, T., Platt, H. W., & Subbarao, K. V. (2011). Phylogenetics and taxonomy of the fungal vascular wilt pathogen *Verticillium*, with the descriptions of five new species. *PLoS* ONE, 6(12), e28341. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028341
- Inderbitzin, P., & Subbarao, K. V. (2014). Verticillium systematics and evolution: How confusion impedes Verticillium wilt management and how to resolve it. *Phytopathology*, 104(6), 564-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto-11-13-0315-ia</u>

- Isaac, M. R., Leyva-Mir, S. G., Sahagun-Castellanos, J., Camara-Correia, K., Tovar-Pedraza, J. M., & Rodriguez-Perez, J. E. (2018). Occurrence, identification, and pathogenicity of *Fusarium* spp. associated with tomato wilt in Mexico. *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca*, 46(2), 484-493. https://doi.org/10.15835/nbha46211095
- Jabnoun-Khiareddine, H., Daami-Remadi, M., Hibar, K., Robb, J., & El Mahjoub, M. (2006). Effect of temperature on verticillium wilts of tomato in Tunisia. *Plant Pathology Journal*, 5(1), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3923/ppj.2006.1.6</u>
- Jabnoun-Khiareddine, H., Daami-Remadi, M., Barbara, D. J., & El Mahjoub, M. (2010). Morphological variability within and among *Verticillium* species collected in Tunisia. *Tunisian Journal of Plant Protection*, 5(1), 19-38.
- Jiménez-Díaz, R. M., Mercado-Blanco, J., Olivares-García, C., Collado-Romero, M., Bejarano-Alcázar, J., Rodríguez-Jurado, D., Giménez-Jaime, A., García-Jiménez, J., & Armengol, J. (2006). Genetic and virulence diversity in Verticillium dahliae populations infecting artichoke in eastern-central Spain. Phytopathology, 96(3), 288-298. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-96-0288
- Jing, R., Li, H., Hu, X., Shang, W., Shen, R., Guo, C., Guo, Q., & Subbarao, K. V. (2018). Verticillium wilt caused by *Verticillium dahliae* and *V. nonalfalfae* in potato in northern China. *Plant Disease*, 102(10), 1958-1964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-01-18-0162-RE</u>
- Joaquim, T. R., & Rowe, R. C. (1990). Reassessment of vegetative compatibility relationships among strains of *Verticillium dahliae* using nitrate-nonutilizing mutants. *Phytopathology*, 80(11), 1160-1166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-80-1160</u>
- Joaquim, T. R., & Rowe, R. C. (1991). Vegetative compatibility and virulense of strains of *Verticillium dahliae* from soil and potato plants. *Phytopathology*, *81*(5), 552-558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-81-552</u>
- Klosterman, S. J., Veronese, P., Dobinson, K. F., Subbarao, K., Heiman, D. I., Young, S., Kodira, C. D., Alvarado, L. Galagan, J. E., Birren, B., Cuomo, C., Anchieta, A., Kang, S., Gold, S. E., & Ma, L. (2008). *Verticillium* comparative genomics: Understanding pathogenicity and diversity. *Phytopathology*, 98, S185.
- Klosterman, S. J., Atallah, Z. K., Vallad, G. E., & Subbarao, K.
 V. (2009). Diversity, pathogenicity, and management of *Verticillium* species. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 47, 39-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-080508-081748</u>
- Korolev, N., & Katan, T. (1997). Improved medium for selecting nitrate nonutilizing (nit) mutants of *Verticillium dahliae*. *Phytopathology*, 87(10), 1067-1070. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO.1997.87.10.1067</u>
- Korolev, N., Katan, J., & Katan, T. (2000). Vegetative compatibility groups of *Verticillium dahliae* in Israel: Their distribution and association with pathogenicity.

Phytopathology, *90*(5), 529-536. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO.2000.90.5.529

- Kumar, S. P., Srinivasulu, A., & Babu, K. R. (2018). Symptomology of major fungal diseases on tomato and its management. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 7(6), 1817-1821.
- Leslie, J. F. (1993). Fungal vegetative compatibility. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, *31*(1), 127-150. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.py.31.090193.001015
- Li, J., Faino, L., Fiorin, G. L., Bashyal, S., Schaveling, A., van den Berg, G. C. M., Seidl, M. F., & Thomma, B. P. (2022). A single *Verticillium dahliae* effector determines pathogenicity on tomato by targeting auxin response factors. *bioRxiv*, 2022(11), 1-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.11.22.517554</u>
- Martinelli, F., Scalenghe, R., Davino, S., Panno, S., Scuderi, G., Ruisi, P., Villa, P., Stroppiana, D., Boschetti, M., Goulart, L. R., Davis, C. E., & Dandekar, A. M. (2015). Advanced methods of plant disease detection. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 35, 1-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-014-0246-1</u>
- McDonald, B. A., & Linde, C. (2002). Pathogen population genetics, evolutionary potential, and durable resistance. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 40(1), 349-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.40.120501.1014</u> <u>43</u>
- Panno, S., Davino, S., Caruso, A. G., Bertacca, S., Crnogorac, A., Mandić, A., Noris, E., & Matić, S. (2021). A review of the most common and economically important diseases that undermine the cultivation of tomato crop in the Mediterranean basin. *Agronomy*, *11*(11), 2188. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11112188</u>
- Papaioannou, I. A., Ligoxigakis, E. K., Vakalounakis, D. J., Markakis, E. A., & Typas, M. A. (2013). Phytopathogenic, morphological, genetic and molecular characterization of a *Verticillium dahliae* population from Crete, Greece. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 136(3), 577-596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-013-0189-4</u>
- Pegg, G. F., & Brady, B. L. (2002). Verticillium wilts. Cabi Publishing.
- Rampersad, S. N. (2010). A study of environmental factors that affect survival of pumpkin isolates of *Verticillium dahliae*. *HortScience*, 45(8), 1211-1217. <u>https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.45.8.1211</u>
- Retief, E., Lamprecht, S., & McLeod, A. (2023). Characterisation and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates associated with Verticillium wilt of tomato in the Limpopo Province of South Africa. *Journal of Plant Pathology*, 105(4), 1465-1481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42161-023-01446-6</u>

- Sanei, S. J., Waliyar, F., Razavi, S. I., & Okhovvat, S. M. (2008). Vegetative compatibility, host range and pathogenicity of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates in Iran. *International Journal of Plant Production*, 2(1), 37-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.22069/IJPP.2012.598</u>
- Schreinemachers, P., Simmons, E. B., & Wopereis, M. C. (2018). Tapping the economic and nutritional power of vegetables. *Global Food Security*, 16, 36-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2017.09.005
- Senthamilselvi, S., & Victoria, J. (2019). An overview of wilt diseases of tomato. International Journal of Pharmacy and Biological Sciences, 9(3), 360-369. <u>https://doi.org/10.21276/ijpbs.2019.9.3.47</u>
- Sunpapao, A., Suwannarach, N., Kumla, J., Dumhai, R., Riangwong, K., Sanguansub, S., Wanchana, S., & Arikit, S. (2022). Morphological and molecular identification of plant pathogenic fungi associated with dirty panicle disease in coconuts (*Cocos nucifera*) in Thailand. *Journal of Fungi*, 8(4), 335. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jof8040335</u>
- Tjamos, E. C. (1981). Virulence of *Verticillium dahliae* and *V. albo-atrum* isolates in tomato seedlings in relation to their host of origin and the applied cropping system. *Phytopathology*, *71*, 98-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-71-98</u>
- Tsror, L., Hazanovsky, M., Mordechi-Lebiush, S., & Sivan, S. (2001). Aggressiveness of *Verticillium dahliae* isolates from different vegetative compatibility groups to potato and tomato. *Plant Pathology*, *50*(4), 477-482. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3059.2001.00587.x
- White, T. J., Bruns, T., Lee, S. J. W. T., & Taylor, J. (1990). Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In M. A. Innis, D. H. Gelfand, J. J. Sninsky & T. J. White (Eds.), *PCR protocols: A guide to methods and applications* (pp. 315-322). Academic Press.
- Yucel, S., Can, C., Yurtmen, M., Cetinkaya-Yildiz, R., & Aysan, Y. (2008). Tomato pathology in Turkey. *The European Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology*, 2(1), 38-47.
- Zeise, K., & Von Tiedemann, A. (2002). Application of RAPD-PCR for virulence type analysis within *Verticillium dahliae* and *V. longisporum. Journal of Phytopathology*, *150*(10), 557-563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0434.2002.00799.x</u>
- Zhen, X. H., & Li, Y. Z. (2004). Ultrastructural changes and location of β-1, 3-glucanase in resistant and susceptible cotton callus cells in response to treatment with toxin of *Verticillium dahliae* and salicylic acid. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 161(12), 1367-1377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2004.04.007</u>



ISSN: 2757-6620

PRENSIP

https://prensip.gen.tr

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Effect of Parity and Pasture Period on Milk Lipid Composition in Awassi Sheep

Ülkü Dağdelen[™] [©] • Doğan Türkyılmaz [©] • Nurinisa Esenbuğa [©]

Atatürk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Science, Erzurum/Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article History Received: 04.04.2024 Accepted: 05.05.2024 First Published: 22.06.2024

Keywords Awassi Lipid profile Milk Pasture period



ABSTRACT

This study aimed to explore how pasture periods and parity impact the lipid profiles of 38 Awassi sheep raised in a traditional grazing system on natural pastures. Milk samples were gathered for lipid profile analysis at the commencement, midpoint, and conclusion of the pasture period. Data analysis employed repeated measurements through two-way ANOVA within the General Linear Model (GLM) framework. The statistical model encompassed the effects of pasture periods, parity, and their interactions. Although parity did not affect lipid profiles, the pasture period had a significant effect (p<0.01) on triacylglycerol (TAG), free fatty acid (FFA), and monoacylglycerol (MAN). A significant effect (p<0.05) on cholesterol (COL) was also observed. Furthermore, neither pasture period nor parity had any effect on phospholipids. As a result of the study, it was determined that parity had no effect on the lipid profile in milk, while pasture period had a very significant effect on triacylglycerol, free fatty acids, monoacylglycerol and a significant effect on cholesterol.

Please cite this paper as follows:

Dağdelen, Ü., Türkyılmaz, D., & Esenbuğa, N. (2024). Effect of parity and pasture period on milk lipid composition in Awassi sheep. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 5(2), 91-96. https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1464473

1. Introduction

Sheep farming holds a significant place in livestock organization. The selection of sheep breeds varies according to countries' climate conditions, consumption preferences, and cultural structures (Kaymakçı & Sönmez, 1996; Türkyılmaz, 2014; Dagdelen & Esenbuga, 2022). Türkiye ranks very high in the world in terms of the number of sheep. However, Türkiye numerical superiority is not valid in terms of productivity per animal (Epstein, 1985; Özbey & Akcan, 2000; Biçer et al., 2019). Sheep farming activity, which is an important part of animal production activities worldwide, is of great importance both economically and in terms of human health in Türkiye as well. Especially in the Central and Eastern Anatolia Region,

sheep farming is quite common, and the climate and pasture structure in this region make sheep farming an important source of income (Keskin et al., 2007; Özyürek, 2017; Türkyılmaz et al., 2021). Throughout history, sheep have played an important role in the economic and social life of Turkish communities both in nomadic migrations from Central Asia to Anatolia and in settled life (Özbey & Akcan, 2000; Biçer et al., 2019). It is of the utmost importance to ensure the nutritional needs of sheep are met at all times (Şahin et al., 2003). The performance of sheep in terms of fattening is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors. Among these environmental factors, the feeding system plays a significant role. Sheep are unable to fully express their genetic potential for fattening when raised under inadequate feeding systems (Keskin et al., 2010). Additional feeding or pasture periods are employed to ascertain the genetic potential of the subject. The pasture structures in Türkiye and the ongoing consumption habits of the people emphasize the importance of sheep products for healthy nutrition. Furthermore, the potential to create job opportunities with little capital further highlights the socio-economic importance of sheep farming.

The Awassi breed is a fat-tailed sheep breed raised in the Southeast Anatolia region. This breed adapts excellently to the hot climate conditions of the region and has the highest milk yield among native breeds. Awassi sheep, known for their flocking instinct and excellent walking ability, are recognized worldwide as a valuable sheep breed (Konar et al., 1991; Macit & Aksoy, 1996; Özyürek, 2017).

The components of sheep milk vary depending on various environmental factors such as genotype, parity, season, regional climate conditions, lambing interval and time, type of birth, care and feeding conditions, and udder structure lead to changes in the composition of sheep milk (Kesava Rao et al., 2003). However, generally, sheep milk contains 18.8% dry matter, 7.5% fat, 5.6% protein, and 4.6% lactose. These differences are typically most pronounced proportionally in milk fat (Park et al., 2007; Yılmaz et al., 2011).

Triglycerides are known as fat molecules that meet the body's energy needs and help maintain body temperature balance. They also support intracellular nutrient intake and body nourishment by participating in the structure of the cell membrane. Triglyceride levels can be measured through blood tests (Bitman & Wood, 1990). Normally, triglyceride levels are considered 150 mg/dl, with values between 150-199 mg/dl being borderline, values above 200 mg/dl considered high, and 500 mg/dl or above considered very high. Triglycerides are formed by the esterification of nutrients absorbed from the intestines in the liver.

Cholesterol, with its soft, fat-like structure, is one of the milk lipids found in all cells of the body. Cholesterol plays an important role in the production of cell membranes and some hormones necessary for a healthy body (Costa et al., 2009; Contarini & Povolo, 2013). However, high cholesterol levels are considered a key risk factor for coronary heart diseases such as heart attacks and strokes. The body obtains cholesterol from two sources: synthesis within the body and intake through food. While the liver and other cells produce most of the blood cholesterol, the remainder comes from food. Cholesterol, which is one of the building blocks of nerve cells, is also required for the synthesis of vitamin D and sex hormones (Kaynar et al., 2013). Cholesterol obtained from foods is hydrolyzed and absorbed by pancreatic cholesterol enzymes in the small intestine. It constitutes approximately 0.25-0.45% of total lipids in milk and is mostly present in esterified form with lipids. Cholesterol is transported in the blood by fat-protein complexes; low-density lipoproteins (LDL) carry cholesterol to tissues, while high-density lipoproteins (HDL) facilitate its return transport (Manlongat et al., 1998). LDL cholesterol, when present in excessive amounts in the bloodstream, can increase the risk of heart attacks and strokes and is often associated with the consumption of foods containing saturated fat, trans fat, and cholesterol. It can lead to the formation of thick and hard plaque known as atherosclerosis (Güldür et al., 2007).

The amounts of cholesterol obtained from animal-derived foods vary. It is 110 mg/dl in beef, 160 mg/dl in sheep meat, 1602 mg/dl in egg yolks, 3100 mg/dl in the brain, 375 mg/dl in kidneys, 88 mg/dl in cheese, and 19 mg/dl in sheep milk. Although phospholipids found in milk fat are present in small amounts, they perform important functions in the body. Phospholipids, especially those found in high concentrations in the brain, are known as molecules containing amino acids and fatty acids. Phospholipids are naturally present in all cells of the body, especially in the brain (Wat et al., 2009). Additionally, phospholipids have many functions related to tissues and organs, but the most important is their role in forming the building blocks of the brain, playing a key role for billions of cells (Turkyilmaz & Esenbuga, 2022).

2. Materials and Methods

The study was conducted at the Food and Livestock Application and Research Center of Atatürk University. In the study, 38 sheep of Awassi breeds were used. The sheep were divided into two groups, comprising those in the 3th (n=18) and 4^{th} (n=20) parity. The sheep were grazed on the pasture in from May to September. Milk samples were collected on May (beginning of pasture), July (middle of pasture) and September (end of the pasture) for understanding the variation in milk lipid profile within each period is crucial for herd management and for guiding future research endeavors. During the pasture period, dry meadow grass obtained from the Plant Production Application and Research Center was also given to the animals ad libitum along with drinking water. In addition to pasture, the sheep were fed concentrate feed (13% crude protein, 8.70% crude cellulose, 2% crude fat, 9% crude ash, 0.35% sodium, 0.20% magnesium, Vitamin A 15 000 IU, Vitamin D3 3 000 IU and Vitamin E 30 mg/IU) at 1.5% of their live weight.

Control milking was conducted on the sheep used to determine to lipid profiles. These milking were initiated after the lambs were weaned and continued until the end of the pasture season. Control milking was started between 19:00 and 19:30 after the sheep returned from pasture and continued for approximately one hour. Before milking, the sheep's udders were cleaned with a moist cloth. Samples were taken at the beginning, middle, and end of the pasture season during the control milking to determine milk components and lipid profiles. These samples were taken to the Animal Science Department's Milk Analysis Laboratory at Atatürk University.

2.1. Determination of Lipid Profile

Lipid profiles, including triacylglycerol (TAG), phospholipid (PL), free fatty acid (FFA), monoacylglycerol (MAG), and cholesterol (COL), were analyzed by highperformance thin-layer chromatography (HPTLC) HPTLC plates were scanned at high resolution, and the Rf values were automatically calculated using TotalLab 1D (TL120) software, and the classification of lipids in milk samples was made (Figure 1). The area covered by each lipid spot was determined using a densitogram in TotalLab 1D (TL120) program (Figure 2), and the lipid class in total milk fat was expressed as a percentage (Kaynar et al., 2013).



Figure 2. Densitogram image of lipid profiles in milk (1: Triacylglycerol, 2: Free fatty acids; 3: Cholesterol; 4: Monoacylglycerol; 5: Phospholipid).

2.2. Statistical Analysis

The data underwent analysis as repeated measurements via two-way ANOVA within the General Linear Model (GLM) procedure (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The mathematical model incorporated the effects of pasture periods and age, as well as all interactions.

3. Results and Discussion

The lipid profiles of milk from Awassi sheep are outlined in Table 1. Research on the lipid composition of sheep milk remains limited, but it's noted that lipids in sheep and goat milk are predominantly found in globules smaller than $3.5 \mu m$,

which is beneficial for digestibility and efficient lipid metabolism compared to cow's milk fat (Miller et al., 2006; Park et al., 2007; Kaynar et al., 2013; Merlin Junior et al., 2015).

The major lipid components in sheep milk include triglycerides (TAG), free fatty acids (FFA), cholesterol (COL), monoacylglycerols (MON), and phospholipids (PL). TAG, with a complex composition, primarily resides in the core of milk globules, constituting nearly 90% of the lipids observed in this study. It was unexpected that parity did not appear to affect the content of sheep milk in terms of TAG, FFA and MON. However, the pasture period was found to exert a highly significant effect (p<0.01) on these ratios. It's noteworthy that the TAG content observed in this study was lower than what was reported by Miller et al. (2006) for sheep milk.

It was observed that the cholesterol (COL) content in Awassi sheep milk was significantly higher, with a notable difference (p<0.05) noted. Furthermore, the pasture period was found to have a significant effect (p<0.05) on the COL levels. Specifically, the COL ratio was initially high at the beginning of the pasture period, gradually decreasing significantly as the period progressed towards the midpoint and end stages.

Phospholipids (PL) constitute a portion of the milk fat globule membrane, comprising approximately 0.2-1% of all milk lipids. They play a pivotal role in this membrane due to their highly surface-active properties. Some studies propose that PL may possess anti-cancer and anticholesterolemic functions. PL has been associated with tumor suppression by influencing cell proliferation and is acknowledged as a highly bioactive compound with bacteriostatic and cholesterollowering properties. Notably, the phospholipid (PL) levels in milk from both age groups were similar. The observed differences were not attributed to age but rather to the influence of varying pasture periods. It is noteworthy that the phospholipid (PL) levels in milk from different age groups exhibited similarity. The observed discrepancies were not attributable to age but rather to the impact of different pasture periods. Phospholipids (PL) are integral to the milk fat globule membrane, comprising 0.2-1% of all milk lipids and playing a crucial role due to their highly surface-active properties. Some

Table 1. Lipid profiles of Awassi sheep milk (± standard error).

studies suggest PL may possess anti-cancer and anticholesterolemic functions, with reported tumoursuppressing properties by influencing cell proliferation and exhibiting bacteriostatic and cholesterol-lowering effects.

The PL level in milk from both age groups was similar, with differences not attributed to age but rather to various pasture periods. However, the effect of the pasture period on PL was not observed in this study. Additionally, the PL levels obtained were lower than those reported by some researchers (Boersma et al., 1991).

While no effect of age on free fatty acids (FFA) and monoacylglycerols (MON) was observed, a highly significant effect (p<0.01) of the pasture period on these variables was noted. The FFA and COL values were higher than those reported by Miller et al. (2006) but TAG and PL values were lower than those reported by Bitman and Wood (1990).

Lipids, along with other milk components, exhibit variability due to genetics, physiology, and environmental factors such as season. In this study, the pasture period emerged as crucial due to seasonal and climatic changes affecting the nutritional composition of animal feed and, consequently, animal physiology, thereby influencing milk quality. Seasonal variations in the lipid profile of milk during pasture periods have been documented in numerous studies. It was observed that the age and pasture period were not significant on lipid profiles (Lu et al., 2018).

	Ν	TAG	FFA	COL	MON	PL
General Average		89.67±0.571	$2.79{\pm}0.278$	2.85±0.155	3.61±0.187	1.06 ± 0.055
Parity		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
3	18	89.35±0.676	2.99 ± 0.357	2.98±0.219	3.64±0.186	$1.04{\pm}0.084$
4	20	90.67±0.624	2.33 ± 0.329	2.64 ± 0.202	3.28±0.172	$1.07{\pm}0.078$
Period of Pasture		**	**	*	**	ns
Beginning	16	87.22 ^b ±0.699	3.81ª±0.369	3.25ª±0.227	4.58°±0.193	$1.12{\pm}0.087$
Middle	10	91.52ª±0.886	$2.06^{b}\pm 0.467$	$2.66^{b} \pm 0.287$	2.75 ^b ±0.244	1.01 ± 0.111
End	12	91.29ª±0.808	2.10 ^b ±0.426	2.50 ^b ±0.262	3.06 ^b ±0.223	$1.04{\pm}0.101$

ns: Non-significant; **: P<0.01, *: P<0.05; TAG: Triacylglycerol; FFA: Free Fatty Acids; COL: Cholesterol; MON: Monoacylglycerol; PL: Phospholipid.

4. Conclusion

Most parameters exhibited higher values at the end of the pasture compared to the beginning, indicating a notable change over time. The reason why the pasture period has a significant effect on triacylglycerol, free fatty acids, cholesterol, monoacylglycerol and phospholipid is thought to be due to the fatty acid conformation in the vegetative process of the plants in the pasture. Conversely, there were no discernible differences observed in milk composition and lipid profiles across different parities of sheep. This study addresses this gap by highlighting the significant impact of pasture on lipid profiles rather than parity. Thus, to potentially manipulate milk composition and lipid profile, which are crucial for human nutrition, further research is recommended.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

The study protocol was approved in advance by Atatürk University Local Ethics Committee of Animal Trials with the decision number 49 dated 27.02.2015.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Biçer, O., Keskin, M., Gül, S., Gündüz, Z., Oflaz, N. Z., & Behrem, S. (2019). Kahverengi ve siyah başlı İvesi koyunlarının verim özellikleri yönünden karşılaştırılması. *Mustafa Kemal Üniversitesi Tarım Bilimleri Dergisi*, 24(1), 58-61. (In Turkish)
- Bitman, J., & Wood, D. L., (1990). Changes in milk fat phospholipids during lactation. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 73(5), 1208-1216. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.s0022-0302(90)78784-x</u>
- Boersma, E. R., Offringa, P. J., Muskiet, F. A. J., Chase, W. M., & Simmons, I. J. (1991). Vitamin E, lipid fractions, and fatty acid composition of colostrum, transitional milk, and mature milk: An international comparative study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 53(5), 1197-1204. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/53.5.1197
- Contarini, G., & Povolo, M., (2013). Phospholipids in milk fat: Composition, biological and technological significance, and analytical strategies. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, 14(2), 2808-2831. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fijms14022808</u>
- Costa, R. G., Batista, A. S. M., Azevedo, P. S., Queiroga, R. C. R. E., Madruga, M. S., & Filho, J. T. A. (2009). Lipid profile of lamb meat from different genotypes submitted to diets with different energy levels. *Revista Brasilere de* Zootecnia, 38(3), 532-538. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982009000300019
- Dagdelen, U., & Esenbuga, N. (2022). Effect of breed, age and pasture periods on milk yield, milk components, somatic cell counts and lipid profiles of raw milk from Morkaraman and Tushin Sheeps. *Large Animal Review*, 28(4), 193-198.
- Epstein, H. (1985). *The Awassi sheep with special reference to the improved dairy type*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). <u>https://www.fao.org/4/aj003e/aj003e.pdf</u>
- Güldür, T., Bayraktar, N., Kaynar, Ö., Beker, G., Koçer, M., & Özcan, H. (2007). Excretion rate and composition of skin surface lipids on the foreheads of adult males with type IV hyperlipoproteinemia. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Physiology and Pharmacology*, 18(1), 21-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/jbcpp.2007.18.1.21</u>
- Kaymakçı, M., & Sönmez, R. (1996). *İleri koyun yetiştiriciliği*. Ege Üniversitesi Basımevi. (In Turkish)
- Kaynar, O., Ileriturk, M., & Hayirli, A. (2013). Evaluation of computational modifications in hptlc with gel analysis software and flatbed scanner for lipid separation. JPC -Journal of Planar Chromatography - Modern TLC, 26(3), 202-208.

- Kesava Rao, V., Kowale, B. N., & Verma, A. K. (2003). Effect of feeding water washed neem (*Azadirachta indica*) seed kernel cake on the quality, lipid profile and fatty acid composition of goat meat. *Small Ruminant Research*, 47(3), 213-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-4488(02)00256-0</u>
- Keskin, M., Güler, Z., Gül, S., & Biçer, O. (2007). Changes in gross chemical compositions of ewe and goat colostrum during ten days postpartum. *Journal of Applied Animal Research*, 32(1), 25-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119.2007.9706840</u>
- Keskin, M., Şahin, A., Gül, S., & Bicer, O. (2010). Effects of feed refreshing frequency on behavioural responses of Awassi lambs. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary & Animal Sciences*, 34(4), 333-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.3906/vet-0802-11</u>
- Konar, A., Akın, M. S., Şahan, N., & Güven, M. (1991). Laktasyon döneminde İvesi koyun sütü bileşimindeki değişimler. *Turkish Journal Agriculture Forestry Science*, 15(4), 958-967. (In Turkish)
- Lu, J., Pickova, J., José, L., Vázquez-Gutiérrez, J. L., & Langton, M. (2018). Influence of seasonal variation and ultra-high temperature processing on lipid profile and fat globule structure of Swedish cow milk. *Food Chemistry*, 239, 848-857. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.07.018</u>
- Macit, M., & Aksoy, A. (1996). The comparison of fattening performances of Awassi and Morkaraman lambs reared in the semi-intensive condition at Ataturk University Agricultural Research and Application Farm. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences*, 20(6), 465-470.
- Manlongat, N., Yang, T. J., Hinckley, L. S., Bendel, R. B., & Krider, H. M. (1998). Physiologic-chemoattractantinduced migration of polymorphonuclear leukocytes in milk. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, 5(3), 375-381. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/cdli.5.3.375-381.1998</u>
- Merlin Junior, I. A., dos Santos, J. S., Costa, L. G., Costa, R. G., Ludovico, A., de Almeida Rego, F. C., & de Santana, E. H. W. (2015). Sheep milk: Physicalchemical characteristics a microbiological quality. *Archivos Latinoamericanos de Nutrición*, 65(3), 193-198.
- Miller, G. D., Jarvis, J. K., & Mcbean, L. D. (2006). *Handbook* of dairy foods and nutrition. CRC Press.
- Özbey, O., & Akcan, A. (2000). Akkaraman, Morkaraman ve İvesi koyunlarının yarı-entansif şartlardaki verim performansı 1. Döl ve süt verimi özellikleri. *Veteriner Bilimleri Dergisi*, *16*(1), 109-120. (In Turkish)
- Özyürek, S. (2017). Morkaraman ve İvesi koyunlarında farklı yetiştirme sistemlerinin laktasyon süt verimi, süt bileşimi ve yağ asitleri kompozisyonu üzerine etkisi (Doctoral dissertation, Atatürk University). (In Turkish)

- Park, Y. W., Juárez, M., Ramos, M., & Haenlein, G. F. W. (2007). Physico-chemical characteristics of goat and sheep milk. *Small Ruminant Research*, 68(1-2), 88-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2006.09.013</u>
- Şahin, A., Keskin, M., Biçer, O., & Gül, S. (2003). Diet selection by Awassi lambs fed individually in a cafeteria feeding system. *Livestock Production Science*, 82(2-3), 163-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(03)00030-7
- Türkyılmaz, D. (2014). Atatürk Üniversitesi ziraat işletmesinde yetiştirilen saf morkaraman ve romanov x morkaraman melez kuzuların döl verimi, büyüme-gelişme ve kesimkarkas özelliklerinin belirlenmesi (Master's thesis, Atatürk Üniversitesi). (In Turkish)
- Türkyılmaz, D., Özyürek, S., Dağdelen, Ü., Esenbuğa, N., & Yaprak, M. (2021). İvesi ve Romanov x İvesi melez koyunların bazı döl verim özellikleri, kuzularının yaşama gücü ve büyüme gelişme özelliklerinin incelenmesi. *Hayvan Bilimi ve Ürünleri Dergisi*, 4(2),

127-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.51970/jasp.1033764</u> (In Turkish)

- Turkyilmaz, D., & Esenbuga, N. (2022). Improving the functional value of meat quality by feeding with protected fat supplementation in Morkaraman lambs. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, 76(2), 145-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1745039X.2022.2097825</u>
- Wat, E., Tandy, S., Kaper, E., Kamili, A., Chung, R. W. S., Brown, A., Rowney, M., & Cohn, J. S. (2009). Dietary phospholipid-rich dairy milk extract reduces hepatomegaly, hepatic steatosis and hyperlipidemia in mice fed a high-fat diet. *Atherosclerosis*, 205(1), 144-150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2008.12.004</u>
- Yılmaz, O., Çak, B., & Bolacali, M. (2011). Effects of lactation stage, age, birth type and body weight on chemical composition of Red Karaman sheep milk. *Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi*, 17(3), 383-386.



ISSN: 2757-6620

FIPRENSIP

https://prensip.gen.tr

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Larval Development of Penguin Tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*): Morphological Observations

İhsan Çelik
● • Pınar Çelik
●

Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Marine Science and Technology, Department of Aquaculture, Çanakkale/Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article History Received: 04.04.2024 Accepted: 17.05.2024 First Published: 22.06.2024

Keywords Aquarium fish Characidae Larval development Penguin tetra *Thayeria boehlkei*



ABSTRACT

In this study, the larval development stage of the penguin tetra fish (Thayeria boehlkei), a popular species in the freshwater aquarium fish industry, was investigated. For this purpose, penguin tetra larvae were morphologically observed from time to hatching until they reached the juvenile stage. Throughout the larval development phase, samples were randomly taken daily and captured on a camera using a stereomicroscope. Larval development stages were categorized into four periods: (I) Yolk-sac larva, (II) Pre-flexion larva, (III) Flexion larva, and (IV) Post-flexion larva. Larvae were fed with Artemia nauplii until they reached the juvenile stage for the entire research. Morphological changes, including the state of the yolk sac from hatching, mouth opening, changes in body shape and color, and fin formation processes, were recorded daily. According to the findings, the mouth opened on the 5th day, and external feeding also started on the 5th and 6th days. At the same time, free swimming movements were observed in the larvae, and it was determined that the yolk sacs were consumed. The flexion larva stage occurred on the 15-16th days. The larval development process of the penguin tetra fish was completed within 25 days after hatching. After this stage, the juveniles became morphologically identical to their parents.

Please cite this paper as follows:

Çelik, İ., & Çelik, P. (2024). Larval development of penguin tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*): Morphological observations. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 5(2), 97-105. https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1464516

1. Introduction

The global aquarium fish trade has turned into a multibillion-dollar industry and continues to grow every year. According to a report published three years ago, the global aquarium fish market size was valued at USD 4.5 billion in 2020 and is expected to reach USD 6.3 billion by 2028 (Grand View Research, 2021).

Tetra fish, with more than 150 species, are among the important fish groups that are commercially valuable and popular among hobbyists (Helfman et al., 2009). Penguin tetra is in high demand by aquarium enthusiasts due to its

characteristics such as schooling behavior, unique colorful body patterns, small size, and adaptability to planted aquariums (Axelrod, 1996). It is a popular species among freshwater aquarium species (Weitzman & Palmer, 1997).

The penguin tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*) is a freshwater fish species native to the Amazon basin, belonging to the Characidae family (Weitzman & Palmer, 1997). In nature, this species is distributed in rivers with dense vegetation (Géry, 1977). Penguin tetras are among the popular species in the aquarium sector due to their attractive colors and swimming behaviors (Axelrod et al., 1967). The popularity of this species in the aquarium trade can put pressure on natural fish stocks.

 $^{\[}top]$ Correspondence

E-mail address: pinarcelik@comu.edu.tr

To alleviate this pressure on natural populations and make this business sustainable, it is necessary to develop aquaculture practices (Monticini, 2010).

Morphological examination of the larval development of this tetra species is important for understanding the reproductive biology of the species and increasing the success in aquarium fish farming. The larval development stage is a critical period from hatching until the transition to the juvenile stage. During this period, newly hatched larvae undergo morphological and physiological changes until they become juveniles (Fuiman & Werner, 2009). The changes that occur at this stage are directly related to the survival and growth rates of the larvae (Houde, 1987).

In our literature review, we noticed that information on the larval development of penguin tetras is limited. No detailed scientific study on this subject has been found. Understanding the morphological changes during the larval development stage in every aspect will help us better understand the reproductive biology of the penguin tetra and increase the efficiency of the techniques applied in the cultivation of such species (Nakatani et al., 2001). In addition, the findings obtained in this way will allow a better understanding of the larval development of other species in the Characidae family and enable interspecies comparison (Oliveira et al., 2008).

The aim of this study is to examine the larval development stage of penguin tetra fish morphologically from hatching until the transition to the juvenile stage. Within the scope of the study, penguin tetra larvae were photographed daily from the first day they hatched until they reached the juvenile stage. The findings obtained enabled the definition of the larval development stage of this species and the determination of the morphological changes that occur during this period.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Broodstock Management and Larval Rearing

Mature individuals of the species, aged over one year, were utilized for the controlled reproduction in laboratory conditions. Female and male broodstock were maintained separately in 40 L glass aquaria (dimensions: 40 cm length \times 30 cm width \times 35 cm height; water level: 32-33 cm). All broodstock were fed a commercial aquarium diet (Tetramin Granulat, Tetra, Germany; composition: 46% protein, 12% oil, 3% fiber, 11% ash, 8% moisture) three times in a day. A photoperiod of 12 hours light and 12 hours dark was maintained, with lights on from 07:00 to 19:00. Water parameters in the broodstock tanks were kept constant at a temperature of 24±0.5 °C, pH of 6.0-6.5, and conductivity between 100-200 μ s, using 100-watt aquarium heaters for temperature regulation. For spawning, three females and three males were randomly selected from the broodstock aquaria and transferred to 15 L glass production tanks. Spawning occurred overnight, and the eggs were deposited on the bottom of the tank. After spawning, the broodstock were removed, and the eggs were incubated in the production tank for larval development monitoring. The eggs were maintained at a constant water temperature of 24±0.5 °C.

2.2. Larval Sampling

From the first day of hatching until the juvenile stage, random samples of larvae were collected daily. Larvae were observed using an Olympus SZX7 zoom stereomicroscope (Tokyo, Japan) and photographed with a connected video camera (Q Imaging, Micropublisher 3.3 RTV, Canada). Larval development stages were identified according to Kendall et al. (1984) and categorized into four periods: (I) yolk-sac larva, from hatching until yolk sac absorption; (II) preflexion larva, from yolk sac absorption until the start of notochord flexion; (III) flexion larva, from the start of notochord flexion until its completion; and (IV) post-flexion larva, from the completion of notochord flexion until the end of larval development and transition to the juvenile stage. Observations of larval development were terminated once the juvenile stage was reached.

2.3. Larval Feeding

Exogenous feeding commenced once the larval mouths opened. Larvae were fed with live *Artemia salina* nauplii (INVE Aquaculture Inc., Dendermonde, Belgium) once daily at a density of 5-10 individuals/mL until they reached the juvenile stage. Artemia cysts were hatched in 1.5 L cylindro-conical plastic containers at a water temperature of 25-26 °C and salinity of 25-30 ppt. Newly hatched Artemia nauplii were used for larval feeding.

3. Results

1 DAH: On the first day after hatching (1 DAH), the penguin tetra larvae have a large yolk sac (Figure 1). The eyes are in the formation stage, but eye development is not complete (Figure 1). The body is in primordial form, without pigmentation, and has a transparent appearance. From the outside, the digestive system appears to be a straight tube. On the first day, the mouth and anus are closed (Figure 1). There are a few small, scattered pigment spots on the head region. However, the head region also has a generally transparent appearance. Due to this transparency, the otolith structures inside the otic capsule appear as two small dots (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Larval development of penguin tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*). Post-hatching stage (1 DAH), yolk-sac stage, the gas bladder was formed but not filled (4 DAH).

2 DAH: The proportion of black pigmentation in the eyes has increased (Figure 1). The eyes are slightly more developed compared to the first day. The head region and body are transparent. A pair of adhesive glands are noticeable on the anterior-upper part of the head region. There is a slight increase in pigmentation in the head region compared to the first day. The formation of the pelvic fins is noticeable. The mouth and anus are closed (Figure 1). The larva makes short-term tail

movements. It cannot swim freely. The yolk sac has become even smaller compared to the previous day. The vertebral column and primordial fin structures can be more easily distinguished from each other. The primordial fin has widened (Figure 1).

3 DAH: Eye development appears to be complete (Figure 1). The head and body are still transparent. The vertebral column and myomere structures are clearly distinguishable.

The yolk sac has shrunk by approximately 2/3 compared to the first day. The mouth and anus are still closed. The digestive system can be seen as a long, straight tube extending to the anus (Figure 1). It can be noticed that the two small dots inside the otic capsule have grown slightly compared to the first days (Figure 1).

4 DAH: The yolk sac has become very small (Figure 1). The swim bladder has started to form as a small balloon. The adhesive gland on the anterior-upper part of the head is still present (Figure 1). The larva cannot swim freely. However, the duration of short tail movements has increased. The mouth and

anus are closed (Figure 1). The digestive system is still in a straight structure (Figure 1). It is yellow in color. The notochord tip maintains its straight form. The body is transparent (Figure 1). Pigmentation continues to increase in the form of small black dots throughout the body.

5 DAH: The mouth has opened (Figure 2). The yolk sac is depleted (Figure 2). The larva has started free swimming movements. It can take external food during these days. The swim bladder has grown slightly. The notochord tip is not curved (Figure 2). The dorsal, anal, and caudal fins have not yet formed.



Figure 2. Larval development of penguen tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*). Consumption of yolk-sac (5 DAH); opened-mouth stage (5 DAH); exogenous feeding stage.

6 DAH: The larva continues to take external food (Figure 3). The body is generally transparent, but the distribution areas of pigmentation continue to expand. Ingested Artemia can be seen in the stomach. Tail formations are not complete (Figure

3). The vertebral column is in a straight form. The notochord is not curved (Figure 3). The swim bladder is slightly elongated oval-shaped towards the back of the body.



Figure 3. Larval development of penguin tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*). Preflexion larva stage (6-7 DAH).

7-14 DAH: During these days, the larva can swim freely in series. They feed on live food. The density of pigmentation in their bodies increases slightly every day (Figure 3). The dorsal and anal fins have not yet completed their development

(Figures 3 and 4). The caudal fin rays are also in the development stage. The notochord tip is not curved (Figures 4 and 5). Therefore, the preflexion larval period continues.



Figure 4. Larval development of penguin tetra (Thayeria boehlkei). Preflexion larva (8-11 DAH).

15-16 DAH: The most important morphological event in these days is the curving of the notochord tip (Figure 5). Therefore, these days can be defined as the flexion larval period for penguin tetra larvae. The formations of the anal and dorsal fins have started to become a little clearer (Figure 5). The

caudal fin rays have also emerged. Body pigmentation has increased compared to previous days. On the 15th day, the second chamber of the swim bladder has formed. Thus, the swim bladder has become two-chambered (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Larval development of penguin tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*). Flexion stage, notochord flexion started (15 DAH); flexion stage, the notochord was completely flexed (16 DAH), swim bladder with two chambers was visible (15 DAH).

19-21 DAH: The dorsal and anal fins are quite developed, and the caudal fin has taken a forked shape (Figure 6). Body pigmentation has started to enter the color form of the parents

(Figure 6). The transparent appearance of the larva is about to disappear.



Figure 6. Larval development of penguin tetra (Thayeria boehlkei). Postflexion larva.

23 DAH: All fins have become more shaped and have reached the final stage of their development (Figure 7). The transparent body color of the larva has completely disappeared, and their colors resemble the color of adult individuals. During these days, a black line unique to the penguin tetra species has formed on the side of the body, extending from the head region

to the lower fork tip of the caudal fin (Figure 7). Larval development is morphologically complete (Figure 7). The larvae have now taken on the color and body form specific to the penguin tetra species (Figure 7). Therefore, during these days, the larval stage is completed, and the juvenile stage has been entered.



Figure 7. Juvenile of penguin tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*). End of metamorphosis. The body shape of larvae and pigmentation pattern were similar to those of the adult (25 DAH).



Figure 8. The main events of larval development in penguen tetra (*Thayeria boehlkei*).

4. Discussion

Tetra fish are small, colorful, and popular freshwater aquarium fish belonging to the Characidae family (Helfman et al., 2009). Understanding the larval development process of these fish from hatching to the juvenile stage can help comprehend the reproductive biology, growth potential, and survival rates of that species (Nakatani et al., 2001).

Tetra eggs are usually transparent, round, and small. The larvae that hatch from these eggs are quite small, usually transparent in color, and underdeveloped. Newly hatched larvae are dependent on their yolk sacs for nutrition until they start external feeding. For tetra larvae to develop and survive, it is critical to provide them with appropriate living conditions and nutritious live foods such as rotifers and Artemia nauplii (Celik & Cirik, 2020; Lipscomb et al., 2020). Therefore, Artemia is preferred as the first feed in tetra larval feeding. In this study, Artemia nauplii were used for the initial feeding of penguin tetra larvae. The aquaculture practices, water quality parameters, and live food feeding protocol used during the larval rearing process directly affect the timing of morphological events in the developing larvae. For example, when comparing the timing of metamorphosis events during the larval development of black tetra and serpae tetra, it is observed that although these two species have similar morphological development findings, their larval growth rates slightly differ from each other. Looking at these two studies, it was reported that black tetra larvae developed slightly faster than serpae tetra larvae (Celik & Cirik, 2020; Lipscomb et al., 2020). This situation is the same for penguin tetra larvae as it is for all other tetra species. Environmental conditions and feeding protocols are directly related to the development processes and timing of morphological events in larvae. It is known that larvae of the same species have different growth rates under different conditions. Therefore, new studies on the growth and survival of the species are needed to accurately determine the larval development rates of a species.

In this study, it was observed that the body shape, organs, fins, and body color structure of penguin tetra larvae gradually became more distinct within the first month after hatching. Primarily, the development of the head and eye region was observed, followed by the development of the caudal fin, dorsal, ventral, and anal fins. This situation has also occurred in the same way in some other tetra species (Çelik & Cirik, 2020; Lipscomb et al., 2020). Free swimming started after the initial inflation of the swim bladder.

Pigmentation is one of the most important morphological findings of larval development. These findings are even used in species identification of larvae. Therefore, pigmentation formation and intensification are also mentioned when describing larval development. In this study, the distribution of pigments on the body was also mentioned. Fish larvae initially appear transparent. Later, over time, pigment cells form and develop in their bodies, and when they reach the juvenile stage, the offspring acquire the color structure of their parents. Pigmentation colors and patterns also differ in different fish species. The same situation applies to different tetra species (Helfman et al., 2009). Pigmentation occurs in species-specific color patterns (Nakatani et al., 2001). As larvae grow and approach the juvenile stage, they become colored similarly to their parents' colors. Therefore, describing the pigmentation process during the larval development of fish is critically important.

Just as pigmentation varies according to species, the duration of larval development also varies depending on the species and environmental conditions. It is known that the development stages of tetra larvae generally take 3-4 weeks (Çelik & Cirik, 2020; Lipscomb et al., 2020). At the end of this period, the larval stage is completed, and the juvenile stage is reached. In this study, the larval development process of the penguin tetra examined was also completed in 3-4 weeks. These offspring have become morphologically identical to their parents. However, it may take much longer for larvae to reach sexual maturity. This also varies from species to species.

Examining the larval development of a fish species of economic importance and documenting the findings are important for scientific research. On the other hand, it is also important for professionals who culture this species to improve their aquaculture practices. Examining the larval development of tetra species is similarly important for scientific research. In addition, it is also beneficial for amateur and professional producers who are engaged in the aquarium hobby and breed tetras. Because accurately describing the larval development process of a fish species can reveal valuable information about the reproductive biology, growth dynamics, and survival capacity of that species (Nakatani et al., 2001). Furthermore, detecting diseases and abnormalities that may occur during larval rearing can contribute to raising healthy products for the aquarium fish industry.

In conclusion, the larval development of the penguin tetra species is critically important for understanding the life cycle of this species and using this information to raise higher quality fish generations. Describing the life cycle of an economically important fish species widely used in the aquarium industry, such as the penguin tetra, from hatching to the juvenile stage is important for the continuity of that species and the sustainability of the aquarium industry. Understanding the larval development process of this species can contribute to raising healthier and higher quality fish in the aquarium fish industry.

Compliance with Ethical Standards

The study was conducted when ethics committee approval was not required. Both authors possess certificate of handling experimental animals.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Axelrod, H. R., Emmens, C. W., Sculthorpe, D., Vorderwinkler, W., & Pronek, N. (1967). Exotic tropical fishes. T.F.H. Publications.
- Axelrod, H. R. (1996). *Exotic tropical fishes*. T.F.H. Publications.
- Çelik, P., & Cirik, Ş. (2020). Embryonic and larval development of serpae tetra *Hyphessobrycon eques* (Steindachner, 1882). Aquaculture Research, 51(1), 292-306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14375</u>
- Fuiman, L. A., & Werner, R. G. (2009). Fishery science: The unique contributions of early life stages. John Wiley & Sons.
- Géry, J. (1977). Characoids of the world. T.F.H. Publications.
- Grand View Research. (2021). Ornamental fish market size, share & trends analysis report by product (tropical fresh water, temperate fresh water), by application (commercial, household), by region, and segment forecasts, 2021 - 2028. Grand View Research. https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industr y-analysis/ornamental-fish-market
- Helfman, G. S., Collette, B. B., Facey, D. E., & Bowen, B. W. (2009). *The diversity of fishes: Biology, evolution, and ecology. 3rd edition.* John Wiley & Sons.

- Houde, E. D. (1987). Fish early life dynamics and recruitment variability. American Fisheries Society Symposium. Baltimore.
- Kendall, A. W., Ahlstrom, E. H., & Moser, H. G. (1984). Early life history stages of fishes and their characters. *Ontogeny and Systematics of Fishes*, 1, 11-22.
- Lipscomb, T. N., Yanong, R. P., Ramee, S. W., & DiMaggio, M. A. (2020). Histological, histochemical and biochemical characterization of larval digestive system ontogeny in black tetra *Gymnocorymbus ternetzi* to inform aquaculture weaning protocols. *Aquaculture*, 520, 734957. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.734957
- Monticini, P. (2010). The ornamental fish trade: Production and commerce of ornamental fish: Technicalmanagerial and legislative aspects. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). <u>https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstrea</u> ms/b02939ef-3536-4e8e-be33-2524d8452738/content
- Nakatani, K., Agostinho, A. A., Baumgartner, G., Bialetzki, A., Sanches, P. V., Makrakis, M. C., & Pavanelli, C. S. (2001). Ovos e larvas de peixes de água doce: Desenvolvimento e manual de identificação. Eduem.
- Oliveira, F. G., Bialetzki, A., Gomes, L. C., Santin, M., & Taguti, T. L. (2008). Desenvolvimento larval de *Brycon hilarii* (Characiformes, Characidae). *Iheringia. Série Zoologia, 102*(1), 62-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/S0073-</u> <u>47212008000300003</u>
- Weitzman, S. H., & Palmer, L. (1997). A new species of *Hyphessobrycon* (Teleostei: Characidae) from the Neblina region of Venezuela and Brazil, with comments on the putative 'rosy tetra clade'. *Ichthyological Exploration of Freshwaters*, 7(3), 209-242.


JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION

ISSN: 2757-6620

https://prensip.gen.tr

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Researches on Seafood Consumption Behaviors in Kütahya Province

Nurcan Şimşek 🕩 • Gökhan Arslan[™] 🕩

Atatürk University, Faculty of Fisheries, Erzurum/Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article History Received: 26.03.2024 Accepted: 21.05.2024 First Published: 22.06.2024 Keywords

Consumer preferences Fish Kütahya Seafood consumption



ABSTRACT

Seafood is among the most important recommended foods due to its rich protein, mineral and fat content. In recent years, food has become an extremely important product in terms of maintenance due to increasing food demand and decreasing contractual production. In the current research, face-to-face questions were examined with 128 people living in Kütahya province and its central districts, and the answers given were evaluated with the Chi-square interval test. 76 women (59.4%) and 82 men (40.6%) that participated in this survey. According to the age analysis, 21.8% are under 21; 9.4% are between 21-30; 21.8% were between 31-40; 21.8% were between 41-50; 6.4% were between 51-60 and 18.8% were between 61-70. It was observed that there was a relationship between increasing income and fish meat consumption, and fish meat was preferred at a higher level of income. In addition, it has been an important data that young people in later periods consume more fish.

Please cite this paper as follows:

Şimşek, N., & Arslan, G. (2024). Researches on seafood consumption behaviors in Kütahya province. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 5(2), 106-120. https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1459264

1. Introduction

Decreasing food resources and increasing world population are considered to be the source of an important nutritional problem for the future. Experts on the subject emphasize that food production should double in parallel with the increase in world population in the 2050s. The sector that can meet this need apart from agricultural production is aquaculture, considering its current potential (Arslan, 2019).

It has been observed that the sector has been growing faster than other food sectors worldwide in recent years. In this sense, it is predicted that the aquaculture sector will continue to increase its importance in terms of food supply in the near future (Arslan & Oğuzhan Yıldız, 2021).

The development of the aquaculture sector and similarly all

[™] Correspondence E-mail address: gokhan.arslan@atauni.edu.tr

 \odot

sectors is undoubtedly closely related to the balance of supply and demand. In this sense, fish consumption is extremely important for the development of the sector. Many studies have been conducted at different times and regions on fish consumption habits in Türkiye (Atay et al., 2002; Aydın & Karadurmuş, 2012; Beyazbayrak, 2014; Çiçek et al., 2014; Abdikoğlu et al., 2015; Ercan & Şahin, 2016; Gürel et al., 2017; Şen & Şahin, 2017; Arslan, 2019).

These studies show that fish consumption in our country is below the world average. As of 2019, our annual fish consumption per capita in our country was 6.26 kg (TÜİK, 2019). This situation is also important for the development of the sector. A significant part of the consumption took place in coastal areas. For this reason, studies in provinces that do not have a coastline can be data sources regarding low

consumption.

In this study, fish consumption habits of Kütahya province were examined. Data was collected by asking face-to-face questions to 128 participants, taking into account gender, age, education level, income level and occupational characteristics.

2. Materials and Methods

Our study was conducted by asking face-to-face questions to 128 people residing in Kütahya in September and October 2023, and evaluating the data obtained with the Chi-square independence test. Kütahya Province is a province in the Aegean region of Türkiye. Its area is 11,634 km² and its population is 580,701 in 2022 (Wikipedia, 2024).

3. Results and Discussion

In this part of the study, descriptive statistics of the individuals participating in the survey and findings and comments obtained as a result of data analysis are included.

3.1. Demographic Characteristics and Frequency Distributions of the Individuals Participating in the Study

The demographic characteristics of the individuals participating in the study and the frequency distributions of their answers to the questions asked about the study are given in the Table 1.

Gender	Male	Female				
Ν	52	76				
%	40.6	59.4				
Age	<21	21-30	31-40	41-50	51-60	61-70
Ν	28	12	28	28	8	24
%	21.8	9.4	21.8	21.8	6.4	18.8
Educational status	Primary school	High school	University	Postgraduate		
Ν	40	52	28	8		
%	31.25	40.6	21.8	6.2		
Income level	<4000	4000-6000	6000-8000	8000-10000	10000+	
Ν	24	4	12	16	72	
%	18.8	3.2	9.4	12.8	56.2	
Occupational	Public	Private sector	Student	Retire	Self-employment	Housewife
Ν	8	12	32	24	12	40
%	6.4	9.4	25.2	18.8	9.4	31.2

Table 1. Demographic characteristics and frequency distributions of the individuals participating in the study.

According to the demographic characteristics given in Table 1, 40.6% of the individuals participating in the survey are male and 59.4% are female. In the analysis made according to ages, It was determined 21.8% are under 21; 9.4% are between 21-30; 21.8% were between 31-40; 21.8% were between 41-50; 6.4% were between 51-60 and 18.8% were between 61-70. In the study conducted by Oğuzhan Yıldız and Arslan (2021) in Erzurum, the lowest age group of the participants was determined as the 61-70 age group with 4.92%, while the highest age group was determined as the 21-30 age group with 41.80%.

Considering the answers given by the individuals participating in the survey according to their education level, it was revealed that 31.25% were primary school graduates, 40.6% were secondary school graduates, 21.8% were university graduates and 6.2% were postgraduates. Considering the income levels, 18.8% are below 4000, 3.2% are between 4000-6000, 9.4% are between 6000-8000, 12.8% are between 8000-10000 and 56.2% are It was determined that 2 of them had an

income of 10000 or more. When the occupations of the individuals participating in the study are examined, 6.4% work in the public sector, 9.4% work in the private sector, 25.2% are students, 18.8% are retired, 9.4% are self-employed and 31.2% are self-employed. It was determined that 2 of them were housewives. In the study conducted by Karakaya and Kırıcı (2016) in Bingöl, 6.8% of the consumers are tradesmen, 7.3% are retired, 7.8% are self-employed, 8.3% are workers, 18% are 5% were students, 23.4% were housewives and 27.9% were civil servants.

3.2. Analysis of the Answers Given to Questions Related to Demographic Characteristics using the Chi-Square Independence Test

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more" differs depending on gender (P<0.05). While 68.4% of women preferred chicken meat, this rate was found to be 30.8% for men. Additionally, while 23.1% of men consume fish meat, 5.3% of women consume fish meat. In the study conducted by Olgunoğlu et al. (2014) in Adıyaman, it was

found that the consumption rate of red meat and chicken was higher than the consumption rate of fish.

Table 2. Distribution of the c	uestion "Which type	of animal product do you	a consume more?" depending on	gender.
--------------------------------	---------------------	--------------------------	-------------------------------	---------

		Which type of animal produc	t do you consume more?	
		Chicken	Fish	Meat
	Mala	16	12	24
Condon	Wale	30.8%	23.1%	46.2%
Gender	Famala	52	4	20
Female	remaie	68.4%	5.3%	26.3%

Pearson Chi-Square: 19.612, P= 0.000.

Table 3. Distribution of the question "What do you pay attention to when buying fish?" depending on gender.

		What do	you pay attent	tion to when buying	fish?	
		Price	Taste	Freshness	Small Fishbone	All
	Mala	0	4	24	8	12
Condon	Male	0.0%	8.3%	50.0%	16.7%	25.0%
Genuer	Ermele	4	12	16	0	36
	Female	5.9%	17.6%	23.5%	0.0%	52.9%

Pearson Chi-Square: 26.953, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What do you pay attention to when buying fish differs depending on gender?" (P<0.05). While 50% of men pay attention to freshness, this rate was found to be 23.5% for women. Additionally, while 5.9% of women pay attention to the price, 0% of men do not pay attention to the price.

Table 4. Distribution of the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more?" depending on age.

		Which type of animal product do you consume more?			
		Chicken	Fish	Meat	
	-01	20	0	8	
	<21	71.4%	0.0%	28.6%	
21- 31- Age	21.20	4	0	8	
	21-30	33.3%	0.0%	66.7%	
	21 40	20	4	4	
	51-40	71.4%	14.3%	14.3%	
	41.50	12	0	16	
	41-30	42.9%	0.0%	57.1%	
	51 60	8	0	0	
	31-00	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%	
	61 70	4	12	8	
	01-70	16.7%	50.0%	33.3%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 65.039, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more" varies depending on age (P<0.05). While 100% of the 51-60 age group consumed chicken meat, this rate was found to be 16.7% in the 61-70 age group. In addition, while 50% of individuals between the ages of 61-70 consumed fish, it was found to be 0% in the age ranges under 21, 21-30, 41-50 and 51-60.

		If your answer is no, what is your reason?		
		Taste	Price	Difficulty purchasing
	21.20	4	0	0
	21-30	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%
_	21.40	0	4	0
1 00	51-40	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%
Age	41.50	4	0	0
	41-30	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%
	61 70	0	0	4
	01-70	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%

Table 5	5. Distribution	of the question	ı "If your ansv	ver is no,	what is you	r reason?" o	lepending on age.
			-		1		

Pearson Chi-Square: 32.000, P= 0.000.

If your answer is no, a significant difference emerged as a result of the Chi-square independence test performed to determine whether the question "What is your reason?" varies depending on age (P<0.05). While 100% of individuals between the ages of 21-30 and 41-50 stated that they do not

consume fish due to taste incompatibility, individuals between the ages of 31-40 stated that they do not consume fish due to its price. 100% of individuals between the ages of 61-70 stated that they do not consume fish due to the difficulty of purchasing it.

Table 6. Distribution of the question "If your answer is yes, how often do you consume fish" depending on age.

		If your answer is yes, how often do you consume fish			
		Once a week or more	Once a month or more	Once a year or more	
	-21	8	4	16	
	<21	28.6%	14.3%	57.1%	
	21.20	0	4	4	
	21-50	0.0%	50.0%	50.0%	
	21 40	4	12	8	
1 00	51-40	16.7%	50.0%	33.3%	
Age	41.50	4	12	8	
	41-30	16.7%	50.0%	33.3%	
	51.60	0	0	8	
	51-00	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%	
	61 70	12	4	4	
	01-70	60.0%	20.0%	20.0%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 38.076, P= 0.000.

If your answer is yes, a significant difference emerged as a result of the Chi-square independence test performed to determine whether the question "How often do you consume fish differs depending on age" (P<0.05). While 60% of individuals aged 61-70 consume fish once a week or more, 20%

stated that they consume fish once a year or more. While 100% of individuals aged 51-60 stated that they consumed fish once a year or more, 14.3% of individuals under 21 years of age stated that they consumed fish once a month or more.

		What kind of seafood do you consume most?		
		Marine fish	Freshwater fish	
	-21	24	4	
	<21	85.7%	14.3%	
	21.20	4	4	
	21-50	50.0%	50.0%	
31-4	21.40	24	0	
	51-40	100.0%	0.0%	
Age	41.50	20	4	
51-60	41-30	83.3%	16.7%	
	51 60	4	4	
	51-00	50.0%	50.0%	
	61 70	20	4	
	01-70	83.3%	16.7%	

Table 7. Distribution of the question "what kind of seafood do you consume most?" depending on

Pearson Chi-Square: 17.216, P= 0.004.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What kind of seafood do you consume most" varies depending on age (P<0.05). When the individuals participating in the survey were asked about the type of seafood they consume most, 100% of individuals in the 31-40 age group stated that they consumed marine fish, while 50% of individuals in the 21-30 and 51-60 age groups stated that they consumed marine fish. While the rate of participants consuming freshwater fish is 50% between the ages of 21-30 and 51-60, this rate is 14.3% for participants under 21. In the study conducted by Bolat and Telli (2019) in Denizli, 72% of the individuals participating in the survey preferred marine fish, while the rate of those who preferred both marine fish and freshwater fish was 23%. The rate of those who prefer freshwater fish remained at 5%.

Table 8 . Distribution of the question	"Which of the following fish do y	you consume more?" de	pending on age.

		Which of the follo	owing fish do you consume more?	
		Trout	Anchvoy	Bonito
	-21	8	16	4
	<21	28.6%	57.1%	14.3%
	21.20	4	4	0
$Age \qquad \qquad \boxed{ \begin{array}{c} 21-30 \\ \hline 31-40 \\ \hline 41.50 \end{array} } $	50.0%	50.0%	0.0%	
	21.40	0	24	0
	31-40	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%
	4	16	4	
	41-50	16.7%	66.7%	16.7%
51-60	51 (0	4	4	0
	51-60	50.0%	50.0%	0.0%
	(1.70	4	20	0
	01-70	16.7%	83.3%	0.0%

Pearson Chi-Square: 27.816, P= 0.002.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which of the following fish do you consume more?" varies depending on age (P<0.05). The proportion of individuals participating in the survey who consume trout is 50% in the 21-30 and 51-60 age range, while it is 0% in the 31-40 age range. While 100% of individuals between the ages of 31-40 consumed anchovies, 14.3% of individuals under 21 years old stated that they consumed bonito. Gürel et al. (2017) in the study conducted in the central district of Ağrı province, when the fish species most preferred by consumers were examined, it was found that 60.70% consumed anchovy, 13.55% consumed trout and at least 2.71% consumed fish. It was determined that they consumed horse mackerel.

		What do you pay attention to when buying fish?				
		Price	Taste	Freshness	Small Fishbone	All
	-21	0	4	12	0	12
	<21	0.0%	14.3%	42.9%	0.0%	42.9%
	21.20	0	4	0	4	0
	21-30	0,0%	50.0%	0.0%	50.0%	0.0%
Age	21.40	4	4	4	4	8
	31-40	16.7%	16.7%	16.7%	16.7%	33.3%
	41.50	0	0	16	0	8
	41-30	0.0%	0.0%	66.7%	0.0%	33.3%
	51.60	0	0	4	0	4
	51-00	0.0%	0.0%	50.0%	0.0%	50.0%
	61 70	0	4	4	0	16
	01-70	0.0%	16.7%	16.7%	0.0%	66.7%

Table 9. Distribution of the question "What do you pay attention to when buying fish" depending on age.

Pearson Chi-Square: 81.752, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was performed to determine whether the question "What do you pay attention to when buying fish varies depending on age" (P<0.05). 66.7% of individuals between the ages of 31-40 stated that they pay attention to freshness when buying fish. 14.3% of the participants under 21 stated that they pay attention to the taste.

Table 10. Distribution of the question	"What is the most important reason	n for fish consumption?'	depending on age.
--	------------------------------------	--------------------------	-------------------

		What is the most important reason for fish consumption?			
		Delicious	Healthy	Both of them	
-21	-21	8	0	20	
	<21	28.6%	0.0%	71.4%	
	21.20	8	0	0	
	21-30	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%	
	31-40	4	12	8	
1 00		16.7%	50.0%	33.3%	
Age	41.50	0	8	16	
	41-50	0.0%	33.3%	66.7%	
	51.60	0	4	4	
	31-00	0.0%	50.0%	50.0%	
	61.70	0	4	20	
	61-70	0.0%	16.7%	83.3%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 73.434, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was performed to determine whether the question "What is the most important reason for consuming fish?" varies depending on age (P<0.05). While 100% of the surveyed individuals between the ages of 21-30 stated that they consume fish because it is delicious, 16.7% of individuals between the ages of 61-70 stated that they consume fish because it is healthy. Yüksel et al. (2011) in their study in Tunceli province, when asked about their reasons for choosing fish, 31% stated that they consumed fish only for a healthy and balanced diet, 7% stated that they consumed fish only for taste, and 62% stated that they consumed fish for both reasons.

		Which type of animal product do you consume more?			
		Chicken	Fish	Meat	
	Drimoury ashaal	32	4	4	
	Primary school	80.0%	10.0%	10.0%	
	High asheal	32	8	12	
Educational status	High school	61.5%	15.4%	23.1%	
Euucationai status	TT::	4	4	20	
	University	14.3%	14.3%	71.4%	
	$\begin{array}{c} \text{High school} & 32\\ 61.5\\ \\ \hline \\ \text{University} & 4\\ \hline \\ 14.3\\ \\ \hline \\ \text{Postgraduate} & 0\\ 0.0\% \end{array}$	0	0	8	
		0.0%	0.0%	100.0%	

Table 11. Distribution of the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more?" depending on education level.

Pearson Chi-Square: 50.000, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more" differs depending on education level (P<0.05). While 80% of primary school graduates consume more chicken meat, 14.3% of university graduates stated that they consume chicken meat. While 100% of postgraduate graduates consumed more red meat, 10% of primary school graduates stated that they consumed fish.

Table 12. Distribution of the question "Do you consume fish" depending on education level.

		Do you consume fish?		
		Yes	No	
	Drimory, ashool	32	8	
	Primary school	80.0%	20.0%	
		52	0	
Educational status	High school	100.0%	0.0%	
Educational status	TT	20	8	
	Oniversity	71.4%	28.6%	
	Destano dueto	8	0	
	Postgraduate	100.0%	0.0%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 17.241, P= 0.001.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Do you consume fish" differs depending on education level (P<0.05). While 100% of the individuals who participated in the survey with secondary and postgraduate education stated that they consumed fish, 20% of primary school graduates and 28.6% of university graduates stated that they did not consume fish.

Table 13. Distribution of the question "If your answer is no, what is your reason?" depending on education level.

		If your answer is no, what is your reason?		
		Taste incompatibility	Price	Difficulty purchasing
	Drimenne och och	0	4	4
Educational status	Primary school	0.0%	50.0%	50.0%
Educational status	TT :	8	0	0
	University	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%

Pearson Chi-Square: 16.000, P= 0.000.

If your answer is no, a significant difference emerged as a result of the Chi-square independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What is your reason?" differs depending on education level (P<0.05).

Although 100% of the participants who were university graduates stated that they did not consume fish due to incompatibility of taste, 50% of the primary school graduates stated that they did not consume fish due to the difficult price

and 50% due to the difficulty of purchasing.

		If your answer is yes, how often do you consume fish?		
		Once a week or more	Once a month or more	Once a year or more
	Drimory school	8	4	20
	Primary school	25.0%	12.5%	62.5%
	High school	8	24	20
Educational status		15.4%	46.2%	38.5%
Educational status	University	12	4	4
		60.0%	20.0%	20.0%
	Postgraduate	0	4	4
		0.0%	50.0%	50.0%

Table 14. Distribution of the question "If your answer is yes, how often do you consume fish" depending on education level.

Pearson Chi-Square: 28.100, P= 0.000.

If your answer is yes, a significant difference emerged as a result of the Chi-square independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "How often do you consume fish differs depending on education level?" (P<0.05). While 60% of university graduates stated that they

consumed fish once a week or more, 12.5% of primary school graduates stated that they consumed fish once a month or more. 62.5% of primary school graduates and 20% of university graduates stated that they consume fish once or more a year.

Table 15. Distribution of the question	"Which of the following fish do you consu	me more?" depending on education level.
--	---	---

		Trout	Anchovy	Bonito
	Drimory ashaal	12	24	0
	Primary school	33.3%	66.7%	0.0%
	High school	8	40	4
Educational status		15.4%	76.9%	7.7%
Educational status		4	12	4
	University	20.0%	60.0%	20.0%
	Destandusts	0	8	0
	Postgraduate	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%

Pearson Chi-Square: 14.787, P = 0.022.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which of the following fish do you consume more?" varies depending on educational level (P<0.05). While 33.3% of primary school graduates stated that they consumed more trout, 100% of postgraduate graduates stated that they consumed more anchovies. In addition, 20% of university graduates stated that they consumed bonito more, while 7.7% of secondary school graduates stated that they consumed bonito more.

Table 16. Distribution of the question "What do you pay attention to when buying fish, depending on education level?"

		What do you pay attention to when buying fish, depending on education level?				
		Price	Taste	Freshness	Small Fishbone	All
	Drimory ashool	4	4	12	0	16
	Primary school	11.1%	11.1%	33.3%	0.0%	44.4%
	High school	0	8	16	8	20
Educational status		0.0%	15.4%	30.8%	15.4%	38.5%
Educational status	University	0	4	4	0	12
		0.0%	20.0%	20.0%	0.0%	60.0%
	De stans de sta	0	0	8	0	0
	Postgraduate	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%

Pearson Chi-Square: 37.252, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What do you pay attention to when buying fish varies depending on education level?" (P<0.05). While 11.1% of primary school graduates stated that they pay attention to the price when buying fish, 100% of postgraduate graduates pay attention to its freshness; While 20% of university graduates stated that they pay attention to whether it is delicious, 15.4% of secondary school graduates stated that they pay attention to whether it has fewer strings.

Fable 17. Distribution of the question	"What is the most important reason for	or consuming fish?"	depending on education level.
---	--	---------------------	-------------------------------

		What is the most important reason for consuming fish?		
		Delicious	Healthy	Both of them
	Drimory cohool	0	8	28
	Primary school	0.0%	22.2%	77.8%
	High school	16	16	20
Educational status		30.8%	30.8%	38.5%
Euucational status	University	4	4	12
		20.0%	20,0%	60,0%
	Postgraduate	0	0	8
		0.0%	0.0%	100.0%

Pearson Chi-Square: 24.471, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was performed to determine whether the question "What is the most important reason for consuming fish?" varies depending on education level (P<0.05). While 30.8% of secondary school graduates stated that they consume fish because it is delicious, 30.8% stated that they consume fish because it is healthy. 100% of postgraduate graduates stated that they consume fish for both reasons.

Table 18. Distribution of the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more?" depending on income level.

		Which type of animal product do you consume more?			
		Chicken	Fish	Meat	
	<4000	24	0	0	
	<4000	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%	
	4000 6000	0	0	4	
	4000-0000	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%	
	6000 8000	0	12	0	
Income level	0000-8000	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	
	8000 10000	12	0	4	
	8000-10000	75.0%	0.0%	25.0%	
	10000	32	4	36	
	10000>	44.4%	5.6%	50.0%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 125.576, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more" varies depending on income level (P<0.05). Among the respondents, the rate of those who consume chicken meat more is 100% among those with an income of less than

4,000, while it is 44.4% among those with an income of over 10,000. While 100% of the participants between 6000-8000 stated that they consume fish meat more, the rate of those consuming fish meat more is 5.6 among participants over 10000.

		If your answer is yes, how often do you consume fish?			
		Once a week or more	Once a month or more	Once a year or more	
	.4000	0	4	20	
	<4000	0.0%	16.7%	83.3%	
	4000 6000	0	4	0	
	4000-6000	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	
.	6000 8000	4	8	0	
income iever	0000-8000	33.3%	66.7%	0.0%	
	8000 10000	4	4	4	
	8000-10000	33.3%	33.3%	33.3%	
	10000	20	16	24	
	10000>	33.3%	26.7%	40.0%	

Table 19. If your answer is yes, distribution of the question "How often do you consume fish" depending on income level.

Pearson Chi-Square: 38.267, P= 0.000.

If your answer is yes, a significant difference emerged as a result of the Chi-square independence test performed to determine whether the question "How often do you consume fish differs depending on income level?" (P<0.05). Of the individuals who said they consumed fish, 83.3% of those with an income below 4000 stated that they consumed fish once a year or more, while 33.3% of individuals between 8000-10000 stated that they consumed fish once a month or more. Those

who consume fish once a month or more include 100% of the individuals in the range of 4000-6000. Karakaya et al. (2020) in the study conducted in Erzincan province, when asked about the frequency of fish consumption, the rate of people consuming fish once every five days was found to be 50%, the rate of people consuming fish once a month was 40%, and the rate of people consuming fish once a week was 10%.

Table 20. Distribution of the question "What kind of seafood do you consume most?" depending on income level.

		What kind of seafood do you consume most?		
		Marine fish	Freshwater fish	
	<1000	20	4	
	<4000	83.3%	16.7%	
Income level	4000 6000	4	0	
	4000-6000	100.0%	0.0%	
	6000 8000	12	0	
	0000-8000	100.0%	0.0%	
	8000 10000	8	8	
	8000-10000	50.0%	50.0%	
	10000	52	8	
	10000>	86.7%	13.3%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 16.014, P = 0.003.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What kind of seafood do you consume most" varies depending on income level (P<0.05). When the participants were asked about the marine fish they consume most, 100% of individuals with incomes between 4000-6000 and 6000-8000 stated that they consumed marine fish, while 13.3% of individuals with income over 10000 and 16.7% of individuals with incomes between 4000-6000 stated that they consumed freshwater fish. They stated that they consumed more freshwater fish.

		Which of the following fish do you consume more?		
		Trout	Anchovy	Bonito
	<1000	4	16	4
	<4000	16.7%	66.7%	16.7%
	1000 6000	0	4	0
	4000-6000	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%
Incomo lovol	6000 8000	0	12	0
income ievei	0000-8000	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%
	8000-10000	8	8	0
		50.0%	50.0%	0.0%
	10000>	12	44	4
		20.0%	73.3%	6.7%

Table 21. Distribution of the question "Which of the following fish do you consume more?" depending on income level.

Pearson Chi-Square: 18.597, P = 0.017.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which of the following fish do you consume more?" varies depending on income level (P<0.05). While 50% of individuals with income between 8000-100000 stated that they consumed more trout, 50% stated that they consumed more anchovy. While 6.7% of individuals with income over 10000 stated that they consumed bonito more, 100% of individuals with income between 4000-6000 and 6000-8000 stated that they consumed anchovy more.

Table 22. Distribution of the c	uestion "What do	you pay attention to	when buying fish?" d	epending on income level.
Table 22. Distribution of the c	juestion what uo	you pay allonion to	when ouying hom. a	copenants on meome lever.

		What do yo	What do you pay attention to when buying fish?			
		Price	Taste	Freshness	Small Fishbone	All
	<1000	0	8	12	0	4
	<4000	0.0%	33.3%	50.0%	0.0%	16.7%
	4000 6000	0	0	0	4	0
	4000-6000	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%
Terrore long	<000 8000	4	4	0	0	4
income level	0000-8000	33.3%	33.3%	0.0%	0.0%	33.3%
	8000 10000	0	4	0	4	8
	8000-10000	0.0%	25.0%	0.0%	25.0%	50.0%
	10000	0	0	28	0	32
	10000>	0.0%	0.0%	46.7%	0.0%	53.3%

Pearson Chi-Square: 142.454, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What do you pay attention to when buying fish varies depending on income level" (P<0.05). When the participants were asked about the features they pay attention to when buying fish, 33.3% of individuals with an income between 6000-8000 said that they pay attention to the price, while 100% of individuals with an income between 4000-6000 said that they pay attention to whether it has small fishbones. While 50% of individuals with an income below 4000 pay attention to its freshness, 25% of individuals with an income between 8000-10000 stated that they pay attention to its deliciousness. 53.3% of individuals with income over 10,000 stated that they pay attention to all of these features.

		What is the most important reason for consuming fish?			
		Delicious	Healthy	Both of them	
	<1000	12	4	8	
	<4000	50.0%	16.7%	33.3%	
	4000 6000	4	0	0	
	4000-0000	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%	
Income lovel	6000 8000	0	4	8	
income ievei	0000-8000	0.0%	33.3%	66.7%	
	8000 10000	4	4	8	
	8000-10000	25.0%	25.0%	50.0%	
	10000	0	16	44	
	10000>	0.0%	26.7%	73.3%	

Table 23. Distribution of the question "What is the most important reason for consuming fish?" depending on income level.

Pearson Chi-Square: 53.418, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What is the most important reason for consuming fish?" varies depending on income level (P<0.05). While 25% of individuals with income between 8000-10000 stated that the most important reason for consuming fish is its taste, 100% of individuals with income between 4000-6000 stated that they consume fish for its taste. While 16.7% of individuals with incomes between 4000-6000 before while 16.7% of the individuals with an income over 10000 people stated that they consume fish because it is healthy. 73.3% of individuals with income over 10,000 stated that they consume fish for both reasons.

Table 24. Distribution of the question	"Which type of animal	product do you consume more?"	depending on the profession.

		Which type of animal product do you consume more?			
		Chicken	Fish	Meat	
	Dahlia	0	0	8	
	Public	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%	
	Deinste sonten	4	0	8	
	Private sector	33.3%	0.0%	66.7%	
	Student	24	0	8	
Occupational	Student	75.0%	0.0%	25.0%	
Occupational	Detine	4	12	8	
	Kettre	16.7%	50.0%	33.3%	
	Salf amployment	8	0	4	
	Sen-employment	66.7%	0.0%	33.3%	
	Housewife	28	4	8	
		70.0%	10.0%	20.0%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 68.677, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which type of animal product do you consume more" differs depending on the profession (P<0.05). Among the respondents, 75% of students who were students stated that they consumed chicken meat more, while 10% of housewives stated that they consumed fish meat more. While 16.7% of retirees stated that they consumed more chicken meat, 50% stated that they consumed more fish meat.

		Do you consume	fish?
		Yes	No
	Duklia	8	0
	Public	Do you consum Yes 8 100.0% r 66.7% 32 100.0% 24 100.0% 12 100.0% 28 70.0%	0.0%
	Drivete en ster		4
	Private sector		33.3%
	C tan d and	32	0
)	Student	Yes I 8 0 100.0% 0 8 2 66.7% 3 32 0 100.0% 0 24 0 100.0% 0 12 0 100.0% 0 28 1	0.0%
	Detine		0
	Retire	100.0%	0.0%
	Salf and large and	12	0
	Sen-employment	100.0%	0.0%
		28	12
	Housewife	70.0%	30.0%

Table 25. Distribution of the question "Do you consume fish" depending on profession.

Pearson Chi-Square: 26.819, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was performed to determine whether the question "Do you consume fish" differs depending on the profession (P<0.05). While 100% of public employees, students, retirees and self-employed people state that they consume fish, this rate is 66.7% for private sector employees. 33.3% of private sector employees and 30% of housewives stated that they do not consume fish.

Table 26. If your answer is yes, distribution of the question "How often do you consume fish" depending on your profession.

		How often do you consume fish?			
		Once a week or more	Once a month or more	Once a year or more	
	Dublic	0	8	0	
	Public	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	
	Drivete castor	0	4	4	
	Private sector	0.0%	50.0%	50.0%	
	0, 1, ,	8	4	20	
Qaarma tiamal	Student	25.0%	12.5%	62.5%	
Occupational	Dating	12	4	8	
	Retire	50.0%	16.7%	33.3%	
	Calf and large ant	4	4	4	
	Sell-employment	33.3%	33.3%	33.3%	
	II	4	12	12	
	Housewife	14.3%	42.9%	42.9%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 37.675, P= 0.000.

If your answer is yes, a significant difference emerged as a result of the Chi-square independence test performed to determine whether the question "How often do you consume fish differs depending on the profession" (P<0.05). While 100% of the participants working in the public sector stated that they

consumed fish once a month or more, 62.5% of the students stated that they consumed fish once a year or more. While 50% of retirees stated that they consumed fish once a week or more, 16.7% stated that they consumed fish once a month or more.

		What kind of seafood do you consume most?		
		Marine fish	Freshwater fish	
	Dublic	8	0	
	rublic	100.0%	0.0%	
	Deinste sonten	8	0	
	Private sector	100.0%	0.0%	
	Ctu dout	24	8	
Occurretional	Student	75.0%	25.0%	
Occupational	Datina	20	4	
	Reure	83.3%	16.7%	
	Calf and large and	8	4	
	Sen-employment	66.7%	33.3%	
	Hanamifa	28	4	
	nousewile	87.5%	12.5%	

Table 27. Distribution of the question "What kind of seafood do you consume most?" depending on profession.

Pearson Chi-Square: 7.371, P = 0.0194.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "What kind of seafood do you consume most" differs depending on the profession (P<0.05). Among the participants, 100% of those working in the public and private sectors stated that they consumed marine fish the most, while 75% of the students stated that they consumed marine fish the most. While 33.3% of self-employed workers stated that they consumed more freshwater fish, 12.5% of housewives stated that they consumed freshwater fish.

Table 28. Distribution of the question "Which of the following fish do you consume more?" depending on profession.

		Which of the following fish do you consume more?			
		Trout	Anchovy	Bonito	
	Dublic	0	4	4	
	Public	0.0%	50.0%	50.0%	
	Drivete conten	0	8	0	
	Private sector	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	
	Student	12	16	4	
Occurational		37.5%	50.0%	12.5%	
Occupational	Retire	4	20	0	
		16.7%	83.3%	0.0%	
	0.10 1	4	8	0	
	Sell-employment	33.3%	66.7%	0.0%	
		4	28	0	
	nousewire	12.5%	87.5%	0.0%	

Pearson Chi-Square: 43.155, P= 0.000.

A significant difference emerged as a result of the Chisquare independence test, which was conducted to determine whether the question "Which of the following fish do you consume most" differs depending on the profession (P<0.05). 100% of private sector employees stated that they consume more anchovy. While 12.5% of the students stated that they consumed more bonito, 12.5% of the housewives stated that they consumed more trout. While 87.5% of housewives report that they consume more anchovies, this rate is 50% for public employees.

4. Conclusion and Recommendations

According to the results of our study, 76 women (59.4%) and 82 men (40.6%) that participated in this survey of the individuals who participated in our survey were women and 52 were men. When asked which type of animal product they prefer, 68.4% of women answered chicken, while this rate was 30.8% for men. Therefore, it is seen that a significant portion of women living in the region choose chicken meat in their animal product choices. The fact that 50% of men responded to

the question of what do you pay attention to when buying fish, while this rate was 23.5% for women, also supports the previous consumer behavior. In age-related consumption preferences, the increase in fish meat preference as age increases indicates that fish is important for health. When asked which type of fish they consume, a significant portion of the participants answered sea fish, which can be attributed to the region's proximity to the sea. Regarding the relationship between education levels and fish consumption, it has been observed that fish consumption increases as the education level increases. In this sense, it is understood that the health benefits of fish meat are more clearly understood with the education level and thus it is preferred. Another conclusion drawn from the study that income level also affects preferences significantly is that there is a direct relationship between income level and fish consumption preference. In this case, it should be evaluated especially by sector officials. Parameters such as taste, health, and price change fish consumption preferences.

This study we have conducted is about how individuals shape their fish meat preferences; price, freshness and health significantly affect their preferences. The fact that participants with higher education levels know that fish is an important food item for health when it is associated with the level of education has led us to the fact that the health benefits of fish meat should be explained in this region and similar regions. These and similar studies are extremely valuable data sources for the future of our country, which has fish consumption well below the world average.

Acknowledgment

This article was produced from the non-thesis Master's study of Nurcan Şimşek at Atatürk University.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Abdikoğlu, D. İ., Azabağaoğlu, M. Ö., & Unakıtan, G. (2015). Tekirdağ ilinde balık tüketim eğilimlerinin belirlenmesi. Balkan and Near Eastern Journal of Social Sciences, 1(1), 69-75. (In Turkish)
- Arslan, G. (2019). Determination of fish consuming habits of vocational school students from different families. *Marine Science and Technology Bulletin*, 8(2), 40-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.33714/masteb.622072</u>
- Arslan, G., & Oğuzhan Yıldız, P. (2021). Türkiye su ürünleri sektörüne genel bakış. Menba Kastamonu Üniversitesi Su Ürünleri Fakültesi Dergisi, 7(1), 46-57. (In Turkish)
- Atay, D., Aydın, F., & Yavuzcan Yıldız, H. (2002). Su ürünleri yetiştirme ilkeleri. Ankara Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi

Yayınları. (In Turkish)

- Aydın, M., & Karadurmuş, U. (2012). Consumer behaviors for seafood in Ordu province. SUMAE Yunus Araştırma Bülteni, 3, 18-23.
- Beyazbayrak, Z. (2014). Kahramanmaraş ili merkez ilçede balık tüketim alışkanlıkları (Master's thesis, Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University). (In Turkish)
- Bolat, Y., & Telli, Ö. (2019). Denizli ili su ürünleri tüketim alışkanlıklarının belirlenmesi. *Acta Aquatica Turcica*, *15*(1), 80-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.22392/egirdir.446836</u> (In Turkish)
- Çiçek, E., Akgün, H., & İlhan, S. (2014). Determination of fish consumption habits and preferences in Elazığ province. *Yunus Research Bulletin*, 14(1), 3-11.
- Ercan, O., & Şahin, A. (2016). Kahramanmaraş kent merkezinde balık eti tüketim analizi. *KSÜ Doğa Bilimleri Dergisi*, *19*(1), 51-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.18016/ksujns.57816</u> (In Turkish)
- Gürel, E., Doğan, H. G., Polat, S., Yeşilayer, N., & Buhan, E. (2017). Ağrı ili merkez ilçede yaşayan bireylerin balık tüketim alışkanlıklarının belirlenmesi. *Gaziosmanpaşa Bilimsel Araştırma Dergisi*, 6(3), 26-35. (In Turkish)
- Karakaya, E., & Kırıcı, M. (2016). Bingöl ili kent merkezinde balık eti tüketim alışkanlıklarının belirlenmesi. *International Journal of Social and Economic Sciences*, 6(1), 74-85. (In Turkish)
- Karakaya, E., Sökmen, T. Ö., & Kırıcı, M. (2020). Erzincan ili balık tüketim alışkanlıklarının belirlenmesi. *Menba Kastamonu Üniversitesi Su Ürünleri Fakültesi Dergisi*, 6(1), 18-29. (In Turkish)
- Oğuzhan Yıldız, P., & Arslan, G. (2021). Determination of shellfish consumption preferences and habits in Erzurum province. *Marine Science and Technology Bulletin*, 10(1), 16-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.33714/masteb.760548</u>
- Olgunoğlu, İ. A., Bayhan, Y. K., Olgunoğlu, M. P., Artar, E., & Ukav, İ. (2014). Adıyaman ilinde balık eti tüketim alışkanlıklarının belirlenmesi. *Gıda Teknolojileri Elektronik Dergisi*, 9(1), 21-25. (In Turkish)
- Şen, İ., & Şahin, A. (2017). Mersin'de yaşayan tüketicilerin balık tüketim tercihlerini demografik faktörler açısından ele alan bir araştırma. Journal of Economics and Administrative Sciences, 19(1), 33-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.5578/jeas.48561</u> (In Turkish)
- TÜİK. (2019). *Su ürünleri 2019*. Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK). <u>https://www.tuik.gov.tr/</u> (In Turkish)
- Wikipedia. (2024). *Kütahya province*. Wikipedia. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/K%C3%BCtahya_Provin ce
- Yüksel, F., Karaton Kuzgun, N., & Özer, E. İ. (2011). Tunceli ili balık tüketim alışkanlığının belirlenmesi. *Karadeniz Fen Bilimleri Dergisi*, 2(3), 28-36. (In Turkish)



JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION

ISSN: 2757-6620

PRENSIP

https://prensip.gen.tr

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Investigation of Quality Parameters of Trout Fishballs Cooked with Sous-Vide Method

Nesim Maskan ^[D] • Pınar Oğuzhan Yıldız[™] ^[D]

Atatürk University, Faculty of Fisheries, Erzurum/Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article History Received: 26.03.2024 Accepted: 31.05.2024 First Published: 22.06.2024

Keywords Cooking Quality Shelf life Sous vide Troutball



ABSTRACT

This study was conducted to determine the changes in the quality of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) meatballs cooked with the sous-vide technique. Vacuum-packaged fishball were cooked using the sous-vide method under two different temperature (60 °C and 80°C) and two different times (15 and 20 minute) and stored at $4\pm1°C$ for 25 days. The results showed that sous vide cooking technique at 80 °C for 20 min. effectively limited bacterial growth. It was determined that sous vide cooking technology significantly reduced the levels of total volatile base nitrogen (TVB-N) and thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) at the end of storage. As the cooking temperature increased, the pH values of the meatball samples also increased. According to the sensory evaluation results, the meatballs cooked with the sous vide technique received higher scores than the control group, and the most preferred cooking temperature and time was determined to be 60°C for 20 minutes.

Please cite this paper as follows:

Maskan, N., & Oğuzhan Yıldız, P. (2024). Investigation of quality parameters of trout fishballs cooked with sous-vide method. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 5(2), 121-130. https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1459198

1. Introduction

Nowadays, the increase in the number of working women and the population and the difficult working conditions have increased the demand for nutritious and delicious foods that can be prepared in a short time. In this context, the ready-made food sector has gained importance (Oğuzhan & Yangılar, 2014).

Sous vide (vacuum cooking) is a cooking method that finds application in homes and in the ready-made food industry. Cooking methods are important in terms of both nutrition and health. Sous vide has recently become widely used as a popular cooking method around the world. Sous vide cooking is a healthier technique because less nutritional value of meat is lost compared to traditional cooking (Kaya, 2021).

It is also a method that provides quality food for the readymade food industry. It is also advantageous both in terms of sensory aspects and in terms of significantly inhibiting microorganism activities (Creed & Reeve, 1998; Seyyar, 2015).

Sous vide is the process of cooking food at controlled temperatures and in vacuum packages. With this technique, foods are cooked alone or together with products such as sauce and spices in vacuum packaging (Haskaraca & Kolsarici, 2013).

Sous vide cooking is the process of cooking vacuumpackaged foods by immersing them in a temperature-controlled

[™] Correspondence

E-mail address: pinaroguzhan@atauni.edu.tr

water bath for the desired time. In French, sous vide means "under vacuum". The cooking process is generally carried out at low temperatures below 100°C and requires longer cooking time than traditional cooking methods (Bozova, 2020; Yıldız & Yılmaz, 2020; Ceylan, 2021; Öztürk et al., 2021).

Seafood is very important in human nutrition due to its unique composition. It is considered a quality food for human consumption due to its high protein content, essential amino acid profile and other nutritional benefits such as omega-3/omega-6 fatty acids. It is also known to be rich in unsaturated fatty acids, minerals and vitamins (A, B1, B2, D and K) (Erol, 2013; Abdel-Wahab et al., 2020). It contains many functional properties such as high quality and easily digestible proteins, polyunsaturated fatty acids beneficial to health, and vitamins and minerals necessary for human nutrition (Jayasinghe et al., 2013).

Seafood is a food with extremely high nutritional value and beneficial for health and has an important place in consumption. Therefore, products prepared with seafood are of great importance in ready meal consumption. In this context, fish meatball cooked with the sous vide technique are a delicious and nutritious alternative product for the ready-made food industry (Bilgin & Metin, 2022). The sous-vide technique improves the sensory properties of foods and preserves their nutritional values. In addition, this method preserves various vitamins and fatty acids found in foods (Yıldız & Yılmaz, 2020).

Especially for young people and school-age children, products prepared with fish (meatball, croquette, nugget, finger, sausage, cake) are healthy and delicious alternative products for children with fast food habits. Today, in addition to traditional cooking methods, there is a need to apply innovative techniques that have many advantages (fast and safe, longer shelf life, preserves nutritional value, and is heated for consumption). In the literature review, no study was found on cooking rainbow trout meatballs with the sou vide technique. With this study, the possibilities of cooking fish meatball using the sous vide technique at appropriate temperatures and times was be investigated and the quality parameters of rainbow trout balls cooked with the sous vide technique at different temperatures and times was be examined.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Material

Rainbow trout fillets (approximately 10 kg) an average of 250 ± 25 g weight and 28 ± 0.8 cm lengths were supplied from Atatürk University Faculty of Fisheries, and meatball ingredients were be supplied from a local market in Erzurum.

2.2. Method

The filleted fish meat was passed through a meat grinder

(Empero EM.08). The formulation of meatball dough is shown in Table 1.

Meatball composition	Amount (%)
Minced fish	75
Breadcrumbs	7.5
Salt	1.5
Ground red pepper	0.25
Ground black pepper	0.25
Cumin	0.25
Allspice	0.25
Garlic powder	15

This mixture was kneaded well to obtain meatball dough and the meatballs were shaped into 20 grams. Then the trout meatballs were packaged using a vacuum packaging machine (Multivac A 300/16 Sepp Haggenmuller D 87787 Wolfertschwenden, Germany), the packaged samples were cooked using sous vide cooking equipment (Lacia SVC107). They were divided into 5 groups: K: control, A: 60°C for 15 min, B: 60°C for 20 min, C: 80°C for 15 min, D: 80°C for 20 min. Fish meatball in the control group were grilled at 175°C for 3 minutes on each side. The cooked meatballs were cooled quickly (30 minutes) in ice water. All meatball samples were stored in the refrigerator at 4±1 °C for 25 days and sensory, microbiological and chemical sensory analyses of the samples were performed on days 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 of storage. The study was carried out in three replications and two parallels, and the results are given as average.

2.3. pH, TBARS and TVB-N

A 10 g sample was taken from the meatball sample, 100 ml of pure water was added, homogenized and pH value measured (Gökalp et al., 2001).

For TBARS analysis, 2 g of each meatball sample was taken and 12 ml of Trichloroacetic acid solution was added to it. It was homogenized in ultra-turrax and filtered through filter paper. 3 ml of the filtrate was taken and 3 ml of Thiobarbituric acid (0.02 M) was added to it, the mixed and cooled test tubes were centrifuged (2000 g). Readings were made at the absorbance value in the spectrophotometer (530 nm) (Lemon, 1975).

TBARS (µmol malonaldehyde/g): [(absorbance/ k(0.06) x 2/1000) x 6.8] x 1000/ sample weight

TVB-N value was determined as reported by K121lkaya (2020). An amount of 10 g of the meatball sample was taken, 90 ml of 0.6 N perchloric acid solution was added to it, homogenized with ultra-turrax, filtered, 50 ml of the mixture was taken and phenol phthalein was dropped on it. Then, 6.5 ml of 20% NaOH solution was added, 100 ml of boric acid solution and 3-5 drops of methyl red + methylene blue indicator were

added to the distillate flask and the process was continued until 100 ml of distillate was collected. The resulting distillate was titrated with 0.1 N HCl solution until it turned gray, and the total amount of volatile base-nitrogen was calculated by taking into account the HCl solution spent in the titration.

TVB-N (mg/100g) = n x 16.8 mg nitrogen

2.4. Microbiological Analysis

For microbiological analyses, 10 grams of the meatball sample was taken and placed in a stomacher bag under aseptic conditions, and 90 ml of sterile saline (0.85% NaCl) was added to it and homogenized in the stomacher device. Then, appropriate dilutions were prepared from the homogenate and inoculated into the medium using the surface spreading method. The results are given as log cfu/g. Plate Count Agar was used for total aerobic mesophilic and psychrotrophic bacteria analyses, and the media were stored at 30 °C for 2 days and 10 °C for 7 days, respectively (Baumgart et al., 1986; Vanderzant & Splittstoesser, 1992). De Man Rogosa Sharpe Agar was used for lactic acid bacteria count, and Violet Red Glucose Agar was used for Enterobacteriaceae count, and the media were incubated for 2 days at 30 °C under anaerobic conditions (Baumgart et al., 1986; Gökalp et al., 2001). For yeast-mold counting, Rose Bengal Chloramphenicol medium was used and incubated at 25°C for 5 days (Halkman, 2005). For Pseudomonas counting, Pseudomonas Agar Base+CFC Selective Agar+Supplement Agar was used and the media were incubated under aerobic conditions at 25°C for 2 days (Gökalp et al., 2001).

2.5. Sensory Evaluation

The meatballs were subjected to sensory analysis by a group of 10 panelists in terms of appearance, texture, odor, taste, color and general acceptability. Meatball samples were given scores between 1-9 (1: unconsumable; 2: very bad; 3: bad; 4: somewhat bad; 5: neither good nor bad; 6: somewhat good, 7: good, 8: very good, 9: quite good) (Choi et al., 2014). The samples were presented to the panelists after being removed from the vacuum packages without any further processing at room temperature.

2.6. Statistical Analysis

The data obtained from the research were evaluated by applying the analysis of variance technique according to the random trial plan with the SPSS program. All measurements were performed twice. Duncan's multiple comparison tests (p<0.05) was used to compare the means of significant sources of variation.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Microbiological Analysis

The microbiological analysis results of samples are given in Table 2. According to the results of analysis of variance, the difference between the groups was found to be statistically significant (p<0.05)

Although the limit value for the total number of bacteria in order to see spoilage in fish is 7-8 log CFU/g, most regulations accept 6-7 log CFU/g as the limit to ensure more reliability for human health (Mol Tokay, 2009). The initial total mesophilic aerobic number of fresh rainbow trout was determined as 3.32 log CFU/g, and a significant decrease in bacterial load was detected after the sous vide process. In our study, the number of mesophilic bacteria in the groups that underwent sous vide treatment varied between 2.00 and 5.95 log CFU/g. While the number of bacteria reached the upper limit value in the control group on the 15th day of storage, it was determined that this value was not reached in the sous vide treated groups. As the cooking process and time increased, bacterial growth slowed down due to exposure to heat treatment. It was observed that the applied cooking treatment had a positive effect on slowing down the growth of total mesophilic aerobic bacteria. After sous vide cooking, significant decreases were determined in the TMAB counts of all samples compared to the control group. Erdem et al. (2022) observed that the decrease in bacterial count may be due to the breakdown of the, denaturation of proteins, plasma membrane and change in the permeability of the cell wall of microorganisms. Additionally, the advantage of the sous vide cooking technique is to prevent aerobic bacterial growth. (Haskaraca & Kolsarıcı, 2013; Erdem & Gökmen, 2022). Gürel İnanlı and Yaz (2020) reported that the numbers of aerobic mesophilic bacteria were higher in the control group (raw pike fish) compared to the sous vide applied groups, which is in agreement with our study. Pongestkul and Benjakul (2022) noted that the total bacterial counts of dried sour-salted fish treated with the sous vide technique at different levels increased in parallel with storage.

Psychrotrophic bacterial (TPAB) growth was slower in the sous vide technique applied groups compared to the control group. The lowest number of bacteria was observed in group D meatball samples. It has been determined that as the temperature and period increases, the growth of psychrotrophic bacteria slows down accordingly. Mol et al. (2012) emphasized that the numbers of psychrotrophic bacteria were lower in whiting fish cooked with the sous vide technique. Çağlak et al. (2017) while the total number of psychrophilic bacteria was 3.72 log CFU/g in fresh zander samples, it was detected below the value of 1.47 log CFU/g in the first 7 days in the sous vide treated groups.

The initial yeast-mold counts of all meatball samples were found to be 2.00 log CFU/g and increased as the storage period progressed. It is thought that this situation is caused by both heat treatment and vacuum packaging. Bozova and İzci (2021), no yeast or mold was detected in meagre fillets applied sous vide during the 42-day storage period. Russo et al. (2023) noted that mussel samples cooked sous vide at temperatures higher than 80°C inhibited the growth of yeast and mold.

Differences between groups and storage days were found to be statistically significant (p<0.05) on lactic acid bacteria (LAB) count. LAB counts were determined as 2.00 log CFU/g in all groups at the beginning of storage, and an increase was observed during the storage period. Bongiorno et al. (2018) reported that LAB was not detected in mussel samples after the sous vide process.

Enterobacteriaceae counts were initially detected as 2.00

log CFU/g in all meatball groups. Depending on the heat treatment applied, lower Enterobacteriaceae numbers were obtained in the sous vide method groups compared to the control group during the storage period. Similarly, while the number of Enterebacteriaceae was determined as 2.87 log CFU/g in raw pikeperch fillets, it was determined as 2.00 log CFU/g, <100 log CFU/g and <100 log CFU/g in fillets applied sous vide at different temperatures and times (65°C 45 min, 75°C 20 min. and 90°C 10 min.), respectively (Modzelewska-Kapituła et al., 2022).

Table 2. Microbiological analysis results of count of raw and sous vide-cooked front meatbans	Table	2. M	icrobio	logical	analysis	results of	count of	raw and	sous vide-	cooked tro	ut meatballs.
--	-------	------	---------	---------	----------	------------	----------	---------	------------	------------	---------------

G 1	Stances pariod (days)	Microbiological Analysis (log CFU/g)						
Samples	Storage period (days)	TMAB	ТРАВ	TYM	LAB	ENTERO		
	0	$3.32{\pm}0.23^{\rm f}$	$3.21{\pm}0.29^{\rm f}$	<2.00 ^e	<2.00 ^e	$<\!\!2.00^{\rm f}$		
К	5	4.99±0.04 ^e	4.93±0.10 ^e	$2.10{\pm}0.06^{e}$	2.41 ± 0.19^{d}	$2.34{\pm}0.12^{e}$		
	10	$6.37{\pm}0.16^{d}$	$6.36{\pm}0.07^{d}$	$3.10{\pm}0.24^{d}$	$2.38{\pm}0.08^d$	$2.70{\pm}0.20^{d}$		
	15	7.14±0.13°	7.13±0.17°	4.73±0.16°	$2.32{\pm}0.04^{\circ}$	$3.08 \pm 0.09^{\circ}$		
	20	9.41±0.24 ^b	$7.33{\pm}0.16^{b}$	$5.56{\pm}0.25^{b}$	$4.13{\pm}0.18^{b}$	$3.95{\pm}0.08^{b}$		
	25	$11.51{\pm}0.09^{a}$	11.05 ± 0.08^{a}	6.35±0.13ª	$4.97{\pm}0.11^{a}$	4.65 ± 0.13^{a}		
	0	<2.00 ^e	<2.00 ^e	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^d		
	5	$2.03{\pm}0.04^{e}$	2.11±0.15 ^e	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^d	$< 2.00^{d}$		
	10	$2.92{\pm}0.04^{d}$	$2.90{\pm}0.18^{d}$	$2.14{\pm}0.12^{c}$	$2.15{\pm}0.01^{d}$	$2.01{\pm}0.02^{d}$		
A	15	$4.04{\pm}0.05^{\circ}$	3.90±0.04°	$2.63{\pm}0.23^{b}$	2.68±0.13°	2.16±0.01°		
	20	$5.00{\pm}0.07^{b}$	$4.95{\pm}0.07^{b}$	$3.00{\pm}0.00^{b}$	$3.00{\pm}0.01^{b}$	$2.83{\pm}0.08^{b}$		
	25	$5.95{\pm}0.05^{a}$	5.63±0.21ª	$3.51{\pm}0.32^{a}$	$3.42{\pm}0.19^{a}$	$3.00{\pm}0.00^{a}$		
	0	<2.00 ^e	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^c		
	5	$2.02{\pm}0.03^{e}$	$2.05{\pm}0.07^{d}$	$<2.00^{d}$	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^c		
р	10	$2.57{\pm}0.19^{d}$	$2.30{\pm}0.21^d$	$2.10{\pm}0.14^d$	$2.04{\pm}0.05^{d}$	<2.00 ^c		
В	15	3.72±0.24°	$3.40{\pm}0.24^{\circ}$	2.50±0.11°	2.35±0.16°	$2.07{\pm}0.09^{\circ}$		
	20	4.58±0.21 ^b	4.72 ± 0.22^{b}	$2.95{\pm}0.07^{\text{b}}$	$2.93{\pm}0.04^{b}$	$2.45{\pm}0.09^{b}$		
	25	$5.78{\pm}0.16^{a}$	$5.50{\pm}0.41^{a}$	$3.25{\pm}0.15^{a}$	3.15 ± 0.09^{a}	$2.83{\pm}0.04^{a}$		
	0	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^e	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^c		
	5	$<2.00^{d}$	<2.00 ^e	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^c		
C	10	$2.36{\pm}0.25^d$	$2.35{\pm}0.09^{d}$	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^c		
C	15	3.10±0.19°	$2.95 \pm 0.07^{\circ}$	$2.11 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$	$2.11 \pm 0.15^{\circ}$	<2.00 ^c		
	20	4.07 ± 0.25^{b}	$3.90{\pm}0.14^{b}$	$2.90{\pm}0.01^{b}$	2.67 ± 0.14^{b}	2.26±0.12 ^b		
	25	5.35±0.12ª	$5.07{\pm}0.10^{a}$	$3.14{\pm}0.19^{a}$	$2.99{\pm}0.02^{a}$	$2.54{\pm}0.06^{a}$		
	0	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^b	<2.00 ^b		
	5	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^b	<2.00 ^b		
D	10	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^d	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^b	$<2.00^{b}$		
D	15	2.59±0.13°	$2.45 \pm 0.16^{\circ}$	<2.00 ^c	<2.00 ^b	<2.00 ^b		
	20	$3.22{\pm}0.04^{b}$	$3.13{\pm}0.18^{b}$	$2.28{\pm}0.12^{b}$	$2.14{\pm}0.12^{b}$	$2.07{\pm}0.09^{b}$		
	25	4.88±0.14 ^a	4.61 ± 0.12^{a}	2.85±0.02 ^a	$2.82{\pm}0.10^{a}$	2.53±0.04 ^a		

Different letters in the same column indicate statistical difference (p<0.05). K: Control, A: 60°C for 15 min, B: 60°C for 20 min, C: 80°C for 15 min, D: 80°C for 20 min.

3.2. pH, TBARS and TVB-N

pH, TBARS and TVB-N analysis results of samples are given in Table 3. While it was determined that the group and storage days had a significant effect on the pH value (p < 0.05), the interaction of group and storage days did not have a significant effect on the pH value (p>0.05). While the pH value of raw trout meatballs were 6.34 at the beginning of storage, it increased to 6.35, 6.39, 6.42 and 6.45 in groups A, B, C and D after sous vide cooking, respectively. As can be seen in Table 2, the pH value was affected by the cooking process. As the cooking temperature increased, the pH values of the meatball samples also increased because of heat treatment. del Pulgar et al. (2012) reported that this increase in pH was attributed to the formation of disulfide bonds during the cooking process. Becker et al. (2016) stated that increasing temperature causes an increase in pH, mainly due to protein denaturation and change in protein load. Our study is consistent with previous studies showing that the pH value of fish meat increases with increasing temperature (Mohan et al., 2017; Cui et al., 2019; Cropotovaa et al., 2019; Erdem et al., 2022; Pongsetkul et al., 2022).

The difference between the groups was found to be statistically significant (p<0.05) on TBARS value. As can be seen in Table 2, increases were detected depending on the progression of storage time and the highest TBARS value was determined in the control group samples at the end of storage. Varlık et al. (1993), the consumable limit value for fresh fish is between 7-8 mg MDA/1000 g, and it was observed that only the control group samples ($8.00\pm0.20 \mu$ mol MA/kg) exceeded this limit value on the 20th day of storage. There are studies showing that the TBARS value decreases as the cooking temperature increases in the sous vide cooking technique for the same period of time. It is thought that decreasing the cooking time due to increasing temperature reduces lipid oxidation. It is also stated that the compounds detected by TBARS analysis are

very reactive and the TBARS value may be determined lower since the compounds they form by interacting with different compounds such as amino acids and proteins in meat are not determined as a result of the analysis (Özyürek, 2021). Yuan et al. (2023) found that the TBARS values of Russian sturgeon meat cooked with the sous vide technique increased depending on storage. Karki et al. (2023) stated that the TBARS values of tilapia fish cooked with the sous vide technique were within acceptable consumption limits until the end of storage. Yang et al. (2023) reported that the TBA value of tilapia fillets processed using the sous-vide method (0.47 \pm 0.06 mg MDA/kg) was significantly lower compared to the control group (0.69 \pm 0.03 mg MDA/kg) (p<0.05). They observed that the sous-vide cooking method has the capacity to effectively inhibit the lipid oxidation process in meat.

While the initial TVB-N value in raw trout meatballs was determined as 8.16 mg/100 g, it were found to be 6.99, 6.56, 5.95 and 5.20 mg/100 g in group A, B, C and D meatball samples after sous vide cooking, respectively. As the storage period increased, TVB-N values increased accordingly. At the end of storage, TVB-N values of all groups were determined below the acceptable limit (\leq 35 mg/100 g) (Varlık et al., 1993). Similarly, Zhan et al. (2022) found that the TVB-N contents of three groups of scallop samples cooked at different temperatures (70°C and 75°C) with control and sous vide techniques increased with increasing storage time. Kurt Kaya (2022) emphasized that when the quality of marinated crayfish was examined in brine, vacuum packaging and sous-vide cooking, increases were detected depending on time in all groups during storage (p < 0.05). Gokoglu et al. (2024) noted that they determined lower TVB-N values in fish and shrimp cooked with sous-vide compared to control samples. It has been reported that this condition is associated with bacterial growth and microbial proliferation.

Table 3. pH, TVB-N and TBARS values of raw and sous vide-cooked trout meatba	alls.
--	-------

Samplag	Storego poriod (dova)	Analysis				
Samples	Storage period (days)	TVB-N (mg/100 g)	TBARS (µmol MA/kg)	pН		
	0	$8.16{\pm}0.14^{\rm f}$	$1.25{\pm}0.07^{\rm f}$	$6.34{\pm}0.07^{d}$		
K	5	13.61±0.52 ^e	2.84±0.09 ^e	6.38±0.03 ^{cd}		
	10	17.06 ± 0.15^{d}	4.30 ± 0.07^{d}	6.50 ± 0.02^{abc}		
	15	20.38±0.24°	$6.27 \pm 0.17^{\circ}$	6.48 ± 0.08^{bc}		
	20	24.40±0.23 ^b	$8.00{\pm}0.20^{b}$	$6.57{\pm}0.02^{ab}$		
	25	$28.46{\pm}0.45^{a}$	9.65±0.19ª	$6.62{\pm}0.02^{a}$		
	0	$6.99{\pm}0.07^{\rm f}$	$1.05{\pm}0.07^{ m f}$	$6.35{\pm}0.08^{d}$		
	5	10.40±0.16 ^e	1.72±0.11 ^e	$6.45{\pm}0.04^{cd}$		
	10	14.73 ± 0.23^{d}	$2.97{\pm}0.15^{d}$	6.56 ± 0.06^{bc}		
	15 17.66±0.31 ^c		$4.37 \pm 0.26^{\circ}$	6.48±0.03 ^{cd}		
	20	$21.30{\pm}0.17^{b}$	5.46 ± 0.11^{b}	$6.64{\pm}0.03^{ab}$		
	25 24.70±0.02ª		6.24±0.13 ^a	$6.70{\pm}0.02^{a}$		

		Analysis					
Samples	Storage period (days)	TVB-N (mg/100 g)	TBARS (µmol MA/kg)	рН			
	0	$6.56{\pm}0.14^{\rm f}$	1.12±0.09 ^f	6.39±0.07°			
	5	$9.70{\pm}0.25^{e}$	1.79±0.09 ^e	6.49 ± 0.02^{bc}			
	10	$13.90{\pm}0.04^{d}$	$3.19{\pm}0.06^{d}$	$6.61 {\pm} 0.02^{ab}$			
В	15	16.98±0.27°	$4.70\pm0.05^{\circ}$	$6.55 {\pm} 0.07^{b}$			
	20	20.73 ± 0.20^{b}	$6.00{\pm}0.04^{b}$	6.68±0.03ª			
	25	23.99±0.02ª	$6.72{\pm}0.08^{a}$	6.70±0.11ª			
С	0	$5.95{\pm}0.08^{\rm f}$	$1.17{\pm}0.04^{\rm f}$	$6.42 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$			
	5	9.01±0.17 ^e	$1.88{\pm}0.15^{e}$	6.55 ± 0.00^{bc}			
	10	13.17 ± 0.25^{d}	$2.57{\pm}0.28^{d}$	$6.60{\pm}0.0^{ab}$			
	15	16.27±0.38°	4.36±0.43°	$6.65{\pm}0.07^{ab}$			
	20	$20.30{\pm}0.22^{b}$	6.33±0.07 ^b	$6.75{\pm}0.07^{a}$			
	25	23.22±0.05ª	$6.98{\pm}0.03^{a}$	$6.75 {\pm} 0.04^{a}$			
	0	$5.20{\pm}0.17^{\rm f}$	1.19±0.01 ^f	6.45±0.08°			
	5	8.72±0.10 ^e	$2.00{\pm}0.07^{e}$	$6.57 {\pm} 0.04^{bc}$			
D	10	12.65 ± 0.32^{d}	2.99 ± 0.19^{d}	$6.62{\pm}0.02^{ab}$			
D	15	15.65±0.28°	$4.98{\pm}0.28^{\circ}$	$6.73{\pm}0.03^{a}$			
	20	$19.54{\pm}0.28^{b}$	6.74 ± 0.06^{b}	$6.74{\pm}0.02^{a}$			
	25 22.72±0.09 ^a		$7.20{\pm}0.12^{a}$	$6.75{\pm}0.07^{a}$			

Table 3. (continued)

Different letters in the same column indicate statistical difference (p<0.05). K: Control, A: 60°C for 15 min, B: 60°C for 20 min, C: 80°C for 15 min, D: 80°C for 20 min.

3.3. Sensory Evaluation Results

Sensory features are one of the important factors that consumers consider (Cai et al., 2021). Sensory evaluation results of samples are given in Figure 1 (a-d). According to the sensory analysis results, it was determined that group and storage days had a significant effect (p<0.05), while the interaction of group and storage days did not have a significant effect (p>0.05). It was found that the meatballs cooked with the sous vide technique during storage had higher scores than the control. It is thought that this is due to the fact that the aroma components in the product remain in the package by processing the products in vacuum packaging in the sous-vide technique, increasing their sensory preferability. A decrease was observed in all sample groups in parallel with storage. It was determined that group B meatballs were the most preferred group, receiving the highest score in terms of sensory parameters. Similarly, Ceylan and Gokoglu (2022), emphasized that the sensory scores of squid cooked sous vide at 60 °C were higher than those cooked at 80 °C. Karki et al. (2023) reported that the sensory evaluation scores of tilapia samples cooked with sous vide were lower in the herb supplemented group than in the control group at the beginning of storage. It appeared to significantly improve the texture and overall acceptability of sous vide-treated fish burgers, but had no effect on color or odor (Zhou et al., 2021).



Figure 1. Sensory evaluation results of raw and sous vide-cooked trout meatballs.

4. Conclusion

Today, in addition to traditional cooking methods, there is a need to apply innovative techniques that have many advantages (fast and safe, longer shelf life, preserves nutritional value, and is heated for consumption). Sous vide is a modern culinary and processing method with these advantages. Sous vide cooking the significantly affected chemical, sensory and microbiological properties of rainbow trout meatballs. As a result, it was clearly observed that higher cooking temperature or longer processing time led to lower microorganisms. In addition, it was determined that the TBARS and TVB-N values of the samples applied with this technique remained well below the levels considered inconsumable throughout the storage period. Sensory analysis results showed that sous-vide cooking method increases the flavor of fish and is a good alternative method for cooking it. It was found that the sous vide technique is an effective cooking method on the quality parameters of trout meatballs. While there were a limited number of studies on the application of sous vide technique to fish and fish products in the literature review, no studies were found in which this technique was applied to rainbow trout meatballs. In this context, the results of the research will shed light on future studies.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by the Ataturk University, Unit of Research Projects under Grant number (FYL-2023-12555). This work was produced from the master thesis prepared by the first author under the supervision of the second author.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Abdel-Wahab, M., El-Sohaimy, S. A., Ibrahim, H. A., & El-Makarem, H. S. A. (2020). Evaluation the efficacy of clove, sage and kiwifruit peels extracts as natural preservatives for fish fingers. *Annals of Agricultural Sciences*, 65(1), 98-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aoas.2020.06.002
- Baumgart. J., Firnhaber, J., & Spicher, G. (1986). *Mikrobiologische untersuchung von lebensmitteln*. Behr's Verlag.
- Becker, A., Boulaaba, A., Pingen, S., Krischek, C., & Klein, G. (2016). Low temperature cooking of pork meatphysicochemical sensory aspects. *Meat Science*, 118, 82-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2016.03.026</u>
- Bilgin, Ş., & Metin, S. (2022). Bazı doğal antioksidanların sudak (Sander lucioperca) köftelerinin kalitesine etkisi. Journal of Limnology and Freshwater Fisheries Research, 8(2), 140-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.17216/limnofish.900731</u> (In Turkish)

- Bongiorno, T., Tulli, F., Comi, G., Sensidoni, A., Andyanto, D., & Iacumin, L. (2018). Sous vide cook-chill mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*): evaluation of chemical, microbiological and sensory quality during chilled storage (3°C). *LWT*, 91, 117-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2017.12.005</u>
- Bozova, B. (2020). Bitki özütlerinin sous vide uygulanmasında sarıağız balığı (Argyrosomus regius) filetolarının kalite özelliklerine etkisi (Doctoral dissertation, Isparta Uygulamalı Bilimler University). (In Turkish)
- Bozova, B., & İzci, L. (2021). Effects of plant extracts on the quality of sous vide meagre (*Argyrosomus regius*) fillets. *Acta Aquatica Turcica*, *17*(2), 255-266. https://doi.org/10.22392/actaquatr.798584
- Çağlak, E., Karslı, B., & Şişmanlar Altıkaya, E. (2017). Investigation of quality change of zander (Sander lucioperca Linnaeus, 1758) stored at +2±1°C'de appling sous-vide technique in different temperature combinations. Yunus Araştırma Bülteni, 17(1), 71-81. https://doi.org/10.17693/yunusae.v17i26557.274312
- Cai, W. Q., Chen, Y. W., Dong, X. P., Shi, Y. G., Wei, J. L., & Liu, F. J. (2021). Protein oxidation analysis based on comparative proteomic of Russian sturgeon (*Acipenser* gueldenstaedti) after sous-vide cooking. Food Control, 121, 107594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107594</u>
- Ceylan, A. (2021). Sous-vide pişirme tekniğinin kalamar (Loligo vulgaris) kasının tekstür ve fizikokimyasal özelliklerine etkisinin araştırılması (Master's thesis, Akdeniz University). (In Turkish)
- Ceylan, A., & Gokoglu, N. (2022). Improving the physicochemical and textural properties of squid (*Loligo* vulgaris) muscle by sous-vide cooking in different timetemperature combinations. Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology, 31(8), 872-881. https://doi.org/10.1080/10498850.2022.2108360
- Choi, Y. M., Jung, K. C., Jo, H. M., Nam, K. W., Choe, J. H., Rhee, M. S., & Kim, B. C. (2014). Combined effects of potassium lactate and calcium ascorbate as sodium chloride substitutes on the physicochemical and sensory characteristics of lowsodium frankfurter sausage. *Meat Science*, 96(1), 21-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2013.06.022</u>
- Creed, P. G., & Reeve, W. (1998). Principles and applicatios of sous vide processed foods. In S. Ghazala (Ed.), Sous vide and cook-chill processing for the food industry (pp. 25-56). Aspen Publishers.
- Cropotovaa, J., Mozuraityte, R., Standal, I. B., & Rustad, T. (2019). The influence of cooking parameters and Ccilled storage time on quality of sous-vide atlantic mackerel (Scomber scombrus). Journal of Aquatic Food Product and Technology, 28(5), 505-518. https://doi.org/10.1080/10498850.2019.1604595
- Cui, Z. K., Dubova, H., & Mo, H. Z. (2019). Effects of sous vide cooking on physicochemical properties of squid. *Journal of Hygienic Engineering and Design*, 29, 35-40.

- del Pulgar, J. S., Gázquez, A., & Ruiz-Carrascal, J. (2012). Physicochemical, textural and structural characteristics of sous-vide cooked pork cheeks as affected by vacuum, cooking temperature, and cooking time. *Meat Science*, *90*(3), 828-835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2011.11.024</u>
- Erdem, N., & Gökmen, S. (2022). Sous vide teknolojisinin genel özellikleri ve gıdalardaki uygulamaları: Et endüstrisi örneği. 1st International Conference on Engineering and Applied Natural Sciences. Konya. (In Turkish)
- Erdem, N., Karakaya, M., Babaoğlu, A. S., & Unal, K. (2022). Effects of sous vide cooking on physicochemical, structural, and microbiological characteristics of cuttlefish, octopus, and squid. *Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology*, 31(7), 636-648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10498850.2022.2092433</u>
- Erol, P. (2013). Sodyum laktat ve thymol'ün aynalı sazan balığı (Cyprinus carpio L.)'ndan yapılan köftelerin bazı mikrobiyolojik, kimyasal ve duyusal nitelikleri üzerine etkisi (Master's thesis, Fırat University). (In Turkish)
- Gökalp, H. Y., Kaya, M., Zorba, O., & Tulek, Y. (2001). Et ve ürünlerinde kalite kontrolü ve laboratuvar uygulama kılavuzu. Atatürk Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Yayını. (In Turkish)
- Gokoglu, N., Yatmaz, H. A., Ceylan, A., Gumuş, B., Toktas, B., & Korun, J. (2024). Effects of different sous-vide cooking conditions on the chemical, physical, microbiological, and sensory quality of fish and shrimp during storage at 3 °C. *International Journal of Food Engineering*, 20(2), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ijfe-2023-0245</u>
- Gürel İnanlı, A., & Yaz, Y. (2020). Assessment of chemical, microbiological and sensory quality of sous vide cooked *Luciobarbus esocinus* (Heckel, 1843) during chilled storage. *Progress in Nutrition*, 22(2), 617-625. <u>https://doi.org/10.23751/pn.v22i2.9316</u>
- Halkman, A. K. (2005). *Merck gıda mikrobiyolojisi uygulamaları*. Başak Matbaacılık Ltd. Şti. (In Turkish)
- Haskaraca, G., & Kolsarıcı, N. (2013). Sous vide cooking and its potential applications in meat industry. *Akademik Gıda*, *11*(2), 94-101.
- Jayasinghe, C. V. L., Silva, S. S. G., & Jayasinghe, J. M. J. K. (2013). Quality improvement of tilapia fish nuggets by addition of legume flour as extenders. *Journal of Food and Agriculture*, 6(1-2), 32-44. https://doi.org/10.4038/jfa.v6i1-2.5186
- Karki, S., Chowdhury, S., Dora, K. C., Murmu, P., & Nath, S. (2023). Influence of a traditional herb (*Bergenia ciliata*) from darjeeling himalayas on lipid oxidation and sensorial quality of sous-vide cooked tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology, 32(3), 256-268. https://doi.org/10.1080/10498850.2023.2199734

- Kaya, E. (2021). İstanbul ilinde belirlenen pilot caferestoranlarda "sous vide (vakumla pişirme)" tekniği ile hazırlanan sığır eti ve tavuk eti tercihinde tüketici profillerinin belirlenmesi (Master's thesis, Istanbul Gedik University). (In Turkish)
- Kızılkaya, P. (2020). Nanokompozit kaplama materyallerinin alabalık filetolarında kullanım imkânları (Doctoral dissertation, Atatürk University). (In Turkish)
- Kurt Kaya, G. (2022). The effects of different packaging methods and sous vide cooking on chemical, sensory, and microbiological changes of marinated crayfish (*Astacus leptodactylus* Esch., 1823). Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 46(10), e16919. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.16919
- Lemon, D. W. (1975). An improved TBA test for rancidity. Fisheries and Marine Service.
- Modzelewska-Kapituła, M., Pietrzak-Fiećko, R., Zakrzewski, A., & Więk, A. (2022). The influence of sous vide parameters on nutritional characteristics and safety of pikeperch fillets. *Foods*, 11(11), 1605. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11111605</u>
- Mohan, C. O., Ravishankar, C. N., & Srinivasa Gopal, T. K. (2017). Effect of vacuum packaging and sous vide processing on the quality of Indian white shrimp (*Fenneropenaeus indicus*) during chilled storage. *Journal* of Aquatic Food Product Technology, 26(10), 1280-1292. https://doi.org/10.1080/10498850.2016.1236869
- Mol Tokay, S. (2009). Vakum ambalajda pişirilmiş (sous vide) balikta kalite ve raf ömrünün belirlenmesi (Master's thesis, Istanbul University). (In Turkish)
- Mol, S., Ozturan, S., & Cosansu, S. (2012). Determination of the quality and shelf life of sous vide packaged whiting (*Merlangius merlangus* euxinus, Nordman, 1840) stored at cold (4°C) and temperature abuse (12°C). Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 36(6), 497-503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-4549.2011.00616.x</u>
- Oğuzhan, P., & Yangılar, F. (2014). Su ürünlerinin hazır yemek teknolojisindeki yeri ve önemi. *Erzincan University Journal of Science and Technology*, 7(1), 65-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.18185/eufbed.91310</u> (In Turkish)
- Öztürk, F., Gündüz, H., & Sürengil, G. (2021). The effects of essential oils on inactivation of *Listeria monocytogenes* in rainbow trout cooked with sous-vide. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 45(10), e15878. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.15878</u>
- Özyürek, F. B. (2021). Sous vide yönteminin konjuge linoleik asit içeriği zenginleştirilmiş köftenin kalite parametreleri ve depolama stabilitesi üzerine etkisi (Master's thesis, Nevşehir Hacı Bektaş Veli University). (In Turkish)
- Pongsetkul, J., & Benjakul, S. (2022). Impact of sous vide cooking on quality and shelf-life of dried sour-salted fish. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation,

46(1), e16142. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.16142

- Pongsetkul, J., Benjakul, S., Boonanuntanasarn, S., & Yongsawatdigul, J. (2022). Sensory characteristics and microbiological quality changes of Nile tilapia fillet processed by various sous-vide conditions during chilled storage. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 22(9), TRJFAS21079. <u>https://doi.org/10.4194/TRJFAS21079</u>
- Russo, G. L., Langellotti, A. L., Buonocunto, G., Puleo, S., Di Monaco, R., Anastasio, A., Vuoso, V., Smaldone, G., Baselice, M., Capuano, F., Garofalo, F., & Masi, P. (2023). The sous vide cooking of Mediterranean mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*): Safety and quality assessment. *Foods*, 12(15), 2900. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods12152900</u>
- Seyyar, E. (2015). Sous-vide yöntemi ile pişirilen alabalık filetolarında heterosiklik aromatik amin oluşumu ve bisfenol-a migrasyon düzeyinin belirlenmesi (Master's thesis, Atatürk University). (In Turkish)
- Vanderzant, C., & Splittstoesser, D. F. (1992). Compendium of methods for the microbiological examination foods, 3rd edition. American Public Health Assocation.
- Varlık, C., Uğur, M., Gökoğlu, N., & Gün, H. (1993). Su ürünlerinde kalite kontrol ilke ve yöntemleri. Gıda Teknolojisi Derneği Yayınları. (In Turkish)

- Yang, L., Li, Z., Xie, T., Feng, J., Xu, X., Zhao, Y., & Gao, X. (2023). Effects of sous-vide on quality, structure and flavor characteristics of Tilapia fillets. *Molecules*, 28(24), 8075. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28248075</u>
- Yıldız, M., & Yılmaz, M. (2020). Sous vide technique in Turkish literature. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, 8(3), 2318-2336. <u>https://doi.org/10.21325/jotags.2020.662</u>
- Yuan, Y. W., Cai, W. Q., Wang, M. Z., Liu, Y. T., Fu, J. J., & Chen, Y. W. (2023). Effects of sous vide cooking combined with ultrasound pretreatment on physicochemical properties and microbial communities of Russian sturgeon meat (*Acipenser gueldenstaedti*). *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 103(4), 2166-2174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.12369</u>
- Zhan, Y., Tu, C., Jiang, H., Benjakul, S., Ni, J., Dong, K., & Zhang, B. (2022). Effects of sous vide cooking on the physicochemical and volatile flavor properties of half-shell scallop (*Chlamys farreri*) during chilled storage. *Foods*, *11*(23), 3928. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11233928</u>
- Zhou, P., Feng, Q., Yang, X., Gao, R., Li, Y., Bai, F., Wang, J., Zhou, X., Wang, H., Xiao, F., Yang, X., Gao, X., & Zhao, Y. (2021). Sous vide pretreatment in cooking sturgeon fish burger: Effects on physicochemical properties and sensory characteristics. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 56(6), 2973-2982. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.14938</u>



JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION

ISSN: 2757-6620

https://prensip.gen.tr

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Growth, Yield Components and Tuber Yield Responses of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Varieties in High Altitude Regions of Türkiye

Ünlühan Tufan¹ **○** • Erdoğan Öztürk² **○**

¹Food Control Laboratory Directorate, Ankara/Türkiye ²Atatürk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Field Crops, Erzurum/Türkiye

ARTICLE INFO

Article History Received: 26.03.2024 Accepted: 19.06.2024 First Published: 22.06.2024

Keywords Adaptable Growth Potato varieties Tuber yield



ABSTRACT

Potato is one of Türkiye's strategic crops regarding food and economic benefits. However, the need for well-adapted and productive varieties is a production problem for the country. Therefore, evaluating such varieties with high yield potential and suitable for local environmental conditions is essential. Thus, this study was conducted to select potato varieties with good agronomic characteristics suitable for high-altitude regions such as Erzurum province in 2022. In the study, 12 potato varieties, seven local (Bahar, Kaya, Kafkas, Petek, Tas, Ayaz, Deniz) and five fixed (Pomqueen, Alegria, Marabel, Agria, and Marfona) were used as plant material. It was established according to the "Randomized Blocks" experimental design with three replications. The study's results revealed that the cultivars significantly affected all the variables. The highest plant height was recorded in the Pomqueen (89.6 cm) and Kaya (85.5 cm) varieties, while Kaya had the highest number of stems per hill (6.1 pieces). Concerning yield and yield components, the highest number of tubers per hill was recorded in Ayaz (17.5 pieces), while the highest tuber yield per hill and total tuber yield were recorded in Petek (1287.1 g and 5251.5 kg da-1). This variety was followed by standard Alegria (4497.5 kg da⁻¹) and local Kaya (4441.0 kg da⁻¹) varieties in total tuber yield. Therefore, considering the yield potential, especially local Petek and Kaya and standard varieties Alegria and Marabel were promising and recommended to growers in regions with high altitudes and similar agroecology.

Please cite this paper as follows:

Tufan, Ü., & Öztürk, E. (2024). Growth, yield components and tuber yield responses of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties in high altitude regions of Türkiye. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 5(2), 131-137. https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1455368

1. Introduction

One of the world's most widespread and vital crops, the potato is a staple food for most of the world's population and has significant health benefits. In world production, potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) are the world's third largest crop for human consumption after wheat and rice. Rich in carbohydrates, vitamins, protein, and minerals, potatoes are consumed by more than one billion people worldwide (FAO, 2008; CIP, 2010). Therefore, today, the potato crop is an inevitable solution to the problem of population growth and hunger in the world, primarily since it can be grown at many

latitudes and in almost all soil and climatic conditions (except in the equatorial region) (Shitikova et al., 2022).

Since potatoes can be grown from mid-altitude regions to the highest mountain peaks, from humid to dry areas, improvements in their productivity require the development of varieties that are best adapted to a wide range of environments (Kolech et al., 2015). Therefore, plant breeding programs should improve a crop's adaptability and tolerance to biotic stress to increase yield (Tessema et al., 2020).

Producers need high-yielding and stable varieties to reduce food demand and increase yield and quality significantly.

E-mail address: erozturk@atauni.edu.tr

Varieties with these traits can be easily adapted for long-term production in different environments. Therefore, varieties with these traits may overcome the challenges of genotype x variety interactions (Gedif & Yigzaw, 2014).

Variety performance is determined by the genotypic main effect, environmental influences, and the interaction between genotypes and environments (Yan et al., 2001). Hongyu et al. (2014) stated that it is essential to determine varieties' responses to different environments as part of the evaluation process, which will help breeders accurately determine the stability and adaptability of genotypes.

It has been emphasized that it is essential to identify the best-performing varieties on a regional basis to produce highyielding potato tubers of high marketing and processing quality (Bilate & Mulualem, 2016; Habtamu et al., 2016; Bekele & Haile, 2019). There are no varieties that are difficult to find and have many potentials suitable for all environments and all uses (Bradshaw, 2007). Therefore, evaluating genotype \times environment interactions can provide the most appropriate response to environmental adaptation. Tesfaye et al. (2012) reported that genotype, location, and genotype \times environment interactions significantly affected dry matter content, starch content, and yield of potato varieties. Similar results were reported by many potato researchers (Abbas et al., 2011; Asefa et al., 2016a; Wassu, 2016; Matin et al., 2017; Nasiruddin et al., 2017).

Selecting the suitable variety for the correct region is a critical parameter, as is taking many measures to grow high-yielding and high-quality potatoes. Nowadays, many variety

breeding studies are carried out for potatoes, and these varieties are transferred to different regions to determine the varieties with good adaptation, high quality, and high yield. This study aimed to select the potato varieties developed in our country with high adaptability and superior performance in terms of yield and quality for high-altitude regions such as Erzurum province.

2. Materials and Methods

The research was conducted in the farmer's field in the Yarımca Neighborhood of Aziziye District of Erzurum Province in 2022. The region is at 1853 m, at coordinates 39° 55' N and 41° 61' E. A total of 202.5 mm of rainfall was recorded during the plant growth period (May to October) of the experimental year, with the highest rainfall in May (89.3 mm) and June (80.4 mm). There was no rainfall (0 mm) in August. The average maximum and minimum temperatures during the study months were 9.1 and 22.0 °C, respectively. The highest temperatures were recorded in July (19.3 °C) and August (22.0 °C). As a result of the analysis of the physical and chemical properties of the soil of the test site, it was determined that it was slightly alkaline, low in lime, total nitrogen, and available phosphorus, medium in organic matter, and rich in plant-available potassium.

In the study, 12 potato varieties, seven local (Bahar, Kaya, Kafkas, Honeycomb, Taş, Ayaz, Deniz) and five fixed (Pomqueen, Alegria, Marabel, Agria, and Marfona) developed by Doga Seed in the borders of Gülşehir (The district of Nevşehir province in Türkiye) for different ecologies of the country were used as plant material (Table 1).

Variety	Origin	Time of Maturity	Utilisation Characteristics	
Agria	Germany	Mid Late	Table / Industrial	
Alegria	Germany	Mid Early	Table	
Ayaz	Türkiye (Nevşehir)	Late	Crisp	
Bahar	Türkiye (Nevşehir)	Late	French Fries / Table	
Deniz	Türkiye (Nevşehir)	Early	Table	
Taş	Türkiye (Nevşehir)	Early	Table	
Kafkas	Türkiye (Nevşehir)	Mid Early	Table	
Kaya	Türkiye (Nevşehir)	Late	French Fries / Table	
Marabel	Austria (Kaltenberg)	Mid Early	Table	
Marfona	Netherlands	Mid Early	Table	
Petek	Türkiye (Nevşehir)	Mid Early	French Fries / Table	
Pomqueen	Germany	Late	French Fries	

Table 1. Polato varieties and some characteristics	Table 1.	Potato	varieties	and so	ome cha	racteristics
---	----------	--------	-----------	--------	---------	--------------

The research was established using the "Randomized Blocks" experimental design with three replications. In the study's area, farmyard manure was homogeneously mixed with the soil in autumn before planting potatoes and left for winter. In addition, ammonium sulfate (12 kg da⁻¹) of nitrogen

fertilizers and 10 kg of phosphorus fertilizer triple super phosphate (P_2O_5) were applied before planting as a supplement to farm manure. Seed potato tubers of the varieties were planted by hand in May 2022 in hills with 70 cm between rows and 35 cm above rows. When the plants reached 5-10 cm in height, the first and second hoeing were 20-25 days after this hoeing. The earthing up and irrigation procedures were carried out according to climate and soil conditions from the beginning of flowering. Potato harvesting was carried out when the green parts of the potato yellowed and dried from the bottom, the stolons were separated from the main plant and the umbilical cord, and the tuber peel reached an average thickness, unpeelable feature, and a specific size. The data on plant height (cm), number of main stem per hill, number of tuber per hill, tuber yield per hill and total tuber yield (g and kg da⁻¹) were obtained from the two outermost rows and the middle two rows by ignoring the plants at the ends.

2.1. Statistical Analysis

All the data was analyzed using the SPSS package (SPSS, Version 20.0, SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). When the F-test indicated statistical significance at the p=0.05 level, the protected least significant difference (Protected DUNCAN) was used to separate the means (Steel & Torrie, 1980).

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Analysis of Variance

The results of the analysis of variance showed that potato cultivars had highly significant (p<0.01) differences in plant height, number of main stem per hill, number of tuber per hill, tuber yield per hill and total tuber yield (Table 2).

Table 2. F values on yield and yield component response variables of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.).

Source	DF	F Values					
		Plant Height	Stem Number Per Hill	Tuber Number Per Hill	Tuber Yield Per Hill	Total Tuber Yield	
Block	2						
Variety	11	21.920**	6.220**	13.110**	3.160**	6.506**	
Error	22						

**: Highly significant at 1% level of probability; Df: Degree of freedom.

3.2. Mean Performance of Varieties for Growth Traits and Yield Components

The mean plant height of potato varieties varied between 43.3-86.6 cm. The highest height was measured in Pomqueen, and the shortest in Ayaz. The average plant height was 65.4 cm. In terms of the highest plant height, Pomqueen (86.6 cm), Kaya (85.5 cm), and Alegria (79.6 cm) had a statistically insignificant plant height, while they differed significantly from the other varieties. Ayaz (43.3 cm), Marfona (46.9 cm), and Taş (52.6

cm) varieties had shorter plant heights than all other varieties (Table 3, Figure 1). The different ripening periods (early, medium early, medium late, and late) of the potatoes used in the study may have caused variability in terms of plant growth. In addition, plant height is also a cultivar trait. It can be directly related to many factors such as genetic structure, growing period (Karakuş et al., 2011), light period, temperature, irrigation, care treatments, and soil fertility. Therefore, significant differences were found among cultivars.

Table 3. Mean value of plant height, stem and tuber number per hill, tuber yield per hill and total tuber yield as affected by potato varieties.

Variety	Plant Height (cm)	Stem Number Per Hill	Tuber Number Per Hill	Tuber Yield Per Hill (g)	Total Tuber Yield (kg da ⁻¹)
Agria	65.0cd	5.7ab	6.5f	834.3de	3344.5cd
Alegria	79.6ab	5.6abc	14.0b	1102.3abc	4497.5ab
Ayaz	43.3f	4.8cde	17.5a	974.3bcd	3974.5bcd
Bahar	67.7c	5.2bcd	9.5e	719.5e	3145.0de
Deniz	74.4bc	5.1bcd	10.5de	1163.3ab	3895.5bcd
Taş	52.6ef	4.2e	10.0de	917.5bcde	3753.7bcd
Kafkas	57.5de	5.4abcd	11.0cde	810.6de	3304.5cd
Kaya	85.5a	6.1a	9.5e	1089.2abc	4441.0ab
Marabel	57.8de	5.9ab	12.5bcd	1048.8abcd	4277.0bc
Marfona	46.9f	4.0e	6.5f	567.9f	2315.0e
Petek	67.8c	4.5de	13.5bc	1287.1a	5251.5a
Pomqueen	86.6a	4.7cde	9.5e	902.0cde	3678.5bcd
Mean	65.4	5.2	10.9	1026.4	3823.2

Means followed by different letters in the same column are significantly different at 1% level of probability.



Figure 1. Influence of variety on plant height, stem and tuber number per hill, tuber yield per hill and total tuber yield of potato. Mean values with the same letter within the group are statistically similar at p<0.01.

The number of stems per hill was significantly affected by cultivar. The number of stems is related to the number of branches and leaves contributing to photosynthetic activity. An increase in the uptake of solar radiation can ensure higher photosynthesis and promote the synthesis and accumulation of carbohydrates, positively affecting the final tuber yield (White et al., 2007; Fantaw et al., 2019). Accordingly, the Kaya variety produced 6.1 stems per hill, higher than all other varieties. The lowest number of stems per hill was recorded for Marfona (4.0) and Taş (4.2) varieties (Table 3, Figure 1). This may be attributed to the natural genetic variation in the number of eyes on the tubers. Genetic differences among potato cultivars affect the number of shoots or eyes on tubers and, thus, the number of main stems (Struik & Wiersema, 1999; Getie et al., 2018). Potato varieties can show significant differences in plant height, number of primary branches, and tuber yield (Namugga et al., 2018). Increases in central stem density, which is affected by genetic structure, can lead to a rise in the number of tubers, and the size and weight of these tubers are determinants of potato

yield (Tsegaw, 2005; Zelalem et al., 2009). In other studies on the subject, it has been determined that both plant height and central stem number values of potato varieties show significant variability (Öner & Aytaç, 2016; Kaplan, 2018; Bekele, 2018; Çakır, 2019; Atasever, 2019; Özdemir & Arslanoğlu, 2021; Gül & Sefaoğlu, 2022; Asnake et al., 2023).

The number of tubers per hill of the varieties varied between 6.5 and 17.5 pieces. Ayaz variety ranked first in terms of the number of tubers per hill with 17.5 pieces, followed by Alegria (14.0 pieces), Petek (13.5 pieces), and Marabel (12.5 pieces) varieties. The lowest number of tubers per hill was found in Agria and Marfona varieties (6.5 pieces) (Table 3, Figure 1). When the cultivars used were compared, there was a significant difference in the number of tubers per hill in most of them. Genetic structure and environmental factors influence the formation of Stolon and tuber (Zheng et al., 2018). Asefa et al. (2016b) reported significant differences in the number of tubers per plant due to genetic variation among potato varieties.

Similar studies are reporting that different varieties have different values in terms of the maximum number of tubers per hill under the same and other ecological conditions and that the number of tubers per hill determined in each potato variety varies between 3.8 and 21.6 (Dede, 2004; Öztürk et al., 2008; Kahraman et al., 2017; Kaplan, 2018). In this study, it can be said that ecological differences affect the different tuber numbers of the varieties, as stated by Zheng et al. (2018) and Aliche et al. (2019).

The average tuber yield per hill of potato varieties was highest in local varieties Petek (1287.1 g) and Deniz (1163.3 g) and lowest in standard variety Marfona (567.9 g) and local Bahar variety (719.5 g). Considering that the tuber yield per hill is a joint function of the number of tubers per hill and average single tuber weight, it can be concluded that the factors affecting such characteristics will also be effective on the tuber yield per hill. In studies conducted in different regions on this subject (Şanlı & Karadoğan, 2012; Boydak & Kayantaş, 2017; Kaplan, 2018; Kavalcı, 2019; Özdemir & Arslanoğlu, 2021), it was observed that tuber yield per hill varied between 138.54-1171.0 g.

3.3. Mean Performance of Varieties for Total Tuber Yield

Varieties were found to affect total tuber yield (Table 2). The highest tuber yield was obtained from the local variety Petek (5251.5 kg da⁻¹), followed by Alegria (4497.5 kg da⁻¹), Kaya (4441.0 kg da⁻¹) and Marabel (4277.0 kg da⁻¹). The lowest yield was obtained from the registered foreign variety Marfona (2315.0 kg da⁻¹). In terms of yield, local cultivars such as Petek and Kava, and other local cultivars, provided higher yields than many registered foreign cultivars, especially Marfona and Agria, which are regionally superior and preferred (Table 3, Figure 1). Although local cultivars such as Petek and Kaya had fewer tubers per plant, their total tuber yields were higher because they produced larger/heavier tubers which increased yield. These results align with studies conducted in different locations and varieties (Girma, 2012; Asefa et al., 2016b). On the other hand, it was also concluded that the increase in yield may be mainly due to the number of tubers per plant (Mehdi et al. 2008; Abubaker et al., 2011).

Therefore, these results suggest that environment and genetic variation significantly affect the differential expression of many of the traits examined, including yield, among potato cultivars. The effects of genotypic and phenotypic variation on total tuber yield, tuber weight, number of main stems, and plant height were reported to be high (>20%) (Shetty et al., 2023). Similar studies have also reported it (Dash et al., 2018; Ebrahim et al., 2018; Getie et al., 2018; Fantaw et al., 2019; Tessema et al., 2020; Asnake et al., 2023). According to the researchers, the improved varieties have higher yield capacity than the standard varieties, which is consistent with the results of the present study.

4. Conclusion and Recommendations

The results confirmed differences between local and standard potato varieties in yield and other relevant agronomic traits in the study area. The study revealed that the production of any of the improved local varieties, such as Petek and Kaya, as well as Ayaz, Deniz, and Taş, resulted in the highest total potato tuber yield compared to standard varieties, such as Marfona and Agria, which are well adapted, productive and of good quality in the region.

Therefore, considering the yield potential, farmers in areas with high altitudes and similar agroecology are advised to prefer local varieties Petek and Kaya, Ayaz, Deniz, and Taş over standard varieties.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Abbas, G., Farooq, K., Hafiz, I. A., & Husain, A. (2011). Assessment of processing and nutritional quality of potato genotypes in Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 48(3), 69-75.
- Abubaker, S., AbuRayyan, A., Amre, A., Alzu`bi1, Y., & Hadidi, N. (2011). Impact of cultivar and growing season on potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) under center pivot irrigation system. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 7(6), 718-721.
- Aliche, E. B., Oortwijn, M., Theeuwen, T. P. J. M., Bachem, C. W. B., van Eck, H. J., Visser, R. G. F., & van der Linden, C. G. (2019). Genetic mapping of tuber size distribution and marketable tuber yield under drought stress in potatoes. *Euphytica*, 215, 186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-019-2508-0
- Asefa, G., Mohammed, W., & Abebe, T. (2016a). Evaluation of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) genotypes for resistance to late blight at Sinana Southeastern Ethiopia. International Journal of Agricultural Research, Innovation and Technology, 6(1), 21-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3329/ijarit.v6i1.29208</u>
- Asefa, G., Mohammed, W., & Abebe, T. (2016b). Genetic variability studies in potato (Solanum Tuberosum, L.) genotypes in Bale Highlands, South Eastern Ethiopia. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare*, 6, 117-119. ALTTAKİ ASLINDA BU
- Asnake, D., Alemayehu, M., & Asredie, S. (2023). Growth and tuber yield responses of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties to seed tuber size in northwest highlands of Ethiopia. *Heliyon*, 9(3), E14586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e14586
- Atasever, M. M. (2019). Determination of performance of some promising potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) clones and

registered varieties in high-altitude conditions (Master's thesis, Gaziosmanpasa University).

- Bekele, T. (2018). Adaptability study of improved potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties at Shebench District, South-western Ethiopia. Academia Journal of Agricultural Research, 6(10), 333-339.
- Bekele, T., & Haile, B. (2019). Evaluation of improved potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties for some quality attributes at Shebench Woreda of Bench-Maji Zone, Southwestern Ethiopia. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 14(7), 389-394. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR2018.13482
- Bilate, B., & Mulualem, T. (2016). Performance evaluation of released and farmers potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties in eastern Ethiopia. *Sky Journal of Agricultural Research*, 5(2), 34-41.
- Boydak, E., & Kayantaş, B. (2017). A research on determination of yield and efficiency parameters on yield of some potato cultivars (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *Turkish Journal of Nature and Science*, 6(2), 79-82.
- Bradshaw, J. E. (2007). Breeding potato as a major staple crop. In M. Kang & P. M. Priyadarshan (Eds), *Breeding major food staples* (pp. 277-332). Blackwell.
- Çakır, K. (2019). Determination of performances of some potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) promising clones and commercial registered variety in the early vegetation conditions (Master's thesis, Gaziosmanpasa University).
- CIP. (2010). *Facts and figures about potato*. Retrieved Mar 2, 2014, from <u>http://www.cipotato.org/potato.html</u>
- Dash, S. N., Behera, S., & Pushpavathi, Y. (2018). Effect of planting dates and varieties on potato yield. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 7(3), 1868-1873.
- Dede, Ö. (2004). Determination of some agricultural and technological traits of potato varieties in different ripening periods (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) under Ordu Ecological Conditions. *Atatürk University Journal of Agricultural Faculty*, 35(3-4), 159-164.
- Ebrahim, S., Hussien, M. M., & Ayalew, T. (2018). Effects of seed tuber size on growth and yield performance of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties under field conditions. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 13(39), 2077-2086. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR2018.13405</u>
- Fantaw, S., Ayalew, A., Tadesse, D., Medhin, Z. G., & Agegnehu, E. (2019). Evaluation of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties for yield and yield components. *Journal of Horticulture and Forestry*, 11(3), 48-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/JHF2016.0475</u>
- FAO. (2008). International year of potato. http://www.potato2008.org/en/index.html

- Gedif, M., & Yigzaw, D. (2014). Genotype by environment interaction analysis for tuber yield of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) using a GGE Biplot method in Amhara region, Ethiopia. *Agricultural Sciences*, 5(4), 239-249. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2014.54027</u>
- Getie, A. T., Madebo, M. P., & Seid, S. A. (2018). Evaluation of growth, yield and quality of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties at Bule, Southern Ethiopia. African Journal of Plant Science, *12*(11), 277-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/AJPS2018.1698</u>
- Girma, T. (2012). Effect of variety and earthing up frequency on growth, yield and quality of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) at Bure, North western Ethiopia (Master's thesis, Jimma University of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine).
- Gül, V., & Sefaoğlu, F. (2022). Determining the yield and yield components of some local potato genotypes grown in the North Eastern Anatolia Region. *Journal of Agricultural Production*, 3(2), 124-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.56430/japro.1210278</u>
- Habtamu, G., Wassu, M., & Beneberu, S. (2016). Evaluation of processing attributes of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties in Eastern Ethiopia. *Greener Journal of Plant Breeding and Crop Science*, 4(2), 37-48. https://doi.org/10.15580/GJPBCS.2016.1.102315148
- Hongyu, K., García-Peña, M., de Araújo, L. B., & dos Santos Dias, C. T. (2014). Statistical analysis of yield trials by AMMI analysis of genotype x environment interaction. *Biometrical Letters*, 51(2), 89-102.
- Kahraman, Y., Bayraktar, N., Koçak, N., & Özgen, Y. (2017). Effect of potato (Solanun tuberosum L.) varieties on yield and some agronomic characteristics in Ankara conditions. 12th Field Crops Congress. Kahramanmaraş.
- Kaplan, M. (2018). The effects of different sowing times on yield and yield components of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) In Siirt province conditions (Master's thesis, Siirt University).
- Karakuş, M., Hatipoğlu, H., Arslan, H., & Rastgeldi, U. (2011). Determination of some potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties suitable for Şanlıurfa conditions. IXth Field Crops Congress, Bursa.
- Kavalcı, R. (2019). Determination of the effects of different potassium doses on yield and quality parameters of some potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties (Master's thesis, Ordu).
- Kolech, S. A., Halseth, D., De Jong, W., Perry, K. K., Wolfe, D., Tiruneh, F. M., & Schulz, S. (2015). Potato variety diversity, determinants and implications for potato breeding strategy in Ethiopia. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 92(5), 551-566. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12230-015-9467-3
- Matin, M. Q., Uddin, M. S., Rohman, Md. M., Amiruzzaman, M., Azad, A. K., & Banik, B. R. (2017). Genetic

variability and path analysis studies in hybrid maize (*Zea mays* L.). *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 8(12), 3101-3109. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/ajps.2017.812209</u>

- Mehdi, M., Saleem, T., Rai, H. K., Mir, M. S., & Rai, G. (2008). Effect of nitrogen and FYM interaction on yield and yield traits of potato genotypes under Ladakh condition. *Potato Journal*, *35*, 126-129.
- Namugga, P., Sibiya, J., Melis. R., & Barekye, A. (2018). Phenotypic characterisation of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) genotypes in Uganda. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil*, 35, 207-214. https://doi.org/10.1080/02571862.2017.1370561
- Nasiruddin, M., Ali, F. M., & Islam, A. K. M. (2017). Genetic diversity in potato genotypes grown in Bangladesh. *International Research Journal of Biological Sciences*, 6(11), 1-8.
- Öner, K. E., & Aytaç, S. (2016). The effect of yield and yield components of the planting times and pre-treatments tuber in the early potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) under Bafra Locations. *Ordu University Journal of Science and Technology*, 6(2), 184-194.
- Özdemir, M., & Arslanoğlu, Ş. F. (2021). Determination of tuber yield and quality properties of some potato varieties in the ecological conditions of Samsun. *International Journal of Agriculture and Wildlife Science*, 7(2), 286-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.24180/ijaws.913315</u>
- Öztürk, E., Polat, T., Kavurmacı, Z., & Kara, K. (2008). Determination of the tuber yield and yield components of some potato genotypes under Erzurum conditions. *Research Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 1(1), 15-18.
- Şanlı, A., & Kardoğan, T. (2012). Evaluation of yield and quality performances of some potato cultivars from different maturity groups under the ecological conditions of Isparta. Süleyman Demirel University Journal of Natural and Applied Sciences, 16(1), 33-41.
- Shetty, S., Krishnaprasad, B. T., Amarananjundeswara, H., & Shyamalamma, S. (2023). Genetic variability studies in potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) genotypes for growth, yield and processing quality traits. *The Mysore Journal* of Agricultural Sciences, 57(1), 344-350.
- Shitikova, A. V., Abiala, A. A., & Povarnitsyna, A. V. (2022). The role of morphological adaptation and variability of potato varieties in plants photosynthetic apparatus

formation. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 981, 022055. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/981/2/022055

- Steel, R. G. D., & Torrie, J. H. (1980). Principles and procedures of statistics: A biometrical approach. McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Struik, P. C., & Wiersema, S. G. (1999). Seed potato technology. Wageningen Academic Publishers.
- Tesfaye, A., Wongchaochant, S., Taychasinpitak, T., & Leelapon, O. (2012). Dry matter content, starch content and starch yield variability and stability of potato varieties in Amhara Region of Ethiopia. *Kasetsart Journal - Natural* Science, 46(5), 671-683.
- Tessema, L., Mohammed, W., & Abebe, T. (2020). Evaluation of potato (*Solanum tubersum* L.) varieties for yield and some agronomic traits. *Open Agriculture*, 5, 63-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/opag-2020-0006</u>
- Tsegaw, T. (2005). *Response of potato to paclobutrazol and manipulation of reproductive growth under tropical conditions* (Doctoral dissertation, Pretoria University).
- Wassu, M. (2016). Specific gravity, dry matter content, and starch content of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties cultivated in Eastern Ethiopia. *East African Journal of Sciences*, 10(2), 87-102.
- White, P. J., Wheatley, R. E., Hammond, J. P., & Zhang, K. (2007). Minerals, soils and roots. In D. Vreugdenhil, J. Bradshaw, C. Gebhardt, F. Govers, D. K. L. Mackerron, M. A. Taylor & H. A. Ross (Eds.), *Potato biology and biotechnology: Advances and perspectives* (pp. 739-751). Elsevier.
- Yan, W., Cornelius P. L., Crossa J., & Huntt L. A. (2001). Two types of GGE biplots for analyzing multi-environment trial data. *Crop Science*, 41(3), 656-663. <u>https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2001.413656x</u>
- Zelalem, A., Tekalign, T., & Nigussie, D. (2009). Response of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) to different rates of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization on vertisols at DebreBerhan, in the central highlands of Ethiopia. *African Journal of Plant Science*, 3(2), 16-24.
- Zheng, H., Wang, Y., Zhao, J., Shi, X., Ma, Z., & Fan, M. (2018). Tuber formation as influenced by the C:N ratio in potato plants. *Plant Nutrition Soil Science Journal*, 181, 686-693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.201700571</u>

AIMS & SCOPE

Journal of Agricultural Production aims to create an environment for researchers to introduce, share, read, and discuss recent scientific progress and adopts the policy of providing open access to the readers who may be interested in recent scientific developments. Journal of Agricultural Production publishes papers in the categories of research articles, review articles, short communications, and letters to the Editor.

Research areas include but not limited to:

- Agriculture
- Aquaculture
- Fisheries
- Ecology
- · Environmental sciences
- Horticulture
- Crop protection
- Bio systems
- Landscape
- Agriculture and aquaculture economics
- Agriculture and aquaculture biotechnology
- Soil science and plant nutrition
- Husbandry
- Basic sciences

And closely related life sciences, as well as engineering topics.

AUTHOR GUIDELINES

Manuscripts must be submitted to the journal in electronic version through online submission system at https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/japro following the Author Guidelines of the journal.

Types of Paper

Research articles, review articles, short communications, and letters to the Editor.

• Research articles: original full-length research papers which have not been published previously and should not exceed 7500 words or 25 manuscript pages (including tables and figures).

• Review articles: on topical subjects and up to 10000 words or 25 manuscript pages (including tables and figures).

• Short communications: describing work that may be of a preliminary nature or a case report; preferably no more than 3000 words or 10 manuscript pages (including tables and figures).

• Letters to the Editor: should be included on matters of topical interest and not exceeding 2000 words or 10 manuscript pages (including tables and figures).

Preparation of Manuscripts

Papers must be written in English. Prepare your text using a word-processing software and save in ".doc" or ".docx" formats. Manuscripts must be structured in the following order:

• Title Page File

- Title (Concise and informative. Avoid abbreviations and formulae)
- Author names and affiliation addresses (Full names should be given, no abbreviations. The

corresponding author should be identified with an asterisk. Each affiliation address should include institution, faculty/school, department, city, and country)

- ORCID numbers for all authors.
- Corresponding author's e-mail, telephone number, and address
- Acknowledgements (if applicable. Keep these to the absolute minimum)
- Compliance with Ethical Standards
 - Conflict of Interest Statement
 - Statement on the Welfare of Animals (if applicable)
 - Statement of Human Rights (if applicable)

• Main File

- Title
 - Abstract (Should be between 100 and 350 words. References and abbreviations should be avoided)
 - Keywords (Minimum 3, Maximum 6 keywords)
 - Introduction
 - Materials and Methods
 - Results
 - Discussion (Can be combined with Results section if appropriate)
 - Conclusion
 - References
 - Table(s) with caption(s) (on appropriate location in the text)
 - Figure(s) with caption(s) (on appropriate location in the text)
 - and appendices (if any)

Manuscript Formatting

Use a 12-point Times New Roman font, including the references, table headings and figure captions, double-spaced and with 25 mm margins on all sides of A4 size paper throughout the manuscript. The text should be in single-column format.

• Each page must be numbered with Arabic numerals, and lines must be continuously numbered from the start to the end of the manuscript.

- Use italics for emphasis.
- Use only SI (international system) units.
- Use "dot" for decimal points.
- Use italics for species name.

References

Journal of Agricultural Production uses APA style (7th edition). Accordingly, authors must format their references as per the guidelines below. Please ensure that each reference cited in the text is also presented in the reference list. Authors should always supply DOI or URL of the work cited if available.

In-text citation (Narrative):

- ... The results of Bliss (2022) support...
- ...Sönmez and Taştan (2020) indicated that...
- ...According to the method of Öztürk et al. (2021)...



JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION

In-text citation (In parenthesis):

...It was found to be isometric (Öztürk, 2018)... ...is highly susceptible to diseases (Doma & Craig, 2019)...

...have been studied (Kale et al., 2020)...

Two or more works in the same parenthesis:

...extremely toxic for the environment (Sönmez, 2018, 2019; Öztürk et al., 2020a; Kadak & Taştan, 2021)...

Citation in the reference list:

References should be listed first alphabetically and then further sorted chronologically at the end of the article. The citation of all references should conform to the following examples:

Article:

- Lastname, N., Lastname, M., & Lastname, O. (Year). Title of the work. *Title of the Journal*, *Volume*(Issue), Page numbers. DOI
- Tort, S. (1998). Stress and immune modulation in fish. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 35(12), 1366-1375. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.dci.2011.07.002
- Kasumyan, A. O., & Døving, K. B. (2003). Taste preferences in fishes. *Fish and Fisheries*, 4(4), 289-347. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-2979.2003.00121.x
- Özçelik, H., Taştan, Y., Terzi, E., & Sönmez, A. Y. (2020). Use of onion (*Allium cepa*) and garlic (*Allium sativum*) wastes for the prevention of fungal disease (*Saprolegnia parasitica*) on eggs of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 43(10), 1325-1330. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13229

Article by DOI (early access):

Salem, M. O. A., Salem, T. A., Yürüten Özdemir, K., Sönmez, A. Y., Bilen, S., & Güney, K. (2021). Antioxidant enzyme activities and immune responses in rainbow trout (Onchorhynchus mykiss) juveniles fed diets supplemented with dandelion (Taraxacum officinalis) and lichen (Usnea barbata) extracts. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-021-00962-5

Book:

- Lastname, N., Lastname, M., & Lastname, O. (Year). *Title of the work.* Publisher.
- Oidtmann, K., Xao, Q., & Lloyd, A. S. (2018). *The food need by the year 2050*. Elsevier.

Book Chapter:

- Lastname, N., Lastname, M., & Lastname, O. (Year). Title of the chapter. In N. N. Lastname, A. Lastname & B. Lastname (Eds.), *Title of the book* (pp. Page numbers). Publisher.
- Pickering, A. D. (1993). Growth and stress in fish production. In G. A. E. Gall & H. Chen (Eds.), *Genetics in Aquaculture* (pp. 51-63). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-81527-9.50010-5

Dissertation or Thesis:

- Lastname, N. (Year). *Title of dissertation/thesis* (Doctoral dissertation/Master's thesis, Name of Institution).
- Sönmez, A. Y. (2011). Karasu ırmağında ağır metal kirliliğinin belirlenmesi ve bulanık mantıkla değerlendirilmesi (Doctoral dissertation, Atatürk University).
- Taştan, Y. (2018). Tatlısu kerevitindeki (Astacus leptodactylus) siyah solungaç hastalığı etkeni mantar Fusarium oxysporum'un PCR yöntemi ile teşhisi (Master's thesis, Akdeniz University).

Conference Proceedings:

- Lastname, N., Lastname, M., & Lastname, O. (Year). *Title of the work.* Title of the Conference. City.
- Ken, A., & Kumar, S. (2020). A new statistical model for fuzzy logic evaluation. 3rd International Congress on Statistics. İstanbul.

Institution Publication:

- Institution name. (Year). Title of the work. URL
- FAO. (2020). Fishery and aquaculture statistics 2018. http://www.fao.org/3/cb1213t/CB1213T.pdf

Internet Source:

- Lastname, N. (Year). *Title of the work*. Retrieved May 15, 2020, from URL
- Perreault, L. (2019). *The future of agriculture: Polyculture*. Retrieved January 12, 2020, from https://www.agriculture.com

Table(s)

Tables, numbered in Arabic, should be in separate pages with a short descriptive title at the top. Place footnotes to tables below the table body and indicate them with superscript lowercase letters (or asterisks for significance values and other statistical data).

Figure(s)

All illustrations should be labelled as 'Figure' and numbered in consecutive Arabic numbers, Figure 1, Figure 2 etc. in the text. If panels of a figure are labelled (a, b, etc.) use the same case when referring to these panels in the text. Figures are recommended to be in electronic formats such as PNG, JPEG, TIFF (min. 300 dpi). All figures or tables should be presented in the body of the text.

Online Manuscript Submission

Authors are requested to submit manuscripts via the journal's online submission system at https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/japro

Submission Checklist

 Author Guidelines of the journal has been read and adhered

• Title Page File

- 0 Title
- o Full names, e-mails, and affiliation addresses of all authors
- ORCID numbers of all authors
- Corresponding author's e-mail, telephone number, and address
- \circ Ethical statements



• Main File

- $\circ \operatorname{Continuous} page numbers$
- Continuous line numbers
- \circ Blinded document (no personal information is present)
- 0 Title
- \circ Abstract (100-350 words)
- Keywords (3-6 keywords)
- All figures and tables are numbered and cited in order in text
- Completeness and accuracy of the references have been checked
- $\circ\, \text{References}$ have been edited as per the Journal guidelines

Publication Frequency

The journal includes original scientific articles on a variety of different subjects in English and is being published twice a year in June and December.

Price Policy

Journal of Agricultural Production requests article submission fee. This fee is collected from all articles sent to the journal regardless of the acceptance/rejection decision.

Authors will receive an email regarding the payment upon submission. Authors should make the payment after this email. The evaluation process will be initiated once the payment is completed.

Submission Fee: 50\$ (For Turkish Authors: 1000 TL)

Editorial Processing Charge: Free

Article Processing Charge (or any other post-acceptance fee): Free.

The articles are open access and freely available to all readers.

PUBLICATION ETHICS

Details about Publication Ethics can be found at https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/japro/policy

ETHICAL GUIDELINES FOR THE USE OF ANIMALS IN RESEARCH

Details can be found at https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/japro/policy

OPEN ACCESS POLICY

Details can be found at https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/japro/page/13659

REVIEW PROCESS

Double-Blind Review and Evaluation Process

Double-Blind Review is a method applied for publishing scientific publications with the highest quality. This method forms the basis of an objective evaluation of scientific studies and is preferred by many scientific journals.

The views of referees have a decisive place in the publication quality of a Journal. *Journal of Agricultural Production* uses the double-blind review method, which means that both the reviewer and author identities are concealed from the reviewers, and vice

versa, throughout the review process, in the evaluation process of all studies. For this reason, the authors are asked to blind their manuscripts before submitting. All the studies submitted to *Journal of Agricultural Production* are evaluated by double-blind review method according to the following steps.

1. Initial Evaluation Process

The studies submitted to *Journal of Agricultural Production* are first evaluated by the editor. At this stage, studies that are not in line with the aim and scope of the journal, are weak in terms of language and narrative rules in English, contain scientifically critical mistakes, are not original worthy, and cannot meet publication policies are rejected. Authors of rejected studies will be notified within one month at the latest from the date of submission. Eligible studies are sent to the field editor to which the study is relevant for preevaluation.

2. Pre-Evaluation Process

In the pre-evaluation process, the field editors examine the studies, introduction and literature, methods, findings, results, evaluation and discussion sections in detail in terms of journal publication policies, scope and authenticity of study. Study which is not suitable as a result of this examination is returned to the author with the field editor's evaluation report within four weeks at the latest. The studies which are suitable for the journal are passed to the referee process.

3. Referee Process

The studies are sent to the referees according to their content and the expertise of the referees. The field editor examining the study may propose at least two referees from the pool of *Journal of Agricultural Production* Advisory Board or referee pool according to their field of expertise or may propose a new referee appropriate to the field of study. The editors evaluate the referee's suggestions coming from the field editor and the studies are submitted to the referees. Referees are obliged to guarantee that they will not share any process or document about the study they are evaluating.

4. Referee Evaluation Process

The period given to the referee for the evaluation process is 15 days. Proposals for corrections from referees or editors must be completed by the authors within 1 month according to the "correction instruction". Referees can decide on the suitability of the study by reviewing the corrections and may also request multiple corrections if necessary.

Referee Reports

Referee evaluations are based in general on the originality of the studies, the method used, and the conformity with the ethical rules, the consistent presentation of the findings and results, and the examination of the literature.

This review is based on the following elements:

1. Introduction and Literature: The evaluation report contains the presentation and purpose of the problem addressed in the study, the importance of the topic, the scope of the relevant literature, the additional



JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION

timeliness and the originality of the study.

2. *Methodology:* The evaluation report includes information on the suitability of the method used, the choice and characteristics of the research group, validity and reliability, as well as on the data collection and analysis process.

3. *Findings:* The evaluation report includes opinions on the presentation of the findings obtained in the frame of the method, the correctness of the analysis methods, the aims of the research and the consistency of the findings, the presentation of the required tables, figures and images and the conceptual evaluation of the tests used.

4. Evaluation and discussion: The evaluation report includes the opinion on the subject based on findings, relevance to research questions and hypotheses, generalizability and applicability.

5. Conclusion and suggestions: The evaluation report contains the opinion on the contributions to the literature, future studies and recommendations for the applications in the area.

6. *Style and narration:* The evaluation report includes compatibility of the title with the content, appropriate use of English in the study, refers and references in accordance with the language of the study and APA rules.

7. Overall evaluation: The evaluation report contains opinion on the authenticity of the study as a whole, its contribution to the educational literature and the applications in the area. The journal considers that scientists should avoid research which kills or damages any species of animal which, using IUCN criteria, is regarded as threatened or is listed as such in a Red Data Book appropriate for the geographic area concerned. In accordance with this view, papers based on such research will not be accepted by the Journal, unless the work had clear conservation objectives.

Plagiarism Detection

In agreement with publishing policies of *Journal of Agricultural Production*, plagiarism check is required for each study that has undergone the "Review Process". The Turnitin plagiarism checker software is used for plagiarism detection.

Proofs

Proof documents will be sent to the corresponding authors via e-mail. Proofs should be checked immediately and responses should be returned back within 15 working days. It is the responsibility of the authors to check carefully the proofs. No changes will be allowed after this stage.

DISCLAIMER

The Publisher and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher and Editors.

Editor or members of the editorial board are not responsible for the author's opinions and manuscript

contents. Authors are responsible for the ethical originality of and possible errors in their manuscripts.

This journal is available online at https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/japro

Kindly visit website to search the articles and register for table of contents e-mail alerts.

LICENCE

Authors retain copyright and grant the journal right of first publication with the work simultaneously licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution License that allows others to share the work with an acknowledgement of the work's authorship and initial publication in this journal.

Authors are able to enter into separate, additional contractual arrangements for the non-exclusive distribution of the journal's published version of the work (e.g., post it to an institutional repository or publish it in a book), with an acknowledgement of its initial publication in this journal.

Authors are permitted and encouraged to post their work online (e.g., in institutional repositories or on their website) prior to and during the submission process, as it can lead to productive exchanges, as well as earlier and greater citation of published work (See The Effect of Open Access).

INDEXING

Journal of Agricultural Production is currently indexed by

- TRDİZİN
- EBSCO
- CABI
- ROAD-Directory of Open Access Scholarly Resources
- Google Scholar
- Crossref

PUBLISHER

Gökhan ARSLAN Atatürk University agriprojournal@gmail.com Yakutiye mah. Atatürk Üni. Su Ürünleri Fakültesi, Merkez/Erzurum, TÜRKİYE

PUBLISHER SUPPORT



Prensip Publishing and Consultancy Ind. Trade. Co. Ltd. Kuzeykent mah. Orgeneral Atilla Ateş Paşa cad. No:15 CD, İç Kapı No: 31, Merkez/Kastamonu, 37150, TÜRKİYE https://prensip.gen.tr info@prensip.gen.tr




##